
 

 
Addenbrooke House   Ironmasters Way    Telford   TF3 4NT 

 

Continued… 

CABINET 

 

Date Thursday, 18 June 2020 Time 10.00 am 

Venue Remote Meeting 

 

Enquiries Regarding this Agenda 

Democratic Services Stacey Worthington 01952 382061 

Media Enquiries Corporate Communications 01952 382406 

Lead Officer David Sidaway, Chief Executive 01952 380130 

 
Cabinet Members: Councillor S Davies Leader 
 Councillor R A Overton Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 

Enforcement, Community Safety and 
Customer Services 

 Councillor A J Burford Cabinet Member for Health & Social Care 
 Councillor E M Callear Cabinet Member for Leisure, Libraries and 

Culture 
 Councillor L D Carter Cabinet Member for Neighbourhood, 

Commercial Services and Regeneration 
 Councillor R C Evans Cabinet Member for Council Finance and 

Governance 
 Councillor C Healy Cabinet Member for Visitor Economy, Historic 

& Natural Environment and Climate Change 
 Councillor S A W Reynolds Cabinet Member for Children, Young People, 

Education and Lifelong Learning 
 Councillor P Watling Cabinet Member for Cooperative Communities, 

Engagement and Partnerships 
 Councillor D Wright Cabinet Member for Economy, Housing, 

Transport and Infrastructure 
   
Invitees: Councillor A J Eade Conservative 
 Councillor W L Tomlinson Liberal Democrats 

 

AGENDA 
Page 

   
 

1.   Apologies for Absence 
 

  

   
 

2.   Declarations of Interest 
 

  

   
 

3.   Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 

 3 - 14 

Key  
 

4.   Service & Financial Planning Report - 
2019/20 Outturn 

Cllr R C Evans 15 - 48 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

 

 
      
Key  
 

5.   Telford & Wrekin's Specialist & 
Supported Accommodation Strategy 
2020-2025 
 

Cllr A J Burford 
Cllr D Wright 

49 - 78 

      
Key  
 

6.   Telford & Wrekin Consultation Draft 
Housing Strategy 2020-2025 
 

Cllr D Wright 79 - 112 

      
   
 

7.   The Annual Governance Statement 
2019/20 
 

Cllr R C Evans 113 - 132 

      
   
 

8.   Representation on Outside Bodies 2020-
21 
 

Cllr S Davies 133 - 142 

      
Key  
 

9.   Local Growth Fund - Stronger 
Communities 
 

Cllr D Wright 143 - 146 

      
  
FILMING, RECORDING & PHOTOGRAPHY 
The Council supports the principle of transparency and encourages filming, recording and taking 
photographs at its meetings that are open to the public. It also welcomes the use of social 
networking websites (such as Twitter and Facebook) and micro-blogging to communicate with 
people about what is happening, as it happens. 
There is no requirement to notify the Council in advance, but it should be noted that the Chairman 
of the meeting will have absolute discretion to terminate or suspend any of these activities if, in 
their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice proceedings at the meeting. Full details of the 
Council’s protocol on audio/visual recording and photography at meetings can be accessed via the 
following link: 
http://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20243/council_meetings/365/filming_photography_recording_and_u
se_of_social_networking_at_meetings 

Page 2

http://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20243/council_meetings/365/filming_photography_recording_and_use_of_social_networking_at_meetings
http://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20243/council_meetings/365/filming_photography_recording_and_use_of_social_networking_at_meetings


 

 

CABINET 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday, 20 February 2020 
at 10.00 am in Meeting Rooms G3/G4, Addenbrooke House, Ironmasters 

Way, Telford, TF3 4NT 
 

PUBLISHED ON WEDNESDAY, 26 FEBRUARY 2020 
 

(DEADLINE FOR CALL-IN: MONDAY, 2 MARCH 2020) 
 

 
Present: Councillors S Davies (Chair), R A Overton (Vice-Chair), A J Burford, 
L D Carter, R C Evans, C Healy, R Mehta, S A W Reynolds, H Rhodes and 
D Wright.  
 
Also Present: Councillor W L Tomlinson, (Liberal Democrat and Independent 
Group Leader) 
 
Apologies: Councillor A J Eade, Conservative Group Leader 
 
CAB-41 Declarations Of Interest 
 
None. 
 
CAB-42 Minutes Of The Previous Meeting 
 
RESOLVED – that the minutes of the meeting held on 2 January 2020 be 
confirmed and signed by the Chair. 
 
CAB-43 Financial Management 2019/20 
 
Key Decision identified as Financial Management Report 2019/20 in the 
Notice of Key Decisions published on 22 January 2020. 
 
Councillor L D Carter, Cabinet Member: Finance, Commercial Services & 
Economic Development, presented the report of the Director: Finance & 
Human Resources (Chief Financial Officer).  
 
The Service & Financial Planning Strategy, also considered at this meeting, 
set the context of the continuing and prolonged financial challenges facing the 
Council in the medium term due to significant reductions in Government 
funding and increased demand for services, such as care for vulnerable adults 
and children, inflation and other pressures. It also emphasised the high 
degree of uncertainty over future funding beyond next year. The projected 
year-end position for 2019/20 was that spend would be within budget with 
£1.1m unused contingency funds estimated to be available at the end of the 
year.  The final outturn would depend on the level of any unexpected 
pressures in the last couple of months of the year, for example additional 
social care costs or road gritting costs should the weather over the remaining 
winter period be particularly severe.   

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

 

 
This placed the Council in a robust position as it moved into 2020/21 and 
demonstrated a continuation of the Council’s long track record of active and 
effective financial management despite the severe financial challenges that 
the Council had faced. The Council continued to exercise a high degree of 
financial control through active budget management by Cabinet Members, 
Senior Managers and budget holders across the organisation. The Council’s 
aim was to sustain this position over the final few weeks of the year but also to 
look to make further improvements, as in previous years, where possible in 
order to maximise the outturn position for 2020/21. 
 
Children’s Safeguarding and Family Support continued to be a key area of 
pressure with additional investment of £3.320m required, an increase of 
£0.249m since the last report and had a cost improvement plan in place to 
reduce costs and deliver savings. The plan was monitored on a regular basis 
both by senior managers and Cabinet Members. 
 
Adult Social Care required additional investment of £1.945m, an increase of 
£0.904m since the last report, which related to purchasing care packages.  A 
cost improvement plan was in place which was regularly monitored. 

 
Education & Corporate Parenting was also under pressure with a projected 
overspend of £0.429m, a reduction of £0.049m since the last report.  This was 
largely due to additional costs for school transport for pupils with high needs.  
Work to mitigate the pressures was ongoing. 
  
The capital programme totalled £53.1m for 2019/20 which included all 
approvals since the budget was set.  At the time that the report was compiled, 
projected spend was 85.8% of the budget allocation.   
 
Income collection in relation to Business Rates was ahead of target, while 
collection for Council Tax and Sales Ledger income were slightly behind 
target. 
 
RESOLVED – that 
 
(a) it be noted that 2019/20 revenue spending is currently projected to 

be within budget and that SMT will continue to work to sustain 
this position and the use of contingency detailed in section 5 of 
the associated report be approved;  

 
(b) the position in relation to capital spend be noted; and 
 
(c) the collection rates for NNDR, council tax and sales ledger be 

noted. 
 
CAB-44 Service And Financial Planning 2020/21 - 2022/23 
 
Key Decision identified as Service & Financial Planning Report 2020/21 – 
2022/23 in the Notice of Key Decisions published on 22 January 2020. 

Page 4



 

 

 
Councillor L D Carter, Cabinet Member: Finance, Commercial Services & 
Economic Development, presented the report of the Director: Finance & 
Human Resources (Chief Financial Officer).  
 
Reserved for Council 
 
Councillor L D Carter, Cabinet Member: Council Finance, Partnerships & 
Commercial Services, presented a series of reports from the Chief Executive, 
the Chief Financial Officer, the Executive Director for Housing, Communities 
and Customer Services and the Director: Policy, Customer & Commercial 
Services. The reports, detailed the Revenue Budget, medium term Capital 
Strategy and Programme, the Investment and Treasury Management 
Strategies and Prudential Indicators. In July 2019, following the local elections 
held in May, the Council’s Cabinet agreed a four year programme to “Protect, 
Care and Invest to Create a Better Borough”.  The Council’s ambition for the 
borough was for Telford and Wrekin, to be known as: “The place of enterprise, 
innovation and partnership”.  The Council’s Service and Financial Planning 
Strategy sought to align available resources with this overarching programme 
and ambition. 
 
On 28 February 2019 the Council approved a one year service and financial 
planning strategy for the current financial year.  A one year strategy was 
agreed because the Government were proposing to make major changes to 
the local government finance system which were due to be implemented from 
April 2020 and in addition, no Government spending figures were available 
beyond the end of the current year.   
 
In view of this significant uncertainty over the future of local government 
finance and what resources may be available to the Council beyond the 
following year, when the Cabinet considered their draft budget proposals for 
2020/21 at the meeting held on 2 January 2020, they again approved a one 
year strategy for consultation. However, because capital projects needed to 
be planned over a longer time horizon new capital investment proposals were 
included for 2020/21 and the following three years.  Following the Cabinet 
meeting, a one month engagement period on the Council’s proposals 
commenced on 3 January 2020 and ended on 31 January 2020.  The details 
of the engagement process were summarised in the report. 
 
The severe financial constraints that the Council had to operate within during 
a decade of austerity had necessitated very active budget management and 
financial control by Cabinet Members and officers across the Council.  The 
Council had demonstrated a consistently strong track record of sound 
financial management delivering a financial outturn within budget and 
unqualified audit opinions for well over a decade despite having to deliver 
£123,000,000 annual budget savings by the end of 2019/20 - without the need 
to implement any emergency spending control measures.  The Council’s 
external auditors had consistently reported that the Council’s arrangements 
for securing value for money were satisfactory. 
 

Page 5



 

 

The report identified key strategies including:- 
 

 Increasing Council Tax for 2020/21 by 1.99% and that the 
Government’s additional 2% “Adult Social Care precept” be applied.  
This gave a total increase of 3.99%, raising £2.69m in total.  3. 
Investment in the key priorities areas of  Adult Social Care and 
Children’s Safeguarding.   £3.926m would be invested in Adult Social 
Care, almost three times as much as would be raised from the Adult 
Social Care precept of 2%.  The Council’s net budget for Adult Social 
Care would be over £45m.  An additional £2m would be invested into 
Children’s Safeguarding, giving a total additional investment in to the 
Children’s Safeguarding budget of £4.958m.  This amount was well 
over three times the £1.34m that would be raised from the 1.99% 
general increase in council tax.  The Council’s net budget for Children’s 
Safeguarding in the following year would be over £36m. The combined 
additional investment next year in Adult Social Care and Children’s 
Safeguarding therefore totalled £8.884m (more than 10% of the 
existing budgets) and the combined total net budget allocation for these 
services would be in excess of £81.5m. 

 Extra investments of £0.15m revenue funding to support housing 
initiatives, £0.1m to pump prime the Council’s work on climate change 
and just over £0.1m revenue funding for Pride environmental projects. 

 In order to fund these new investments, to cover rising demand for 
many services and inflationary cost pressures a package of budget 
savings totalling £3.306m in 2020/21 rising to £4.581m in 2021/22 was 
required, together with the prudent use of £1.434m of available 
revenue balances to ensure a balanced budget for 2020/21 whilst 
retaining sufficient flexibility for the uncertain future that the Council 
faced beyond 2020/21.  

 A programme of capital investments totalling more than £234m as set 
out in the Capital Strategy and Capital Programme reports which 
included:- 

 £60m for a new “Property & Housing Regeneration and 
Investment Fund” to enable further long-term investments in the 
development of good quality homes for rent and further 
expansion of the Council’s Property Investment Portfolio.   

 The proposed Capital Programme would also see £26m 
invested in an extension to the Council’s Pride Programme of 
environmental improvements over the following four years  

 In addition, £2m pa would be available as a contingency in both 
2021/22 and 2022/23 to fund additional priorities such as 
reducing the Council’s carbon footprint and partnering with 
government and others on other climate change projects and 
any additional pressures that arose.   

 
The Council needed to be innovative in identifying ways to generate more 
income to fund key front line services as well as seeking to address key 
issues for the Borough such as economic regeneration and improving housing 
standards in the private rented sector. The total revenue benefits to the 
Council from NuPlace after covering all additional costs in the previous year 

Page 6



 

 

were £1.170m and made a pre-tax profit of £0.492m in 2018/19.  This was 
expected to remain around the same level in 2019/20.  In addition, Council 
Tax of £0.28m was payable to the Council from the NuPlace properties and 
New Homes Bonus of £0.40m would be received by the Council in total based 
on current build projections and New Homes Bonus payment arrangements. 
The solar farm generated a surplus after paying all costs of £200k pa.  The 
Telford Growth Fund was delivering ahead of expectations and the total 
revenue benefit net of additional costs was projected to be £2.9m this year 
and expected to increase to £3.1m for the schemes currently approved in a 
full year. Income in the previous year from the Commercial Services teams 
amounted to £21m. The net benefits from these investments were used to 
support front line services. 
 
Attached to the report were a number of appendices, including a robustness 
statement from the CFO, analysis of base budget movements, and details of 
Reserves and Balances. 
 
The Capital Strategy report was a requirement of the Prudential Code for 
Capital 
Finance in Local Authorities. The aim of the strategy was to give an overview 
of the long-term context in which capital expenditure and investment decisions 
were made and to highlight the consideration given to risks and rewards as 
well as the achievement of Council priorities. 
 
The report detailed the revised capital programme for 2019/20 and the 
proposed capital programme for 2020/21 to 2023/24, together with the 
Planned Building Investment Programme and the Highways and Transport 
Capital Investment Programme. 
 
The report on the Treasury Management Strategy detailed the Treasury 
Strategy to be adopted for 2020/21. The Strategy was set within the 
parameters of relevant statute, guidance and accounting standards. It was 
expected the Council would borrow up to £29.6m in 2020/21 based on the 
current capital programme plans and would adopt a flexible approach to 
borrowing. In consultation with its treasury management advisors 
consideration would be given to affordability, maturity profile of existing 
external financing, interest rate and refinancing risk as well as borrowing 
source. The investment strategy would generally be to reduce investments in 
order to reduce counter-party risk and to reduce net interest costs.  The 
Council anticipated holding investments equal to the requirements set out 
under MIFID II, currently £10m. 
 
The report on Prudential Indicators sought approval of the prudential 
indicators for 2020/21 to 2022/23 required under the Prudential Code of 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities to approve the indicators for 2019/20. 
 
Recommendations by Cabinet would be considered at full Council on 5 March 
2020 as full Council was responsible for setting the overall revenue and 
capital budget framework.  At that meeting full Council would also set the 
Council Tax for 2020/21. 

Page 7



 

 

 
RESOLVED to RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL on 5 March 2020 –  
 
(i) Overview & Revenue Budget Report 2020/21 – 2022/23 
 

(a) that the service and financial planning strategy for 2020/21 
set out in the set of reports be approved; 

 
(b) that a Council Tax increase of 3.99% (made up of 2% in 

respect of the Government’s Adult Social Care Precept and 
a general Council Tax increase of 1.99%) in 2020/21 be 
approved; 

 
(c) that the investment of a further £3.926m in to Adult Social 

Care services giving a total net budget of £45.27m for these 
services in 2020/21 be approved; 

 
(d) that the investment of a further £4.958m in to Children’s 

Safeguarding & Family Support to protect vulnerable 
children giving a total net budget of £36.38m for these 
services in 2020/21 be approved; 

 
(e) that the investment of £0.150m ongoing funding in to 

housing and homelessness initiatives be approved; 
 
(f) that the investment of £0.1m ongoing funding as an initial 

investment to pump prime the Council’s work on climate 
change whilst also seeking to direct the Council’s wider 
resources as well as external funding opportunities as they 
arise to further support the Climate Emergency be 
approved.  Decisions on the specific allocation of this new 
funding to be delegated to the Chief Executive after 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Council Finance, 
Partnerships and Commercial Services; 

 
(g) that the investment of £0.108m ongoing funding in to small 

Pride environmental projects be approved. Decisions on the 
specific allocation of this new funding to be delegated to the 
Executive Director: Housing, Communities & Customer 
services after consultation with the Deputy Leader and 
Cabinet Member for Neighbourhood Services, Enforcement 
& the Pride Programme; 

 
(h) that the budget savings listed in Appendix 13 to the report 

totalling £3.306m in 2020/21 rising to £4.581m in 2021/22 be 
approved; 

 
(i) that a measured approach be taken to the use of available 

one-off resources of £1.434m in 2020/21; 
 

Page 8



 

 

(j) that the continuation of work with partner organisations, 
including Town & Parish Councils and Voluntary Sector and 
Community Groups to seek to identify ways to mitigate the 
impact of some of the cuts to services that the Council can 
no longer afford be approved and the availability of the £1m 
Partnership Capacity Fund be noted; 

 
(k) that the base budget in Appendix 6 to the report be 

approved; 
 
(l) that the policy framework for Reserves and Balances 

outlined in Appendix 9 to the report be approved; 
 
(m) that the CFO’s robustness statement in Appendix 10 to the 

report be noted; 
 
(n) that the Risk Register included at Appendix 3 to the report 

be approved; 
 
(o) that the revenue implications of the medium term capital 

programme for the period 2019/20 - 2022/23 as set out in the 
Capital Strategy and Programme reports be approved;   

 
(p) that the Director: Finance & Human Resources be 

authorised to action any virements required following the 
final allocation of the Dedicated Schools Grant and other 
related Grants as long as they are within the budget and 
policy framework be granted; 

 
(q) that the Executive Director: Adults Social Care, Health 

Integration & wellbeing after consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Health & Social Care, be authorised to enter into 
appropriate Section 256 and Section 75 Agreements under 
the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) be granted; 

 
(r) that the Director: Governance be authorised to execute all 

necessary contract documentation including the affixing of 
the common seal of the council as appropriate to enable the 
council to enter into appropriate Section 256 and Section 75 
Agreements under the NHS Act 2006; 

 
(s) that this suite of service and financial planning reports be 

approved as the Council’s Efficiency Strategy for 2020/21, 
including the summary document at Appendix 14 to the 
report, to enable new capital receipts generated in the six 
year period starting 1 April 2016 to be used to fund the 
revenue costs of reform as assumed throughout these 
reports;  

 

Page 9



 

 

(t) that the initial projections for the potential budget gap 
through to 2022/23 be noted and work start now in order to 
identify options for how this could potentially be bridged; 

 
(u) that the option to extend the IGMT loan repayment period as 

outlined in section 25.1 of the report be approved and the 
Director: Finance & HR and the Director: Prosperity & 
Investment after consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Council Finance, Partnerships and Commercial Services be 
authorised to agree the terms; 

 
(v) that the Director: Finance & H.R. after consultation with the 

Cabinet Member for Council Finance, Partnerships and 
Commercial Services be authorised to fund an advance 
payment of pension contributions for 2021/22 from the 
single status reserve if this is financially advantageous to 
the Council; 

 
(w) that once all final outstanding grant allocations are 

received, the Director: Finance & H.R. after consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Council Finance, Partnerships 
and Commercial Services be authorised to amend the use of 
balances in 2020/21 to accommodate any difference in 
funding between that currently assumed and the final grant 
allocations; 

 
(x) that it be noted that the budget will be reallocated in to the 

new organisational structure before the start of April 2020; 
 
(ii) Capital Strategy 2020/21 
 

that the Capital Strategy for 2020/21 be approved; 
 
(iii) Capital Programme 

 
(a) that the report and associated capital estimates for 2019/20 

and 2020/21 – 2023/24, which incorporates the Capital 
Programme (Annex I), the Planned Building Maintenance 
Programme (Annex II) and the two year Highways and 
Transport capital investment programme (Annex III) be 
approved; 

(b) that the following delegations, in line with the approved 
budgets and any variations or changes to schemes in these 
programmes which must remain within overall approved 
budgets, after consultation with the appropriate Cabinet 
Members be approved 
(i) that the Director: Prosperity & Investment be 

authorised to deliver the planned programme of 
works within the ‘Asset Management Plan’ and 
Planned Building Maintenance Programme (Annex II) 

Page 10



 

 

(ii) that the Executive Director: Housing, Communities & 
Customer Service be authorized to deliver the 
Highways and Transport Capital Investment 
Programme 

(iii) in relation to the new capital allocations: 

New Capital Allocation £m Delegated (after consultation with 
the appropriate Cabinet Member) 
to 

Regeneration - Borough Towns / 
High Streets 

5.0 Chief Executive 

Roads, Footpaths, Cycle-paths, 
Car Parking 

12.0 Executive Director: Housing, 
Communities & Customer Service  

Structures - Bridges, retaining 
walls, bus shelters etc 

4.0 Executive Director: Housing, 
Communities & Customer Service  

Other environmental improvements 5.0 Executive Director: Housing, 
Communities & Customer Service  

 
(c) it be noted that further reports will be brought to Cabinet 

with regard to the ‘Regeneration and Investment Fund’ and 
the Capital ‘Contingency’ to seek approval to allocate 
funding to specific schemes; 

 
(iv) Investment Strategy 2020/21 
 

that the Investment Strategy for 2020/21 be approved; 
 
 
(v) Treasury Management Strategy and Update 2020/21 
 

 
(a) that the treasury management activities for the first half year be 

noted;  
 
(b) that the Treasury Management Policy Statement (Appendix A to 

the report) be noted  
 
(c) that the Treasury Strategy, including the Annual Investment 

Strategy for 2020/21 together with the associated treasury 
Prudential Indicators and the Minimum Revenue Provision 
Statement, which will apply from 2019/20 onwards be 
approved; 

 
(vi) Prudential Indicators 2020/21 
 

that the prudential indicators proposed in the report as part of 
setting the budget for 2020/21 be approved. 

 
CAB-45 Telford & Wrekin Council Becoming Carbon Neutral Action 

Plan 
 

Page 11



 

 

Key Decision identified as Telford & Wrekin Council Becoming Carbon 
Neutral Action Plan in the Notice of Key Decisions published on 22nd 
January 2020. 
Councillor H Rhodes, Cabinet Member: Parks, Green Spaces & the Natural 
Environment, presented the report of the Programme Executive Lead.  

 
In 2018, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) published a 
report which advised that global warming must be limited to 1.5oC. Their 
review of over 6,000 sources of evidence found that, with a rise of 1.5oC, 
there would be risks to health, livelihoods, food security, water supply, human 
security and economic growth.  It warned that there were have only twelve 
years left within which to take serious action to avert this crisis and avoid the 
worst impacts.  
 
Telford and its communities had been at the forefront of technological 
innovation from the first industrial revolution through to the fourth which was 
seeing rapid changes in clean technology, sustainable materials, transport, 
and energy storage and generation pioneered in the Borough.   
 
For decades Telford had carried the title Forest City – reflecting the wealth of 
greenspaces, landscape, forest and woodland which characterised the area 
and had been afforded protection and enhancement through Council policy 
and land management.  The commitment to this was re-emphasised in 
January 2020 with the review of the Local Plan to be focussed on establishing 
a ‘forest community’ with climate change action central to the review. 

 
The Council recognised the adverse impact that Climate Change was having, 
both globally and locally, and the important role that local authorities could 
play in addressing this issue.  On 25 July 2019, the Council had approved a 
motion to declare a Climate Emergency making the following key 
commitments:  

o Council operations and activities to be carbon neutral by 2030; 
o Collaborate and engage with residents, partners and businesses in 

Telford & Wrekin and at a regional and national level to achieve 
aspirations for the borough to be carbon neutral by 2030. 

 
Over the next 12 months the Council would seek to drive further carbon 
reductions through major development opportunities and strategy - including: 
 

- Promoting Station Quarter – the next phase of the regeneration of the 
Town Centre – as a Smart Quarter.  Scoping the provision of a 100% 
renewable fast charging Electric Vehicle Forecourt 

- Exploring  proposals for delivering carbon reductions within the next 
phase of Nuplace developments – the Council’s wholly owned housing 
company 

- Exploring  proposals to deliver  carbon reductions in the development 
and operation of  Ni Park – the new flagship Agri Tech Innovation Park 

- Explore options to further enhance sustainable transport provision in 
the borough, working with partners to extend e-charging provision and 
considering options such as improving bus services,  rail connectivity 

Page 12



 

 

(including the potential for passenger rail services to the Ironbridge 
Gorge) and expanding walking/cycling provision 

- Placing tackling climate change including the need for mitigation and 
adaptation at the heart of policy development in the Local Plan review  

- Publishing a Local Nature Recovery Strategy which would set out 
measures to enhance and increase our landscape and woodland 
resource as well as increase carbon sequestration locally – locking in 
carbon that would otherwise contribute to climate change. 

 
Cabinet Members welcomed the report and acknowledged the role that 
climate change had played in the recent flooding of the Ironbridge Gorge and 
the increasing likelihood of extreme weather events if climate action wasn’t 
taken seriously.  
 
RESOLVED that – 

1. the Council’s Becoming Carbon Neutral Action Plan 2019/20 set 
out in Appendix 1 to the report outlining how the Council will work 
to reduce carbon emissions from the Council’s operations and 
activities and influence carbon reduction Borough-wide be 
approved;  
  

2. it be recognised that the rapidly changing context requires an 
annual update of the Action Plan reviewing the context, data and 
evidence; monitoring of progress and inclusion of new actions to 
further reduce the Council’s carbon footprint;   

 
3. the Programme Executive Lead (and any Council Officer 

authorised in writing by the Programme Executive Lead) in 
consultation with the Executive Director: Housing, Communities & 
Customer Services and Cabinet Lead for Parks, Greenspaces and 
Natural Environment be authorised to amend and/or make 
additions to the Action Plan in the interests of achieving the 
objectives of mitigating and adapting to Climate Change both in 
respect of the Council’s own operations and activities Borough-
wide. 

 
4. the establishment of a Borough Climate Change Partnership be 

approved as set out in Section 4.3 of the report to work with the 
Council to develop and implement a Borough-wide Action Plan to 
meet the Council’s aspiration for Borough-wide carbon neutrality 
by 2030, recognising that this cannot be delivered without the 
active participation and shared responsibility from all sectors of 
the community;   

 
5. that the Programme Executive Lead (and any Council Officer 

authorised in writing by the Programme Executive Lead) in 
consultation with the Cabinet Lead for Parks, Greenspaces and 
Natural Environment be authorised to implement arrangements 
for the operation of the Partnership.   

 

Page 13



 

 

6. that this report in relation to the Council’s response to the Climate 
Emergency Declaration be referred to Full Council for information 
as part of the ‘Matters Determined by the Cabinet’ report. 

 
The meeting ended at 10.46 am 
 
Signed for the purposes of the Decision Notices 

 
Jonathan Eatough 
Director: Governance 
Date:  Wednesday, 26 February 2020 
 

 
Signed  

 
Date: 

 
Thursday, 19 March 2020 

Page 14



 

1 

TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – 18 JUNE 2020 
COUNCIL – 16 JULY 2020 
 
SERVICE & FINANCIAL PLANNING REPORT – 2019/20 OUTTURN  
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR: FINANCE & HR (CHIEF FINANCIAL 
OFFICER) 
 
LEAD CABINET MEMBER: CLLR RAE EVANS, CABINET MEMBER FOR 
COUNCIL FINANCE & GOVERNANCE 

 
PART A) – SUMMARY REPORT 
 
1.0 SUMMARY OF KEY ISSUES 
 
1.1 2019/20 General Fund Revenue Financial Outturn       
 

During 2019/20 the Council had to contend with significant financial 
impacts arising from flooding in the Gorge and the start of the 
coronavirus pandemic (CV-19) pandemic.  However, the Council 
continued to demonstrate very robust financial management during 
2019/20 with a positive year-end position, despite some areas of 
significant pressure arising from increased demand for services and the 
initial impact of CV-19 being felt towards the end of the year.  Importantly 
the Council has not had to make any unplanned use of reserves in 
2019/20 and has retained a prudent level of balances set aside which 
will support the delivery of the Service & Financial Planning Strategy in 
future years and will help to support the Council during the 
unprecedented period that we are now in.  This is critical with the scale 
and uncertainty of the pressures arising from the CV-19 pandemic 
impacting on 2020/21 in terms of both financial planning and continuing 
financial resilience. 
 
The gross revenue budget for 2019/20 was £398m and the net budget 
was £121m.  The estimated revenue outturn position is within budget by 
£0.146m (which is equivalent to only -0.12% of net budget) after the 
proposed transfers to reserves and balances have been made.  This 
position has been achieved after delivering £6.1m of budget savings in 
2019/20, on top of the £117m made in the previous 10 years giving a 
total of just over £123m - equivalent to around £1,500pa for every home 
in the borough.  The outturn position cannot be finalised at the time of 
writing this report because the government have yet to issue the form 
required to finalise the calculation of section 31 grants for finalisation of 
the business rates position.  However, estimates have been made and 
a delegation is sought in the recommendations to this report to enable 
any necessary final changes to the accounts to be made.  The year-end 
position has also allowed a limited number of one off investments in key 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



 

2 

areas to be made helping to make the borough a better place to live, 
work, learn, visit and do business in.   
Within the outturn position, the Council has been able to create the 
following provisions to support its priorities including: 
 

 £0.3m to support a range of environmental issues 

 £0.4m to support Unemployment initiatives 
 

The funding outlook for the medium term is very uncertain.  Due to the 
impact of Covid19, the Government has confirmed that the review of the 
local government finance system will no longer be implemented in 
2021/22 which is welcome.  However there has been no confirmation of 
what this means for funding levels in 2021/22.  Using the limited 
information that was available when the budget was set in March, it was 
anticipated at that the Council would need to identify £4.6m savings in 
2020/21 and around £18.4m of further savings over the following two 
years (2021/22 and 2022/23) taking the total savings to £128m by the 
end of 2021/22.  
 
Our pro-active approach to service and budget management secured a 
number of favourable variations during the year which contributed to the 
overall positive position.   
 
These included: 
 

 A benefit totalling £3.8m has been delivered from Treasury 
Management the majority of which relates to benefits from low 
interest rates for short-term borrowing and the Treasury Management 
Strategy of keeping the majority of new borrowings very short term.  
Some longer-term borrowing was undertaken in 2019/20 to reduce 
interest rate exposure which was prior to the PWLB (currently the 
main source of long-term lending for Local Authorities) increasing 
interest rates by 100 basis points in October 2019.  The position is 
regularly monitored by senior finance staff and advice taken from the 
Council’s external treasury management advisors to manage the 
interest rate exposure whilst seeking to maximise short-term gains in 
order to support delivery of front-line services.  

 A benefit of £0.8m from vacancy management across all Services 

 £0.5m one off benefit relating to the final profit share arrangement 
with TWS 

 £0.4m benefit from capitalisation of service transformation spend 
under the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts directive 

 £0.3m overachievement of planning fee income 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



 

3 

 
The key areas of pressures during 2019/20 were: 
 

 Children’s Safeguarding & Family Support ended the year with a 
service overspend of £3.7m.  Spend during the year was higher than 
the budget as  there was an increasing number of more expensive 
specialist placements for looked after children with complex and 
severe behaviours or emotional health needs over the course of the 
year.   The Council has invested additional funding of £4.958m into 
the Children’s Safeguarding & Family Support budget in 2020/21 
highlighting the very high priority placed by the Council on 
safeguarding children.  A cost improvement plan is in place which is 
monitored on a regular basis by senior managers and Cabinet 
Members. 
 

 Adult Social Care ended the year with a service overspend of 
£2.6m.  As reported throughout the year, the cost of purchasing care 
packages from external providers and high demand led to a pressure 
which was £4.9m at the end of the year.  This was mitigated by 
additional income totalling £1.7m from CCG funding and client 
contributions and underspends elsewhere in the Service.  As part of 
the budget strategy approved by Council in March 2020, the Council 
has committed additional investment totalling £3.926m into the Adult 
Social Care budget in 2020/21.  The Service also has a Cost 
Improvement Plan in place to deliver better outcomes and 
efficiencies. 
 

1.2 2019/20 Capital Outturn. 
Capital spend ended the year at £41.84m against an approved estimate 
of £53.17m which was in the main due to re-phasing expenditure into 
2020/21.  The re-phasing of planned spending will generate some further 
treasury management benefits in 2020/21.  
 

1.3 Income Monitoring 
Collection rates for 2019/20 are behind the targets set for Council Tax, 
Business Rates and Sales Ledger.    Covid-19 has impacted on some 
taxpayers ability to pay in March and this trend will continue into 2020/21.  
Ultimately, all debt will be pursued and will continue to be collected after 
the end of the financial year with appropriate recovery avenues being 
pursued at appropriate times. 

 
1.4 NuPlace Ltd 

2019/20 was the fifth year of operation for NuPlace Ltd, the Council’s 
wholly owned housing investment company.  NuPlace is a separate legal 
entity and as such prepares its own accounts but as NuPlace is wholly 
owned by the Council consolidated group accounts are also 
prepared.  The unaudited accounts show that NuPlace generated an 
operating profit before taxation of £0.573m in 2019/20 (£0.492m in 
2018/19) and as planned no dividend was distributed.  The Council also 

Page 17



 

4 

received income from NuPlace totalling £1.2m during 2019/20 (£1.2m in 
2018/19) net of additional interest and other marginal costs. 

 
1.5 General 
 The Accounts and Audit (Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2020 

extend the deadlines for authorities to complete the annual accounts for 
2019/20 due to the disruption caused by Coronavirus.  The period of 
public inspection is now on, or before, the first working day in September 
and the audited Statement of Accounts (SOA) must be published by 30 
November at the latest.  Subject to staff availability, it is our intention to 
circulate the draft SOA to Audit Committee in early to mid-June, followed 
by the period of public inspection.  Officers have been in discussion with 
Grant Thornton, the Council’s external auditors who hope to complete 
the audit in September, therefore it is anticipated that the final, audited 
SOA will be presented to the 1 October Audit Committee.  

 
1.6 Summaries of the outturn on revenue and capital along with major 

variations are shown as appendices to this report.   
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
   
2.1 Cabinet Members are asked to approve the following recommendations 

which will go forward to Full Council for final approval: 
 
(i)       To approve: 
 
- the Revenue outturn position for 2019/20,which is subject to audit by the 

Council’s external auditors, and related virements in Appendix 3  
 
- the transfers and changes to reserves and associated approval to the 

relevant Directors to spend the reserves detailed in section 5  
 
(ii) To approve the Capital outturn position and related supplementary 

estimates, re-phasing and virements shown in Appendix 4 and as 
summarised in the report 

 
(iii) To grant delegated authority to the Director: Finance & HR to make any  

changes required as the outturn is finalised (including the calculation of 
section 31 grants), in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Council 
Finance & Governance 

 
(iv) To note the performance against income targets 
 
(v) To approve the 2020/21 Public Health Grant and update the 2020/21 

budget strategy accordingly 

 
 
  

Page 18



 

5 

3.0 SUMMARY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

COMMUNITY IMPACT Do these proposals contribute to specific Priority 
Plan objective(s)? 

Yes Delivery of all priority objectives 
depend on the effective use of 
available resources.  Financial 
management ensures best use of 
resources. 

 

TARGET 
COMPLETION/DELIVERY 
DATE 
 

Outturn forms the basis of the formal statement 
of accounts which will be circulated to the Audit 
Committee in draft format in early June.  The 
statement of accounts will then be audited and 
the final version will be published before the 30 
November deadline. 
 

FINANCIAL/VALUE FOR 
MONEY IMPACT 

Yes  The financial impacts are detailed 
throughout the report. 
 

LEGAL ISSUES No  None directly arising from this report.  
The S151 Officer has a statutory duty 
to monitor income and expenditure 
and to take action if overspends 
/shortfalls emerge.  The Accounts and 
Audit (Coronavirus) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2020 have changed the 
dates for publication of the audited 
Statement of Accounts to 30 
November and the period of public 
inspection to on or before the first 
working day in September, for 
2019/20 only,  as a result of the 
disruption caused by coronavirus.   

OTHER IMPACTS, RISKS 
& OPPORTUNITIES 

No  Budget holders actively manage their 
budgets and the many financial risks 
and challenges that Council services 
face, examples include the risk of a 
particularly harsh winter which would 
impact adversely on the winter gritting 
and adult social care budgets, the 
increasing dependency on income 
from a wide range of activities and the 
risk of interest rate movements.  The 
Council has comprehensive risk 
management arrangements in place 
and an appropriate level of 
contingency within its revenue budget 
as detailed in this report.  

Page 19



 

6 

IMPACT ON SPECIFIC 
WARDS 

No  

 
 
PART B) – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
  
4.0 2019/20 REVENUE BUDGET 
 
4.1 The Council had a gross revenue budget of £398m for 2019/20 and the 

final net revenue outturn position is as follows (a more detailed summary 
is provided in Appendix I): 

 
 

 £m 

Net Budget 121.413 

Net Expenditure 121.267 

Net Position -0.146 

Percentage Net Variance -0.12% 

 
 
4.2 Variations by Service Delivery Unit are summarised below and further 

detail is provided in Appendix 2.   
 

Service Area Final Budget Outturn Variance 

  £ £ £ 

      

Business, Development & Employment (1,830,224) (2,603,988) (773,764) 

Finance & Human Resources 13,344,264  9,132,483  (4,211,781) 

Cooperative Council 1,045,144  1,012,650  (32,494) 

  
  

  

Children's Safeguarding & Family Support 30,835,857  34,574,889  3,739,032  

Education & Corporate Parenting 6,402,310  6,776,418  374,108  

Adult Social Care 42,723,448  45,307,932  2,584,484  

Governance, Procurement & Commissioning 2,708,200  3,077,922  369,722  

  
  

  

Health & Wellbeing 2,403,073  2,295,304  (107,769) 

Customer & Neighbourhood Services 24,522,353  24,359,532  (162,821) 

Commercial & Housing Services (1,598,412) 10,744  1,609,156  

  
  

  

Corporate Items 857,307  (1,935,552) (2,792,859) 

Total Net Position 121,413,320  122,008,334 595,014  

Funding Variance   
(377,759) 

One Off Benefits   
(363,337) 

    
  

Overall Final Outturn     (146,082) 

Page 20



 

7 

 
 

This table shows the position for each service area after the allocation of funds 
as detailed in section 5 of this report.  The figures in the table exclude budgets 
and variances on asset rentals which are “non-controllable” accounting entries.     
 
4.3 Service variances over £0.250m are highlighted; all other variances 

over £50k are detailed in Appendix 2. 
 

Service Area Variance £m 

Business, Development & Employment 
 
Planning Fee Income – overachievement of planning fee 
income 
 

 
 

-0.268 

Finance & HR 
 

 
 

Treasury Management – the majority relates to benefits from 
low interest rates for short-term borrowing. 
 
 

-3.837 
 

Cooperative Council Team 
 
There are no variations over £250k to report. 
 

 

Children’s Safeguarding & Family Support 
 

 

Children In Care Placements – there have been some new 
residential placements and increased costs associated with 
some placements during the year.  The strategy of increasing 
internal fostering capacity is beginning to have an impact on 
costs however there are significant numbers of children and 
young people in care who continue to have complex/high 
needs. 
 

+2.670 
 

16+ Children in Care – costs associated with young people 
over 16 increased significantly in 2018/19 as a result of a small 
number of high cost cases.  
 

+0.611 
 

Staffing – vacancies covered by agency appointments which 
gives rise to increased costs on staffing budgets together with 
the use of agency staff to maintain appropriate levels of 
caseload.  As newly qualified social workers gain experience, 
the need for agency staff should reduce. 
 

+1.016 
 

Joint Adoption Service – the contribution required to support 
this service, provided jointly with Shropshire, is projected to 
exceed budget mainly due to a number of children being 
placed using external adoption agencies. 
 

+0.482 
 

Page 21



 

8 

Contribution from Reserves  
 

-0.604 
 

Health Funding – projecting to be lower than budgeted 
although the service endeavour to ensure that the appropriate 
health contributions are received for the health aspects of care 
costs. 

+0.336 

 
Use of Contingency - £0.800m from reserves set aside at the 
end of 2018/19 and £0.847m contingency budget to address 
cost pressures in Children’s Safeguarding & Family Support 
approved as part of the 2019/20 budget strategy. 
 

 
-1.647 

Education & Corporate Parenting 
 

 
 

School Transport – the majority of expenditure on home to 
school transport is in relation to transport for pupils with high 
needs which is putting pressure on the transport budget.   
Work to mitigate the pressures is ongoing and there may be 
further opportunities for additional savings once the current 
review of Home to school transport is completed.  
 

+0.391 

Adult Social Care  

Purchasing, Long Term Care –the volume of care purchased 
is higher than assumed activity rates.   
 

+4.923 
 

Income – additional client contributions received as a result of 
the increased volume of care shown above.  
 

-1.507 
 

Operational Locality Teams – underspend due to vacancies 
 

-0.764 

Governance, Procurement & Commissioning 
 

 

CSE Inquiry – costs associated with the Inquiry. 
 

+0.342 

Health & Wellbeing 
 
There are no variations over £250k to report. 
 

 

Customer & Neighbourhood Services  
 

TWS Contract – final profit share payment received 
 
Transfer to Reserves – transfer of above profit-share to meet 
the cost of subsidised bus routes in 2020/21 

-0.496 
 

+0.496 
 

  
Housing Benefit/Council Tax Support – additional Welfare 
Reform grant money receive in year from Government 
 

-0.252 

Page 22



 

9 

Housing Benefit/Council Tax Support – contribution to 
reserves to cover additional staffing costs as a result of 
caseload increases from the Welfare Reform changes and CV-
19  
 

+0.267 

Commercial & Housing Services  
 

Operational & Admin Buildings – higher than budgeted 
levels of repairs and maintenance and utility costs. 
 

+0.375 

Leisure Operations/Aspirations – despite the income 
pressures linked to the impact of new competitors entering the 
gym market locally, Aspirations generated £1.76m income in 
2019/20.  An action plan is in place to mitigate this pressure 
which represents 0.98% of the total Service Area gross budget 
of £41.9m. 
 

+0.412 
 
 

Corporate 
 

 

Transfers to Reserves – various transfers detailed in Section 
5.3 below, to support the medium term financial strategy and 
delivery of Council priorities. 
 

+10.677 

Release of Provision – single status provision reviewed and 
reduced which provides a benefit to the General Fund 
 

-3.000 

Flooding – costs associated with Storm Dennis including the 
deployment of the flood barriers and provision of sand bags, 
offset by anticipated Government Grant via the Bellwin 
scheme. 
 

+0.279 

Capitalisation of Efficiency Costs – costs capitalised under 
the Flexible use of Capital Receipts regulations which are in 
place until the end of 2021/22. 
 

-0.363 

 
4.4     Public Health 
           

Responsibility for Public Health transferred to the Council from the NHS 
in April 2013 together with the associated specific ring-fenced grant 
funding. In 2019/20 this grant totalled £12.012m.  The conditions of the 
grant are that it must be used to address health needs and improve 
health and well-being in the community.  Improving public health 
outcomes is delivered across a number of Service Areas and a summary 
of the grant in 2019/20 is shown in the table below: 

 

  £ 

Public Health Reserve (grant bfwd from 2018/19) 671,853 

Public Health Grant allocation 2019/20 12,012,000 

Page 23



 

10 

Total Funding 12,683,853 

Funding applied during 2019/20          11,650,188  

Grant carried forward to 2020/21 1,033,665 

 
          The majority of the 2019/20 grant was allocated to Services during the 

year, with the exception of £0.366m which was carried forward to 
2020/21 to fund known specific one off costs.  

 
Of the £0.672m grant brought forward from 2018/19, £0.004m was 
applied in 2019/20 leaving £0.668m. Overall, in accordance with Grant 
Conditions and the treatment of the balance to be carried forward, the 
grant was fully spent in 2019/20.  

 
The Public Health Grant for 2020/21 was announced after the budget 
strategy was approved and is therefore included in this report for formal 
approval: 

 
2020/21 Public Health Grant: £12,702,182 which is £0.3m greater than 
was assumed when the budget was approved. 

 
4.5 Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 
 

The in-year surplus was £100,000 and added to the small surplus of 
£20,000 brought forward to 2019/20 from the previous year, this meant 
that a year-end surplus of £120,000 has been carried forward to 
2020/21. 

 
In the context of the scale of DSG - £152m for Telford & Wrekin in 
2019/20 – the outturn position represents a very stable year.  This is 
particularly noteworthy as the national pressure on the high needs 
element of DSG continues and has resulted in many local authorities 
incurring substantial DSG deficits.  These pressures are also apparent 
in Telford & Wrekin, but the Council’s strong financial control, investment 
in additional staff focusing on post 16 and residential provision and 
positive relationships with schools has so far enabled cost pressures to 
be controlled.   

 
However, it should be noted that the underlying pressures on high needs 
have not gone away.   The Council has a constructive relationship with 
the local Schools Forum and continues to work hard to tackle the high 
needs pressures in partnership with the Forum, schools and other 
providers of education. 
 

  

Page 24



 

11 

5.0 RESERVES & BALANCES 
 

5.1 The main General and Special Fund balances were £4.807m at 1st April 
2018.  The position on the main General and Special Fund Balances is 
now: 

 

 £m 
 

Balances at 1st April 2019 5.082 

 
Contribution to General Fund Balances 
 

0.146 

Balances at 31st March 2020 5.228 

 
The General/Special Fund balance forms part of the Council’s overall 
reserves and balances.   
 

5.2 In addition to the General and Special Fund Balances, the Council has a 
general contingency of £3.2m and a reasonable level of uncommitted 
additional balances available to support the medium term strategy.   
 

5.3 The following specific transfers to reserves are proposed and included 
in the outturn position:- 
 

Service Team Amount  

  £ 

Business, Development & Employment 
 
Investment in Climate Change to support community and 
partnership engagement, communications and 
development of action plans. 
 

 
 

50,000 

Finance 
 
Additional Resourcelink licence costs as a result of winning 
new business 
 

 
 

20,000 
 
 

Cooperative Council 
 
Councillors Pride Fund – year-end balance; ward payments 
to be  made in 2020/21 

 
 

10,750 

Adult Social Care 
 
Young People’s Grant balance to be allocated in 2020/21  

 

 
 

6,000 

Health & Wellbeing  
 
School Music Service – funding to cover additional costs 
the Council is legally obliged to make in 2020/21 

 
 

10,000 
 

Page 25



 

12 

Service Team Amount  

 

Customer & Neighbourhood 
 
Benefits – funding to support the ongoing impact of welfare 
reforms, deal with increases in benefits caseloads and 
sustain call handling performance at an acceptable levels 
 
Neighbourhood Services – funding to cover legal costs 
 

 
 

267,091 
 
 
 

20,000 

Council Wide 
 
A Covid-19 Response Fund to meet costs associated with 
the pandemic (being funded from reducing the Single 
Status Provision) 
 
Covid-19 Response Grant – required to meet CV-19 costs 
in 2020/21; first tranche received March 2020 
 
EU Exit Grant – residual balance carried forward to 2020/21 
 
CSE Funding Reserve – funding to meet the anticipated 
costs of the Inquiry in 2020/21 
 
Funding to support unemployment initiatives 
 
Funding for additional Environmental improvements 
 
Funding to support medium term strategy 
 
Funding to strengthen Communications  

 
 

3,000,000 
 
 
 

5,166,721 
 
 

209,968 
 

1,300,000 
 
 

400,000 
 

300,000 
 

200,000 
 

100,000 
 

Overall Total 11,060,530 

 
5.4 The balance of the Public Health ring-fenced grant has also been carried 

forward to 2020/21 (in line with the grant conditions see section 4.4 
above). 

 
 The Council started 2019/20 with £11.9m set aside for one-off costs 

relating to the equal pay settlement.  The provision has not changed 
since 2010/11 and it is therefore opportune to review the amount held. 
Following this review, it is recommended that the amount set aside is 
reduced to £8.9m.  This reflects the significant restructuring the Council 
has undertaken over the past 10+ years, which has included ensuring 
consistency and equality through new job descriptions, grading and 
structures.   The £3m released will be transferred into a reserve to meet 
costs associated with the Covid-19 pandemic, as detailed in the table 
above.  

 
  

Page 26



 

13 

6.0 2019/20 CAPITAL PROGRAMME  
 
6.1 The capital programme for 2019/20 totalled £53.17m; spend at year end 

was £41.84m giving a year end variation of £11.33m which is 
summarised in the table below: 

 

Service Area 
Approved 
Estimate Spend 

% 
Spend 

Year End 
Variance 

  £m £m £m £m 

Adult Social Care 0.35 0.11 31% -0.24 

Development Business & Employment 15.71 9.20 59% -6.51 

Customer & Neighbourhood Services 19.23 17.10 89% -2.13 

Education & Corporate Parenting 7.34 6.88 94% -0.46 

Commercial Services 7.23 6.74 93% -0.49 
Governance, Procurement & 
Commissioning 0.14 0.04 26% -0.10 
Cooperative Council & Commercial 
Delivery 0.90 0.29 32% -0.61 

Finance & Human Resources 2.27 1.48 63% -0.79 

Total 53.17 41.84 79% -11.33 

 
Note: The approved estimate excludes the new allocations, slippage and virements detailed in 
Appendix 4 

 
6.2 The main scheme re-phasing to future years is shown below with detail 

included in Appendix 4.  
 

 £m 

Adult Social Care 
 
Children’s and Adults ICT System (Liquid Logic) 
rephasing of programme 

 

 
 

-0.14 
 
 

Development, Business & Employment 
 
Property Investment Programme – rephasing of 
programme including schemes within the £50m Growth 
Fund allocation. 

 
Housing Investment – programme rephrased in line with 
construction profile 
 
HCA Land Deal – rephasing of spend, mainly site 
preparation 

 
Housing – rephasing of spend, dependent upon third 
party project delivery 
 
Orleton Park recreation – rephasing of spend, to be 
completed in 20/21 

 
 

-3.07 
 
 

 
-0.43 

 
 

-1.70 
 
  

-0.47 
 
 

-0.66 

Page 27



 

14 

 
6.3 There are a number of new approvals and virements which are also 

detailed in Appendix 4 and require formal approval. 
 

6.4 The funding for the capital programme in 2019/20 included £3.342m 
estimated income from capital receipts.  The actual income received in 

 
Customer & Neighbourhood Services 
 
Integrated transport, highways, footpaths and drainage– 
redirection of resources to address flooding in the 
Ironbridge Gorge 
 
Highways and Footpaths – rephasing of Granville Salt 
barn 
 
Safer Routes to schools – rephasing in programme due 
to Covid19 
 
Newport Innovation & Enterprise Package – project 
ongoing; re-phased to 2020/21 
 
LED Lighting – re-phased in line with programme delivery 

 

 
 
 

-1.36 
 
 
 

-0.30 
 
 

-0.13 
 
 

+0.11 
 
 

-0.35 
 

Education & Corporate Parenting 
 
Other School Schemes – re-phased to 2019/20 in line 
with requirements and contractor payment schedules.  

 
 

-0.46 
 

 

Commercial Services 
 
ICT/eGov – spend re-profiled to 2019/20, all fully 
committed to future years 
 
Housing – reprofile of empty property and landlord grant 
funding 
 
Leisure Capital Schemes – scheme reprofiled 20/21 
including Oakengates seating  

 
 

 
 

-0.30 
 
 

-0.24 
 
 

-0.08 

Co-operative Council 
 
Every day Telford, Pride in Your Community – reprofiled 
and committed to future years 
 

 
 

-0.61 

Finance & Human Resources 
 
Capitalisation of Efficiency Schemes/Severance costs  

 
 

-0.79 

Page 28



 

15 

year was lower at £2.3m – the difference was mainly due to a number of 
receipts being delayed.  

 
7.0 NUPLACE 
 
7.1 2019/20 was the fifth year of operation for Nuplace Ltd, the Council’s 

wholly owned housing investment company. The principal activity of 
which is the procurement of the construction and management of private 
and affordable residential property for rent.  During the year, the 
company completed the development of 39 units at Coppice Court, 
Snedshill, taking the number of properties completed and available to let 
at 31 March 2020 to 329, of which 42 are let at affordable rents. Building 
on the strength of lets at Coppice Court, construction work commenced 
on the development of a further 37 units at Rowan View, immediately 
adjacent to the Coppice Court site. In addition, work commenced on 54 
units at Maple Fields, Dothill, with 19 of the units being developed to 
accessible and adaptable standards and ring-fenced  for people who are 
over 55 or have a proven physical disability on a rental basis.  These two 
sites are anticipated to be completed in Autumn 2020, bringing the 
Nuplace portfolio to 420 units. However, construction works were 
suspended in March 2020 due the Coronavirus pandemic and the impact 
on the delivery programme is currently unknown.  

 
In accordance with the Company’s accounting policy, the housing 

portfolio was revalued at the year end, which has resulted in an increase 

in value of 10.5% over the seven completed sites.   

7.2     Nuplace Ltd is a separate legal entity and as such will prepare its own 
Statement of Accounts and comply with company regulations.  The 
accounts will be independently audited.  As Nuplace is wholly owned by 
Telford & Wrekin Council, the Council is required to prepare Group 
Accounts as part of its Statement of Accounts for 2019/20 which will 
consolidate the Council and Nuplace’s financial position. 

 
7.3      As planned, no dividends were distributed at the end of 2019/20 and the 

company ended the year with an operating profit before taxation of 
£0.573m. It should be noted that the Council has received income 
totalling £1.2m from Nuplace during 2019/20 net of additional interest 
and other costs which is a combination of interest paid relating to the 
loan agreement and services Nuplace purchased from the Council.  The 
Council will also benefit from additional Council Tax, and New Homes 
Bonus as Nuplace properties are completed.  

 
 
  

Page 29



 

16 

8.0 CORPORATE INCOME COLLECTION 

 
8.1 The Council’s budget includes significant income streams which are 

regularly monitored to ensure they are on track to achieve targets that 
have been set and so that remedial action can be taken at a very early 
stage.  The three main areas are Council Tax, NNDR (business rates) 
and Sales Ledger.  Year end outturn information relating to these is 
provided below.  The Council pursues outstanding debt until all 
reasonable recovery avenues have been exhausted but also prudently 
provides for bad debts in its accounts. 

 
8.2 In summary, sales ledger collection ended the year above target, but 

council tax and NNDR collection was slightly behind target.  Cash 
collection has increased for council tax and sales ledger income streams 
compared to 2018/19, although NNDR has reduced due to the 
revaluation. 

 
INCOME COLLECTION – 2019/20 

 Actual Target Performance 

Council Tax Collection 97.03% 97.4% 0.37% behind target 

NNDR Collection 97.58% 99.05% 1.47% behind target 

Sales Ledger 
Outstanding Debt 

5.45% 4.70% 0.75% behind target 

  
8.3 Council Tax (£89.m) 

The percentage of the 2019/20 liability for council tax which the authority 
should have received during the year, as a percentage of annual 
collectable debit. The measure does not take account of debt that 
continues to be pursued and collected after the end of the financial year 
in which it became due.  The final collection figure for all financial years 
exceeds 99%.      
  
Year End performance 2018/19    97.30% 
Year End Target for 2019/20                                         97.40% 
  
Performance is cumulative during the year and expressed against the 
complete year’s debit.   
 

Year End Target Year End Actual Last year Actual 

97.4% 97.03% 97.3% 

 
 
Council Tax collection has out-turned at 0.27% behind last year’s 
performance.  Throughout the year, collection was behind target by this 
amount, although it was anticipated that collection would increase 
slightly in February & March as a result of more taxpayers (almost 3000) 
paying over 12 months rather than 10.  Clearly some taxpayer’s ability 
to pay during March will have been impacted by Covid-19. 
 

  
  

Page 30



 

17 

 8.4   NNDR-Business Rates (£75.6m) 
The % of business rates for 2019/20 that should have been collected 
during the year.  This target, as for council tax, ignores our continuing 
collection of earlier years’ liabilities.   
  
The measure does not take into account the debt that continues to be 
pursued and collected after the end of the financial year in which it 
became due.  As a general rule the final collection figure for any financial 
year exceeds 99%. 
   

          Year End performance 2018/19                                  99.05% 
          Year End Target for 2019/20                                       99.05% 
  
 

Year End Target Year End Actual Last year Actual 

99.05%  97.58% 99.05% 

  
 

Business rates has seen a decrease in collection by 1.47% compared 
to 2018/19.  We know that businesses have been severely affected by 
Covid-19 since the lockdown on 23rd March 2020, but also in the month 
before this, businesses were feeling the impact of a loss of trade due to 
the national pandemic. 

 
8.5 Sales Ledger (£58.1m) 

This includes general debt and Social Care debt.  Debt below 2 months 
is classified as a normal credit period. 
  

 The target percent is set relating cumulative debt outstanding from all 
years to the current annual debit.  The targets and performance of 
income collection for 2019/20 are as follows: 

 

Age of 
debt 

Annual 
Target % 

March 2020 

£m % 

Total 4.70 3,168 5.45% 

 

Sales ledger is just outside of target although performance does tend to 
fluctuate from one month to the next.   Collection difficulties continue 
around the complexities of adult social care cases.   

9.0 PREVIOUS MINUTES 
28/02/2019 – Council, Service & Financial Planning Strategy 
30/05/2019 - Cabinet, Service & Financial Planning Report – 2018/19 
Outturn and 2019/20 Update 
11/07/2019 – Cabinet, 2019/20 Financial Management Report 
25/07/2019 – Council, 2019/20  Financial Management Report 
10/10/2019 – Cabinet, 2019/20 Financial Management Report 
02/01/2020 – Cabinet, 2019/20 Financial Management Report 
23/01/2020 – Council, 2019/20  Financial Management Report 

Page 31



 

18 

20/02/2020 – Cabinet, 2019/20 Financial Management Report 
05/03/2020 – Council, Service & Financial Planning Strategy 
 

10.0    BACKGROUND PAPERS 
2019/20 Budget Strategy and Financial Ledger reports 
2020/21 Budget Strategy 
2019/20 Financial Management Reports 
 
Report Prepared by: 
Ken Clarke, Director: Finance & H.R. (C.F.O.) – 01952 383100;   
Pauline Harris, Corporate Finance Manager – 01952 383701 

Page 32



Appendix 1

Final Budget Outturn Variance Asset Rentals Covid 19 Service

One Off Benefits 

including 

capitalisation

£ £ £ £ £ £ £

Business, Development & Employment (1,566,494) (2,224,119) (657,625) 116,139 287 (774,051) 0 

Finance & Human Resources 13,344,264 9,132,483 (4,211,781) 0 0 (4,211,781) 0 

Cooperative Council 1,045,144 1,012,650 (32,494) 0 0 (32,494) 0 

Children's Safeguarding & Family Support 30,941,328 34,487,290 3,545,962 59,706 0 3,739,032 (252,776)

Education & Corporate Parenting 10,875,901 11,536,706 660,805 357,758 0 374,108 (71,061)

Adult Social Care 42,752,664 45,291,853 2,539,189 (45,295) 0 2,584,484 0 

Governance, Procurement & Commissioning 2,745,010 3,114,745 369,735 13 0 369,722 0 

Health & Wellbeing 2,403,073 2,295,304 (107,769) 0 0 (107,769) 0 

Customer & Neighbourhood Services 29,727,443 28,541,304 (1,186,139) (1,023,318) 0 (162,821) 0 

Commercial & Housing Services 2,320,808 2,298,161 (22,646) (1,592,303) 223,257 1,385,899 (39,500)

Corporate Items (13,175,820) (13,841,379) (665,559) 2,127,301 0 (2,792,860) 0 

Total 121,413,320 121,644,997 231,677 0 223,544 371,470 (363,337)

Total Funding (121,413,320) (121,791,079) (377,759) 0 (377,759) 0 

Net Position 0 (146,082) (146,082) 0 223,544 (6,289) (363,337) 0.12%

-                                           0.00-                                         0.00-                             -                               -                               0.00-                             -                                      

Service Area

Analysis of Variance

Summary Outturn Position

P
age 33



Asset Rent Covid-19 Service One Off Savs

£ £ £ £ £ £ £

CIC Placements 15,368,825        18,039,125          2,670,300 2,670,300 The variation reflects an increase in expenditure compared to 2018/19 as well as the 

impact of a shortfall against the expected cost improvement measures.  There have been 

a number of cases in which a child's placement has become more expensive and 

although there have been a number of successful stepdowns to foster care from 

residential, there have also been a number of new residential placements during the 

year.   Significant numbers of children and young people in care continue to have 

complex needs and / or high levels of trauma and this is putting pressure on placement 

costs. However, the service's strategy of increasing internal fostering capacity and thus 

reducing the impact of more costly external foster placements is starting to have an 

impact upon the balance and cost of placements.  In addition, there is an unusually large 

cohort of young people who are currently 16-17 and this demography will provide some 

mitigation of cost pressures over the next couple of years.

16+ Children in Care 730,179              1,341,678             611,499 611,499 Costs associated with young people over 16 increased significantly in 2018/19 as a result 

of a small number of high cost cases.  generally children in high cost residential 

placements stepping down to a high support semi-independent placement as part of 

their transition plan.  The full-year impact of support for these young people has 

impacted upon 2019/20 costs.  In addition there have been further young people turning 

16, moving from existing placements and needing significant support.

Staffing - salaries 10,941,129        10,547,658          (393,471) (214,221) (179,250) The variance largely arises through short-term vacancies as staff leave/join the service 

and from staff not yet at the top of their pay scale. 

Staffing - Agency Costs -                       1,015,665             1,015,665 1,015,665 In some cases vacancies have needed to be covered by agency appointments which 

generally cost around one-third more than an equivalent substantive LA appointment, 

resulting in additional costs.  In addition in specific areas of the service agency staff are 

being placed to maintain levels of caseload appropriate to the experience of staff in post 

(noting ongoing challenges recruiting experienced practitioners).  As ASYE's and newly 

qualified social workers gain experience , the need for additional agency staff should 

reduce.

Children with Disabilities 948,932              1,165,039             216,107 216,107 The cost of direct payments has exceeded the budget provision. However direct 

payments generally represent good value for money compared to more expensive care 

packages and so additional expenditure in this area can be cost effective overall.

Children in Care Adoption Allowances 181,270              239,005                57,735 57,735 There is a budget pressure in this area, due to the number of adopted children and the 

associated costs.  However, adoption is a positive outcome for children unable to return 

to their family and for the financial situation of Safeguarding as a whole, as it means that 

the children and young people concerned are not  placed in more expensive options.

Joint Adoption Service 509,609              991,834                482,225 482,225 T&W is part of a joint adoption service with Shropshire Council.   The primary reason for 

the  variance is that in 2019/20 a number of children have been placed using external 

adoption agencies.  Whilst such placements carry a significant additional cost, it is a one-

off outlay which results in ongoing savings. See also comment above regarding adoption 

allowances

Contribution from Reserves (924,238) (1,528,633) (604,395) (604,395)

Health Funding (580,000) (243,768) 336,232 336,232 The service endeavours to ensure that appropriate health contributions are received for 

the health aspects of care costs and for uncommissioned services and therapy, but 

obtaining evidence of health needs that the CCG will accept can be challenging and the 

increase in CCG contributions which had been budgeted for was not able to be achieved. 

<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<Analysis of Variation>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>

Comments

Childrens Safeguarding & Family Support

2019/20 Revenue Budget Variations over £50,000

Description
Budget Outturn Variation

P
age 34



Under £50k 2,882,067           3,637,483             755,417 59,706 769,236 (73,526)

Contribution from Corporate Reserves (800,000) (800,000) (800,000)

Application of Contingency (847,000) (847,000) (847,000)

Independent Review - Staffing 701,940              740,533                38,593 38,593

Independent Review - Under £50k 181,615              188,671                7,056 7,056

30,941,328 34,487,290 3,545,962 59,706 0 3,739,032 (252,776)

School Transport 2,825,796 3,146,028 320,232 0 391,293 (71,061) The majority of expenditure on home to school transport is related to the transport of 

pupils with high needs. Because of this, the increase in the number of pupils with high 

needs and the complexity of these needs (a national issue, not one confined to T&W) is 

putting upwards pressure on transport costs.  Work to mitigate these cost pressures is 

on-going, including encouraging parents to transport their children to school where 

possible and more sharing of taxis. The number of coaches required to transport 

children to mainstream schools reduced from September 2018 and further reductions 

will be made in future years as denominational transport ceased for new  pupils in 

September 2017.  There may be further opportunities for additional savings once the 

current review of Home to school transport is completed. 

Post 16 Transport 276,370 424,943 148,573 0 148,573 This area transferred into Education & Corporate Parenting from Business, Education 

and Employment in September 2018, when decisions had already been made about 

transport eligibility for academic year 2018/19. A small number of young people with 

significant transport costs had joined the cohort.  In 2019/20, the full year transport 

costs of these young people were incurred, further increasing the projected expenditure 

compared to the previous year.  Post 16 transport is impacted by the same high needs 

issues outlined above, but also has  additional pressures arising from the  Government's 

extension of potential entitlement to education for high needs pupils to age 25, as part 

of the September 2014 SEND reforms.  This has led to some pupils in post 16 education 

extending their education beyond 19, with a continuation of associated transport costs. 

Dedicated post 16 SEND officers were appointed during 2019/20, with a remit to review 

the provision of all students to ensure that it is appropriate and provides positive 

progression.  The impact of this is already apparent and has reduced the financial 

pressure in this area. Independent travel training programmes are now underway and 

are being offered to students where this is appropriate.
Variations under £50,000 7,773,735 7,965,735 192,000 357,758 (165,758)

10,875,901 11,536,706 660,805 357,758 0 374,108 (71,061)

Purchasing-all types of Long Term Care 49,872,694 54,795,806 4,923,112 4,923,112 Difference in forecast net expenditure against five year model which included various 

transformation strategies.  The variation from budget is offset by variations below such as 

additional care based income being collected. The net purchasing variation after increased 

income collected for Long Term Care is c.£3.25m.  This includes a projection for the impacts of 

the current system review and data cleansing 

Purchasing reablement-short term 

care(through BCF)

2,999,946 3,203,448 203,502 203,502 Pressure on the operation managed through Better Care Fund to facilitate the efficient discharge 

of patients from hospital and hospital avoidance.                   

Income-Client Contributions (5,536,808) (7,044,304) (1,507,496) (1,507,496) Impact of the volume of care purchased giving rise to contributions offsetting the Long term care 

pressure above

Income-Joint Funding (1,376,517) (1,545,604) (169,087) (169,087) Continued effective working with the CCG generating contributions to offset care package costs 

including client health needs

Operational Locality Teams 6,105,498 5,341,745 (763,753) (763,753) Vacancies and lead times in recruiting and Better Care funding released to offset purchasing 

pressure above

My Options -Adults & Children's services 334,050 178,271 (155,779) (155,779) Projected net underspend against base budget for Adults and Children's services.  

Variations under £50,000 (9,646,199) (9,637,509) 8,690 (45,295) 53,985

42,752,664 45,291,853 2,539,189 (45,295) 0 2,584,484 0

Total Children's Safeguarding & Family Support

Education & Corporate Parenting

Total Adult Social Care

Health & Wellbeing

Total Education & Corporate Parenting

Adult Social Care

P
age 35



Oakengates Theatre Income (536,210) (603,109) (66,899) (66,899) Additional income from ticket sales, advertising and credit card commission

Community Support Team Employees 298,590 244,330 (54,260) (54,260) Underspend from vacant posts for part of the year.

Music Service Transfer to reserves 0 10,000 10,000 10,000 Transfer to reserves to cover costs associated with changes to terms & conditions of 

Music Tutors

Public Health Transfer to reserves 0 366,221 366,221 366,221 Underspend against Public Health grant transferred to reserves to cover costs associated 

with the Domestic Abuse Service and COVID19 in 2020/21

Variations under £50,000 2,640,693 2,277,861 (362,832) 0 (362,832)

2,403,073 2,295,304 (107,769) 0 0 (107,769) 0

Development Management

AP - Planning Delivery Employees            1,756,620              1,609,890 (146,730) (146,730) One off underspends arising from vacancy management in addition to difficulties in 

recruiting to a number of posts. 

Income           (1,211,790)             (1,479,616) (267,826) (267,826) Over delivery of Planning fee income - £65.7k relating to APT and £202k planning 

applications 

Variations under £50,000                863,520                  894,570 31,050 31,050

Skills

Variations under £50,000 1,492,230 1,462,463 (29,767) (29,767)

II & BS

Employees                889,480                  779,709 (109,771) (109,771) One off underspends arising from vacancy management. 

Supplies & Services                257,760                  134,341 (123,419) (123,419) One off savings on Consultancy and marketing related to the success attracting external

grant. Partly offset by shortfall in income on Tourism code (£21k).   Variations under £50,000                157,110                  114,543 (42,567) (42,567)

AD:Development, Business & Housing

Employees                189,700                  124,447 (65,253) (65,253) One off underspends arising from vacancy management, the budget is being utilised in

20/21 to support the Local Plan. 

Climate change Contribution to Reserves                             -                    50,000 50,000 50,000 Year end funding request re. Climate change. Investment will support the Partnership

and community engagement, comms and as seed funding to support services

develop/deliver action plan targets

Variations under £50,000              (136,830)                (121,823) 15,007 15,007

Housing Investment Programme

Variations under £50,000                209,876                  209,876 0 0

Regeneration & Investment

Employees (Management Account)                741,070                  622,457 (118,613) (118,613) One off underspends arising from vacancy management. 

Employees                             -                  (91,200) (91,200) (91,200) Homes England contribution towards staffing costs.

Net PIP & Services Charges (excluding Growth Fund)           (3,564,360)             (3,281,387) 282,973                   145,325 137,648 Income and NNDR pressures arising from a number of void properties including

Hollinswood House. A planned refurbishment programme for Hollinswood House was

approved in 18/19 is under review.  The market for Office space remains challenging. 

Growth Fund Income           (2,666,470)             (2,722,878) (56,408) (56,408) Early delivery of Growth fund investments due to improved tenant phasing.

Variations under £50,000              (544,410)                (529,512) 14,898 (29,186) 287 43,798

(1,566,494) (2,224,119) (657,625) 116,139 287 (774,051) 0

Business, Development & Employment

Total Development, Business, Development & Employment

Customer & Neighbourhood Services

Total Health & Wellbeing

P
age 36



Environmental Maintenance Various 3,923,080 3,761,771 (161,309) (161,309) Underspends from the new Grounds & Cleansing Contract with Idverde as a result of the 

delivery of savings earmarked for 2020/21 early in 2019/20.

Environmental Maintenance Income 0 (496,215) (496,215) (496,215) Final payment received from TWS in respect of profit share arrangement.

Environmental Maintenance Contribution to Reserves 0 496,215 496,215 496,215 Transfer to reserves to cover pressures in 2020/21 regarding the bus subsidy contract

TWS Holding Account Third Party Payments 0 (66,778) (66,778) (66,778) One off refund in relation to pensions as a result of the winding up of the TWS contract.

Highways & Transportation Strategic PolicyVarious 0 (111,359) (111,359) (111,359) Underspend arising from part year vacant posts

Highways & Engineering Various 36,730 (162,951) (199,681) (199,681) Additional engineers fee income generated from projects

NRSWA – New Roads & Streetworks Act Various (365,410) (462,649) (97,239) (97,239) Additional net income from Permits and Streetworks

 Transformation Specialist - Customer 

Services 

Various 0 (126,934) (126,934) (126,934) Additional income generated through charges to the capital programme

Housing Benefit/Council Tax Support 

Team

Income (838,730) (1,091,128) (252,398) (252,398) Additional Welfare Reform grant money received in year from Government

Housing Benefit/Council Tax Support 

Team

Contribution to Reserves 0 267,091 267,091 267,091 Contribution to reserves to cover additional staffing costs as a result of caseload 

increases from the Welfare Reform changes and COVID19
Granville House Various 51,870 178,863 126,993 126,993 Costs of Business Rates, utilities and repairs of Granville House. This is net of recovery of 

dilapidation costs from TWS

T&W Footpath Various 801,090 715,413 (85,677) (85,677) Underspend against electricity for footpath lighting as a result of the roll out of the LED

lighting programme across the Borough. This variation has reduced since last reported

as additional one off repair costs have been identified as the programme comes to its

completion.

Waste Various 11,371,495 11,564,770 193,275 193,275 Increased tonnages in waste disposal as a result of Housing growth which is higher than

the waste model

Director: Neighbourhood & Enforcement ServicesTransfers to Reserves 0 20,000 20,000 20,000 Transfer to reserves to cover Legal costs to be incurred in 2020/21

Housing Benefits Subsidy Various (190,000) 18,705 208,705 208,705 £76k variation against income budget for recovery of overpayments and level of

overpayments debt at 31.03.20 which has reduced. Also impact of lost subsidy where

only 40% or 60% of benefit paid is recoverable, net impact against budget was £132k.

Variations under £50,000 14,937,318 14,036,490 (900,828) (1,023,318) 122,490

29,727,443 28,541,304 (1,186,139) (1,023,318) 0 (162,821) 0

Team B - Revenues Employees 889,810 948,744 58,934 58,934 Additional staffing costs funded from additional income received

Team B - Revenues Supplies & Services 311,960 252,358 (59,602) (59,602) Underspends on printing, legal expenses and postage

Team B - Revenues Income (914,320) (1,018,002) (103,682) (103,682) Overachievement of income target and additional new burdens funding

Customer & Corporate Finance Income (978,660) (1,029,938) (51,278) (51,278) Additional income received from capital projects and external business

Bank Charges Supplies & Services 117,130 22,519 (94,611) (94,611) Underspend due to impact of new contract. This has been taken as a saving in 2020/21

Payroll Income (659,260) (734,638) (75,378) (75,378) Additional income from external business

Payroll Transfers to Reserves 0 20,000 20,000 20,000 Transfer to reserves to cover additional license costs of Resourcelink

External Audit Fees Supplies & Services 201,590 99,182 (102,408) (102,408) Underspend from contract with Grant Thornton. This has been taken as a saving in 

2020/21Variations under £50,000 3,182,765 3,216,158 33,393 33,393

Treasury 11,193,249 7,356,101 (3,837,148) (3,837,148) Savings arising from Treasury Management activities

13,344,264 9,132,483 (4,211,781) 0 0 (4,211,781) 0

Total Customer & Neighbourhood Services

Finance & Human Resources

Total Finance & Human Resources

P
age 37



Organisational Delivery & Planning Income - Contributions from reserves 0 (132,531) (132,531) (132,531) Capacity funding for additional staffing costs

Learning Development Supplies & Services 0 52,305 52,305 52,305 Learning Pool and other subscription costs funded from training reserve

Learning Development Income - Contributions from reserves 0 (88,667) (88,667) (88,667) Contribution from reserves to fund the above

Councillors Pride Fund Contribution to Reserves 0 10,750 10,750 10,750 Transfer to reserves to cover commitments against the Councillor's Pride Fund for

2019/20 which will be paid in 2020/21.

0

Variations under £50,000 1,045,144           1,170,792             125,648 0 125,649

1,045,144 1,012,650 (32,494) 0 0 (32,494) 0

Legal Services-Employees 1,112,640 940,549 (172,091) (172,091) Pressure on budget arising from use of Agency Locum staff to provide for cover and 

vacancies

Legal Services-Income (235,410) (131,803) 103,607 103,607 Reduced income from a reduction in the  anticipated levels of fee generating work 

Legal Services-Contribution from 

reserves

(101,400) (168,322) (66,922) (66,922) Increased drawdown of reserves to offset pressures on staffing budget reported above

Youth Offending Service 0 (72,862) (72,862) (72,862) Return of reserves built up by PCC who administer the YOS Consortium

Supporting People-Contracts 1,531,570 1,691,957 160,387 160,387 Budgeted savings being phased over longer period and partially delivered within ASC

Supporting People-Contribution from 

reserves

0 (160,387) (160,387) (160,387) Reserves used to offset pressure above

CSE Inquiry 341,759 341,759 341,759 The profile of the CSE inquiry costs was difficult to predict in advance of the process 

beginning with significantly higher costs arising in the last quarter of the financial year. 

As a result the costs falling into 19/20 were higher than anticipated resulting in a 

variation to the Corporate budget set aside for this purpose. The additional cost is 

represented here.

Variations under £50,000 437,610 673,854 236,244 13 236,231

2,745,010 3,114,745 369,735 13 0 369,722 0

Housing

Homelessness Income (533,730) (358,730) 175,000 175,000 A number of ongoing pressures were identified with limited short-term mitigating 

options, a one off reserve was used in 19/20 to address this.  The pressure related to 

rental income shortfall in relation to the move from one large refuge to two smaller 

properties to meet the needs of the client group and relatively lower occupancy levels in 

our accommodation for young people due to the need to ensure the right mix of clients 

to minimise safeguarding issues.  The Housing team have reviewed options and 

identified additional funding to help mitigate these pressures in 2020/1.

Income - Contributions from reserves 0 (175,000) (175,000) (175,000) One off use of Reserve created from 18/19 outturn to mitigate the above pressure.

DFG Income (166,355) (216,658) (50,303) (50,303) Over recovery of Disabled Facility Grant fee income as a result of increased grant take-up

Variations under £50k 775,210 745,767 (29,443) (29,443)

ICT

ICT Corporate Supplies & Services Net position 3,057,475 3,144,924 87,449 2 33,454 53,994 Additional in year license costs addressed with on going budget growth from 20/21 and 

new WAN contract from July 2020

ICT Corporate Service Staffing Income (250,690) (326,678) (75,988) (75,988) Additional project income from some large schemes and efficient use of resources.

Variations under £50k (2,217,840) (2,251,408) (33,568) 5,110 (38,677)

BiT

Landlord Maintenance Premises-Related Expenditure 219,097 302,137 83,040 0 83,040 Cost of external painting and other costs not capitalised

Total Cooperative Delivery Unit

Governance, Procurement & Commissioning

Total Governance, Procurement & Commissioning

Commercial & Housing Services

Cooperative Delivery Unit

P
age 38



Travellers & Gypsy Sites Premises-Related Expenditure 115,370 252,276 136,906 0 136,906 Additional R&M expenditure at Lodge Road Gypsy and Traveller site as a result of fire 

damage (insurance excess set at £100k) and high utility costs (water & Electricity) at 

same site.  An action plan is in progress to mitigate ongoing pressures.

Operational & Admin buildings Net position 6,274,140 4,991,469 (1,282,671) (1,657,993) 0 375,322 Higher than expected levels of R&M and utility costs at operational/admin buildings.  

Variations under £50k (6,041,123) (5,962,667) 78,456 65,691 60 12,705

Commercial Operations - Leisure

Aspirations Net position (1,760,874) (1,268,909) 491,965 80,433 411,532 Income pressures within Leisure linked to the impact of new competitors entering the 

gym market locally.  An action plan is in place to mitigate this pressure as far as possible, 

which had been having a positive effect before all Leisure Centres were closed as a result 

of the Covid pandemic.

Ice Rink Income (746,500) (689,547) 56,953 2,199 54,753 Income pressure as a result of closure

Variations under £50k 3,778,892 3,978,929 200,037 0 57,367 155,171 (12,500) Corporate saving regarding Flexible use of capital receipts and use of reserve funding

Commercial Operations -Cleaning

Variations under £50k 422,403 319,240 (103,162) 179 (103,341)

Commercial Operations -Catering

Education Catering Net position (60,194) 93,903 154,097 44,326 109,771 Income pressures as a result of a reduction in the number of pupils on the primary 

school roll and therefore reduced meal numbers and enforced schools closures at the 

end of March. Expenditure pressures as a result of increasing food prices partly as a 

consequence of Brexit.

Variations under £50k 12,283 54,894 42,611 42,611

Commercial Projects

Income (75,000) 0 75,000 75,000 This pressure relates to a target to generate additional income from the solar farm by 

installing a private wire.  However, we have decided it is not prudent to progress this, as 

there is a risk that this would adversely affect our Feed in Tariff accreditation with 

Ofgem.  Instead, we are investigating alternative energy projects, but these are longer-

term projects that will not be delivered in 2019/20.

Variations under £50k (369,500) (320,357) 49,143 (3) 76,146 (27,000) Corporate saving regarding Flexible use of capital receipts and use of reserve funding

Commercial Services Management AccountNet position (112,256) (15,425) 96,831 130 96,701 Balance of 19/20 savings target

2,320,808 2,298,161 (22,646) (1,592,303) 223,257 1,385,899 (39,500)

Purchase Rebates Income (252,500) (175,844) 76,656 76,656 Dividend from WME is lower than anticipated

Staff Miscellaneous Employees 964,280 868,388 (95,892) (95,892) Reduced pension costs from Shropshire Council

Flooding 279,492 279,492 0 0 279,492 Costs incurred as a result of Storm Dennis. Prolonged deployment of the Flood Barriers 

and other costs such as provision of sand bags and fees. Offset by £48k Bellwin 

Government Grant claim

Release of Provision 0 (3,000,000) (3,000,000) 0 0 (3,000,000) Single status provision reviewed and reduced, releasing a benefit into the General Fund

Grant Income 0 (5,376,689) (5,376,689) 0 0 (5,376,689) Covid-19 and EU Exit grant funding received

Contribution to Reserves 0 10,676,689 10,676,689 0 0 10,676,689 See section 5 in the report

Other council wide items 126,788 (5,222,669) (5,349,457) 0 0 (5,349,457) Includes the unused element of the contingency

Asset Rentals (14,033,128) (11,905,827) 2,127,301 2,127,301 0 0

Variations under £50,000 18,740 15,081 (3,659) 0 0 (3,659)

(13,175,820) (13,841,379) (665,559) 2,127,301 0 (2,792,860) 0

(121,413,320) (121,791,079) (377,759) 0 0 (377,759) 0

0 (146,082) (146,082) 0 223,544 (6,289) (363,337)

Corporate Items

Total Corporate Items

Total funding

Total Variations

Total Commercial & Housing Services

P
age 39



Appendix 3

Virements To: £ Virements From: £

Adult Social Care

Purchasing of Care - all client groups 4,923,112 Purchasing Income - client contributions 1,507,496-            

Purchasing reablement - short term care 203,502 Purchasing Income - Health income 169,087-               

Operational Locality Teams 763,753-               

My Options - Adults & Children's Services 155,779-               

Asset Rentals -                45,295 

5,126,614 -2,641,410

Business, Development & Employment

PIP & Service Charges 137,648 AP - Planning Delivery - income 267,826-               

AP - Planning Delivery - Employees 146,730-               

Inward Investment & BS - Employees 109,771-               

Inward Investment & BS - Supplies and Services 123,419-               

Development, Business & Housing - Employees 65,253-                 

Regeneration & Investment  - Employees 209,813-               

Regeneration & Investment  - Growth Fund Income 56,408-                 

Asset Rentals 116,139

253,787 -979,220

Cooperative Council 

Learning & Development - Supplies & Services 52,305  Contribution from reserves - ODD 132,531-               

 Contribution from reserves - L&D 88,667-                 

2019/20 Revenue Virements for Approval

P
age 40



52,305 221,198-               

Commercial Services

Homelessness - Income 175,000 Homelessness - income 175,000-               

ICT - supplies & services 87,448 Disabled Facilities Grant Income 50,303-                 

BiT - repairs and maintenance 83,040 ICT - income 75,988-                 

Travellers Sites - premises related expenditure 136,906

Operational & Admin Buildings - R&M & Utilities 375,322

Aspirations 491,965

Ice Rink 56,951

Education Catering 154097

Commercial projects income 75,000

Commercial Services Management Account 96,831

Asset Rentals 1,592,303-            

1,732,560 -1,893,594

Customer & Neighbourhood Services

Environmental Maintenance - contribution to reserves 496,215 Environmental Maintenance - Income 496,215-               

Hsg Benefit /CT Support Team - contribution to reserves 267,091 Environmental Maintenance 161,309-               

Granville House 126,993  TWS Holding Account - Third Party Payments -                66,778 

Waste 193,275  Highways & Transportation - Strategic - employees -              111,359 

Housing Benefit Subsidy 208,705  Highways engineering - income -              199,681 

 New Roads & Street Works - income -                97,239 

 Hsg Benefit & Council Tax Support Team - income -              252,398 

 Customer Services - Transformation Specialist -              126,934 

P
age 41



 Footpath lighting -                85,677 

Asset Rentals 1,023,318-            

1,292,279 -2,620,908

Finance & HR

Revenues - Employees 58,934 Revenues - income 103,682-               

Revenues - Supplies & Services 59,602-                 

Bank Charges - supplies and services 94,611-                 

Customer & Corporate Finance - income -51278

Treasury Management -3837148

Payroll - income 75,378-                 

External Audit fee - supplies & services -102,408

58,934 4,324,107-            

Governance, Procurement & Commissioning

Legal Services - Income 103,607 Legal Services - Employees 172,091-               

Supporting People - contracts 160,387 Legal Services - Contribution from reserves 66,922-                 

CSE Inquiry 341,759 Youth Offending Service 72,862-                 

Supporting People - contribution from reserves -160387

Asset Rentals 13

605,766 472,262-               

Health & Wellbeing

Public Health - contribution to reserves 366,221 Community Support Team 54,260-                 

Oakengates Theatre 66,899-                 

Public Health - underspends 366,221-               

366,221 -487,380

P
age 42



Education & Corporate Parenting

School Transport 320,232

Post 16 Transport 148,573

Variations under £50,000 165,758-               

Asset Rentals 357,758

826,563 165,758-               

Children's Safeguarding & Early Help

Children in Care - placements 2,670,300 Children's Safeguarding & Family Support - employees 393,471-               

Children & Young People aged 16+ 611,499 Contribution from Reserves 1,404,395-            

Children's Safeguarding & Family Support - agency 1,015,665 Application of contingency 847,000-               

Children with Disabilities 216,107

CIC - Adoption Allowances 57,735

Health Funding 336,232

Joint Adoption Service 482,225

Asset Rentals 59706

5,449,469 -2,644,866

Council Wide, Corporate & Transfers to Reserves

Contribution to Reserves 10,676,689        Other Council Wide 5,349,465-            

Flooding 279,492 Grant Income 5,376,689-            

Purchase rebates 76,656 Release of Provision 1,651,887-            

Staff Misc. Employees 95,892-                 

Asset Rentals 2,127,301

13,160,138 -12,473,933

P
age 43



Appendix 4

Virements
Scheme Service Area Funding Source 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 Later Yrs

£ £ £ £ £

HCA Land Deal Business Development and Employment External (14,105.94)

Telford Growth Package Customer & Neighbourhood Services External 14,105.94 

Asset Management Plan - General Works & Surveys Commercial Services Prudential (34,097.78)

All Other School schemes Education & Corporate Parenting Prudential 34,097.78 

Total 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Slippage
Scheme Service Area Funding Source 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 Later Yrs

£ £ £ £ £

Integrated Community Schemes Early Help and Support Prudential (64,098.00) 64,098.00 

Social Care Capital Grant Early Help and Support Grant (33,820.52) 33,820.52 

Children's & Adults ICT Systems review Early Help and Support Prudential (139,931.52) 139,931.52 

HCA Liability Sites Business Development and Employment External (500,000.00) (2,837,000.00) 3,337,000.00 

HCA Land Deal Business Development and Employment External (1,191,608.83) 1,057,608.83 134,000.00 

Orleton Park recreation Business Development and Employment Prudential (659,726.18) 659,726.18 

Rights of Way Business Development and Employment Revenue (1,902.51) 1,902.51 

Superfast Broadband Programme Business Development and Employment Capital Receipts (115,868.44) 115,868.44 

Property Investment Portfolio Business Development and Employment Prudential (2,749,389.44) 2,749,389.44 

Property Investment Portfolio Business Development and Employment Revenue (52,174.68) 52,174.68 

Property Investment Portfolio Business Development and Employment Capital Receipts (348,316.41) 348,316.41 

Capital Receipts Site Preparation Business Development and Employment Capital Receipts 70,659.54 (70,569.54)

Town Centre - Phase 1 Business Development and Employment Capital Receipts (148,457.47) 148,457.47           

Pride In Your High Street Business Development and Employment Revenue (133,259.82) 133,259.82 

Pride In Your High Street Business Development and Employment Prudential 104,163.40           (104,163.40)

Housing Business Development and Employment External (187,640.00) 187,640.00 

Housing Business Development and Employment Prudential (287,360.00) 287,360.00 

Housing Company -Housing Business Development and Employment Prudential (425,402.10) 425,402.10 

Telford Growth Package Customer and Neighbourhood Services Prudential (455,889.02) 455,889.02 

Telford Growth Package Customer and Neighbourhood Services External 455,889.02 (455,889.02)

Newport Innovation & Enterprise Package Customer & Neighbourhood Services Prudential (1,514.27) 1,514.27 

Newport Innovation & Enterprise Package Customer & Neighbourhood Services Grant 107,077.77 (107,077.77)

A442 Dualling - Leegomery to Hadley Customer & Neighbourhood Services Revenue (30,036.35) 30,036.35 

Ironbridge Gorge Stability Customer & Neighbourhood Services Prudential (44,856.10) 44,856.10 

Highways & Bridges Capital Maintenance Customer and Neighbourhood Services Grant (4,935,000.00) 4,935,000.00 

LED Lighting Invest To Save Customer and Neighbourhood Services Prudential (352,070.64) 352,070.64           

Capital Approvals - by Service Area

P
age 44



Highways / Footpaths Customer and Neighbourhood Services Prudential (302,988.51) 302,988.51           

Safer Routes to Schools Customer and Neighbourhood Services Revenue (134,611.05) 134,611.05           

Estate Car Parking Customer and Neighbourhood Services Revenue 38,440.47              (38,440.47)

Service & Financial Approved Schemes Customer and Neighbourhood Services Prudential (151,227.98) 151,227.98 

Integrated Transport Customer and Neighbourhood Services Prudential (78,898.79) 78,898.79 

Highways / Footpaths Customer and Neighbourhood Services Prudential (1,091,769.53) 1,091,769.53 

Highways & Bridges Capital Maintenance Customer and Neighbourhood Services Prudential (192,005.23) 192,005.23 

Customer Services Systems Development Customer and Neighbourhood Services Prudential (52,343.37) 52,343.37 

Customer Services Systems Development Customer and Neighbourhood Services Revenue (5,280.90) 5,280.90 

All Other School Schemes Education & Corporate Parenting Grant 481,001.40 (481,001.40)

All Other School Schemes Education & Corporate Parenting External (63,206.57) 63,206.57 

All Other School Schemes Education & Corporate Parenting Capital Receipts (854,257.81) 854,257.81 

Service Transformation - Invest To Save Education & Corporate Parenting Prudential (11,659.85) 11,659.85 

Asset Management Plan - General Works & Surveys Commercial Services Prudential 121,883.37 (121,883.37)

Housing Commercial Services Capital Receipts (150,500.00) 150,500.00 

Housing Commercial Services External (86,377.78) 86,377.78 

Housing Commercial Services Prudential 35,243.84 (35,243.84)

Digital Roadside Advertising Commercial Services Prudential (58,000.00) 58,000.00 

Parks for People Commercial Services Prudential (20,997.76) 20,997.76 

St Georges Regeneration Commercial Services Prudential (202.62) 202.62 

Leisure Capital Schemes Commercial Services Revenue (12,415.96) 12,415.96 

Leisure Capital Schemes Commercial Services Prudential (54,097.20) 54,097.20 

3G Pitch Commercial Services Prudential (12,860.38) 12,860.38 

ICT Commercial Services Revenue (60,778.76) 60,778.76 

ICT Commercial Services Prudential (216,532.05) 216,532.05 

Housing & Technology support for People with Learning Disabilities Legal Procurement & Commissioning Grant (69,766.70) 69,766.70 

Legal Fees Legal Procurement & Commissioning Prudential (31,679.33) 31,679.33 

Every Day Telford -Pride in your Community Co-Operative Council Prudential (369,628.83)               369,628.83 

Every Day Telford -Pride in your Community Co-Operative Council Revenue (231,236.71) 231,236.71 

Efficiency Schemes Capitalisation Corporate items Capital Receipts (785,900.81) 785,900.81 

Managing the Funding of the Capital Programme Corporate items Capital Receipts 862,641.40 (862,641.40)

Managing the Funding of the Capital Programme Corporate items Prudential (862,641.40) 862,641.40 

(16,543,187.97) 13,072,277.97 3,471,000.00 0.00 0.00 

New Allocations

Scheme Service Area Funding Source 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 Later Yrs

£ £ £ £ £

Dawley Regeneration Development Business and Employment Prudential (2,376.36)

Town Centre - Phase 1 Development Business and Employment Capital Receipts 38,474.33               

P
age 45



Rights of Way Development Business & Employment Revenue 12,000.00 

Property Investment Portfolio Development Business and Employment Revenue 82,150.00 

HCA Land Deal Business Development and Employment External (702,479.00) 37,000.00       280,000.00  

Land Deal Board Schemes Business Development and Employment External 135,000.00           1,230,000.00  183,000.00  

Freshwater First Customer and Neighbourhood Services Grant (5,606.54)

Freshwater First Customer and Neighbourhood Services Revenue (2,534.25)

Freshwater First Customer and Neighbourhood Services Revenue 7,567.86 

Highways & Bridges Capital Maintenance Customer and Neighbourhood Services Grant 4,935,000.00 

Estate Car Parking Customer and Neighbourhood Services External 6,650.00 

Play Area Surface Improvements Customer and Neighbourhood Services External 121,420.21 

Town Centre Connectivity Customer and Neighbourhood Services Prudential (537.89)

Highways & Bridges Capital Maintenance Customer and Neighbourhood Services Revenue 21,383.04 

All Other School Schemes Education & Corporate Parenting Revenue (62,000.00)

All Other School Schemes Education & Corporate Parenting External 163,152.09 

All Other School Schemes Education & Corporate Parenting Prudential (150,000.00)

All Other School Schemes Education & Corporate Parenting Grant 1,739,364.00 

Housing Commercial Services Capital Receipts 54,759.20               

Asset Management Plan - General Works & Surveys Commercial Services Grant (1,434.00)

Asset Management Plan - General Works & Surveys Commercial Services Grant (1,199.79)

Asset Management Plan - General Works & Surveys Commercial Services Grant (1,200.00)

Asset Management Plan - General Works & Surveys Commercial Services Grant 1,317.59                 

Asset Management Plan - General Works & Surveys Commercial Services Grant 1,997.59                 

ICT/ eGov Commercial Services Revenue (24,497.00)

Accommodation Commercial Services Prudential 27,072.77               500,000.00             

Leisure Capital Schemes Commercial Services Revenue (121.04)

Housing DFG Commercial Services Grant 2,033,004.00 

Telford Town Park Commercial Services Prudential 51,000.00 

Performance Information Co-operative Council Revenue (24,381.32)

Legacy Fund Co-operative Council Revenue 19,000.00 

Managing the Funding of the Capital Programme Corporate items Capital Receipts 321,580.65 (70,659.54)

Managing the Funding of the Capital Programme Corporate items Prudential (321,580.65) 70,659.54 

Total 5,216,056.49 3,755,889.00 1,267,000.00 463,000.00 0.00 

P
age 46



Appendix 5 

Section 106 Monetary Contributions Received and Expended for Education Purposes 01/04/19 to 31/03/20 

Planning Application No Scheme Bal brought forward Income Expenditure Bal Carried forward Project
TWC/2012/0320 & TWC/2013/0720 Land off Sommerfield Road -137414.24 -922.37 0.00 -138336.61 Contribution towards HLC expansion

TWC/2011/0821 Land at Wellington Rd Newport -435512.71 -2924.07 0.00 -438436.78 New primary provision & expansion of secondary provision Burton Borough Music block (only primary sum left)

TWC/2010/0722 Redhill - Education 0.00 -82066.00 82066.00 0.00 St Georges Demountable replacement

TWC/2013/0297 Land off Edgmond Rd Newport -209075.82 -1403.42 0.00 -210479.24 To be used toward expansion of education facilitiers in Newport area - project yet to be confirmed

TWC/2014/0484 & TWC/2016/0332 Land West of The Cedars Rodington -27104.40 -181.93 0.00 -27286.33 Contribution towards primary facilities towards the new Allscott Primary School

TWC/2016/0535 Springfields Industrial Estate Newport -40521.28 -286.37 0.00 -40807.65 Contribution towards remodeling Newport Infant School & Changing Rooms at Burton Borough 

TWC/2013/0855 Land rear of Willow Tree Cottage Station Rd Newport -123626.40 -846.04 0.00 -124472.44 Contribution towards remodeling Newport Junior School & Changing Rooms at Burton Borough 

TWC/2012/0530 Land at Priorslee East (HCA) -263373.22 -384896.82 283500.00 -364770.04 Priorslee?

TWC/2013/0592 Former Ever Ready Factory -221402.12 -224.72 0.00 -221626.84 Contribution towards primary Education at Ladygrove 

W2006/0291 & TWC/2011/0541 & TWC/2015/0843B1/B3 Apley Castle (Perigrine Way) -134472.27 -835.22 0.00 -135307.49 Contribution towards Milbrook Primary extention  

TWC/2014/0230 Back Lane/Plantation Rd Tibberton  -102584.70 -10266.82 0.00 -112851.52 Newport Junior Expansion & Newport Secondary transport costs 

TWC/2013/1033 Land off Haygate Rd -237243.10 -22427.26 0.00 -259670.36 Primary & Secondary Contribution

TWC/2014/0415 Land at The Knoll Church Aston -37795.27 -3317.18 0.00 -41112.45 Newport Juniors expansion

TWC/2017/0714 Snedshill Way -70299.01 -475.43 0.00 -70774.44 Contribution towards St Georges Primary expansion

TWC/2016/0560 Beech Hill & Blue House Barns -74078.96 -578.03 0.00 -74656.99 Newport Juniors expansion

TWC/2017/0941 Land West of Castle Farm Way Priorslee -416646.79 -1483.69 0.00 -418130.48 Primary Ed & Holy Trinity 

TWC/2016/0446 61 Plantation Rd Tibberton -89870.00 -3803.13 0.00 -93673.13 Contribution towards Tibberton Primary School 

TWC/2016/0562 Former Beeches Hospital site Ironbridge 0.00 -189899.68 0.00 -189899.72 Remodelling Madeley Primary school

TWC/2011/0827 Audley Ave (Housing) 0.00 -157560.01 0.00 -157560.01 TBC

TWC/2015/1111 & TWC/2017/1050 Land adj to Walton Ave/Ridgeway High Ercall 0.00 -155856.72 3188.98 -152667.74 Primary education (£103,968.00) & transport to Charlton (£36,734.85)

TWC/2017/0233 & TWC/2018/0659 Plough Lane Newport 0.00 -122944.32 97229.60 -25714.72 Remodeling Church Aston School 

TWC/2016/1152 Parkland House Audley Ave 0.00 -201020.32 0.00 -201020.32 Changing rooms at Newport Junior school & music block at Burton Borough

TWC/2017/0179 Land South of 28 Beechfields Way 0.00 -77676.49 0.00 -77676.49 Remodeling at Newport Junior School & sports facilities at Burton Borough

TWC/2014/0333 Land at Corner of Stafford Rd/A41 Newport -311906.60 -776.71 0.00 -312683.31 To be used toward expansion of education facilitiers in Newport area - project yet to be confirmed

W2004/0980 & TWC/2010/0828 Lawley Primary New School -78947.11 -466.51 0.00 -79413.62 1st & 2nd & 3 rd  installment re new School at Lawley & school expansion plan sum

TWC/2012/0650 & TWC/2014/0237 Land off Doseley Works -17920.94 -120.28 0.00 -18041.22 Education establishments within 10 miles of the development 

TWC/2014/0273 Land at The Barnes Church Aston -1896.10 -12.64 0.00 -1908.74 Moorfield Primary School Enhancement of classroom facilities

TWC/2010/0111 & TWC/2014/0258 Land at Former Ibstock Brickworks 0.00 -10393.98 0.00 -10393.98 Ladygrove Primary Expansion

TWC/2014/0656 Land adj to Stone House Shifnal Rd Priorslee -18941.34 -130.23 0.00 -19071.57 Contribution towards St Georges Primary expansion

TWC/2012/0926 Land at Horsehay 0.00 -52964.71 0.00 -52964.71 Education requirement arising as a result of the development 

Totals -3050632.38 -1486761.10 465984.58 -4071408.94

-4071408.94

To 31/03/2020 0.00

P
age 47



T
his page is intentionally left blank



TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL 
 
CABINET - 18 JUNE 2020 
 
TELFORD & WREKIN’S SPECIALIST & SUPPORTED ACCOMMODATION 
STRATEGY 2020-2025 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR HOUSING, EMPLOYMENT & INFRASTRUCTURE  
 
LEAD CABINET MEMBER – CLLR DAVID WRIGHT, CABINET MEMBER FOR 
ECONOMY, HOUSING, TRANSPORT & INFRASTRUCTURE AND CLLR ANDY 
BURFORD, CABINET MEMBER FOR HEALTH & SOCIAL CARE 

 
PART A – SUMMARY REPORT 
 
1. SUMMARY OF MAIN PROPOSALS 
 
1.1 The Council’s Plan To ‘Protect, Care and Invest to Create a Better Borough’ 

includes commitments to: 

 Protect and support our most vulnerable adults and children. 

 Support communities and those most in need and work to give residents 
access to suitable housing. 

1.2 Having a range of high quality specialist and supported housing, to accommodate 
and protect our most vulnerable people, is an essential part of delivering these 
commitments and creating a place where all citizens can live well, both now and 
in the future. This means delivering a range of housing that enables people to live 
independently including, where appropriate, adapting existing homes.  
 

1.3 In this context, the report presents for consideration and approval, Telford & Wrekin 
Council’s Specialist & Supported Accommodation Strategy 2020-2025 (Appendix 
1). The Strategy is the culmination of work to fully understand current and 
anticipated demand, as well as gaps in provision, for housing specifically for 
vulnerable people.  

 
1.4 The Strategy sets out our vision for the provision of specialist and supported 

accommodation and the objectives within the strategy are aligned with those within 
the Council’s wider Housing Strategy and include:   

 

 Making the best use of existing accommodation including by utilising Disabled 
Facilities Grant to fund works and adaptations that will enable people to remain 
in their own homes, and live independently for as long as possible, whilst 
reducing the need for social care. 
 

 Developing a range of new build specialist and supported accommodation 

over the next 10 years, that is tailored to reflect the identified needs within our 

local communities. 

 

Page 49

Agenda Item 5



 Ensuring that support and care services, delivered by registered providers as 

well as the community, to people within supported housing as well as those living 

in mainstream housing, are effective in promoting people’s wellbeing and 

independence.  

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1  That Cabinet approve Telford & Wrekin’s Specialist & Supported 

Accommodation Strategy 2020–2025 outlined in Appendix 1.  
 
2.2 That Cabinet delegate authority to the Director for Housing, Employment & 

Infrastructure to develop Supplementary Planning Guidance to support the 
implementation of the Strategy. 

 

 
3. SUMMARY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 

COMMUNITY 
IMPACT 

Do these proposals contribute to specific Co-Operative Council 
priority objective(s)? 

Yes  Protect and support our most vulnerable adults and 
children 

 Support communities and those most in need and 
work to give residents access to suitable housing 

 Improving health and wellbeing across Telford and 
Wrekin 

Will the proposals impact on specific groups of people? 

Yes The Strategy sets out short, medium and long term 
housing requirements associated with:  

 Older people  

 People with learning disabilities and those in 
transition 

 People with complex needs and part of the 
Transforming Care Partnership (TCP) 

 People with an assessed mental health need 

 Young vulnerable people and those leaving care  

 Those at risk of homelessness and with low level, 
unassessed, mental health needs including: 

o Alcohol & substance misuse 
o Domestic violence 

 People with physical disabilities 

 Families, carers & support providers  

TARGET 
COMPLETION/ 
DELIVERY DATE 

Publication of the Specialist & Supported Accommodation 
Strategy is proposed in summer 2020 following Cabinet 
approval  

FINANCIAL/ 
VALUE FOR 
MONEY IMPACT 

Yes  The adoption of this strategy will allow the Council to 
manage the market for specialist and supported 
accommodation more efficiently and this will deliver 
improved opportunities for the delivery of Council 

Page 50



commissioned care. This will assist in the achievement 
of improved longer term outcomes for vulnerable people 
and improved cost control, so resulting in better value 
for money.  
 
The provision of this accommodation within the Borough 
will support the Council’s preventative agenda by giving 
members of our community access to better specialist 
housing opportunities and so allowing them to remain 
independent for as long as possible and potentially 
reducing future care needs. 
 
The current implementation of the action plan to support 
this proposed strategy is being met from existing 
resources but financial implications may arise as more 
in depth work is carried out on the activities identified. 
 
Any significant financial implications arising from the 
implementation of this strategy will be reported through 
future financial management reports to Cabinet and 
accommodated within future service and financial 
planning strategies 
 
TAS 12.2.2020 

LEGAL ISSUES Yes  There is no legal requirement to have a Specialist & 
Supported Accommodation Strategy as there is in other 
areas of housing provision, e.g. allocations policy and 
the Homelessness Strategy. 
 
The strategy does however serve as a useful policy 
document setting out the Council’s approach to meeting 
various statutory responsibilities which overlap or 
directly link to housing provision and support for 
vulnerable persons with complex needs to live 
independently as possible and to plan and safeguard 
their housing needs. 
 
The Care Act 2014 imposes a general duty on local 
authorities to promote an individual’s well-being which 
includes the suitability of living accommodation. 
Statutory guidance makes it clear that developing a 
local approach to preventative support is wider than 
adult care alone, and should include the involvement of 
those responsible for housing services. 
 
Accommodation requirements for people with mental 
health needs is also provided for under the Care Act 
2014. 
 

Page 51



The Autism Act 2009 and the subsequent 2010 Autism 
Strategy ‘Fulfilling and Rewarding Lives’ states that the 
needs of adults with Autism should be taken into 
account in local housing planning, design and 
allocation, in line with local priorities. 
 
Moving forward any legal issues arising from 
implementation of this strategy and programme of work 
will be considered by Legal Services.  A legal 
representative sits on the Programme Board and will 
ensure that work-streams delivered through the 
programme are legally compliant.   
 
PM 12.02.2020 
 

OTHER 
IMPACTS, RISKS 
& 
OPPORTUNITIES 

Yes  The proposals within the S&S Strategy impact 
significantly on the current ways of working and how we 
engage with the market.  To date this has been 
predominantly market led due to the rise in popularity of 
the supported living model and the potential it offers for 
a higher level of rental income to providers and 
investors.  The proposals within the strategy will ensure 
that the Council are able to manage the market more 
effectively and with the creation of an accommodation 
framework via a DPS (Dynamic Purchasing System), it 
will mean that providers have to qualify in order to be 
able to attract commissioned services in T&W.   
 
Risks and opportunities arising out of the strategy are 
managed by the Project Team and will be reviewed and 
monitored by the Housing Programme Board.   
  

IMPACT ON 
SPECIFIC 
WARDS 

No Borough-wide impact 

 
 
PART B – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
4. INFORMATION 
 
4.1 Background 

4.1.1 Having a range of high quality specialist and supported housing, to accommodate 
and protect our most vulnerable people, is essential to creating a place where all 
citizens can live well, both now and in the future. This means delivering a range of 
housing that enables people to live independently including, where appropriate, 
making use of Disabled Facilities Grant to fund adaptations within existing homes. 

4.1.2 They type of housing required is diverse but needs to accommodate;  

Page 52



a) Supported Living: Where care and/or support is a core part of the housing 

offer. 

b) Specialist housing: Housing that is specifically for people with particular needs 

or characteristics, e.g. age-designated housing or adapted/wheelchair 

accessible but where there may not be care or support directly linked.” 

c) Mainstream/Supported accommodation: General needs / mainstream 

housing designed for all but where it might also suit those with particular needs 

and characteristics.  E.g. with the addition of appropriate care and/or floating 

support or minor adaptations could accommodate some of our vulnerable 

residents. 

 

4.1.3 In order to understand the detail behind the nature and quantum of specialist and 
supported housing required, the Council, working with Housing LIN (Learning & 
Improvement Network), who are recognised by government and the housing with 
care sector as a leading ‘knowledge hub’ on specialist housing, have undertaken 
an in depth supply and demand analysis of specialist and supported housing in 
the Borough. This has been determined through consultation with internal and 
external stakeholders combined with an objective quantitative assessment of 
future need. For the first time we now understand and are in a position to present 
to the market:  

 The current level of unmet need within the Borough for different types of 

specialist and supported accommodation. 

 How this estimated need for specialist and supported accommodation is 

expected to change in the short term (by 2020/21), medium term (by 

2025/26) and long term (from 2030/31).  

 

4.1.4 Underpinned by this sound evidence base, the Council has developed its 
Specialist & Supported Accommodation Strategy (Appendix 1) which reflects 
the priorities and aspirations of the Council as well as key stakeholders. The 
strategic objectives, which underpin our vision for the provision of specialist and 
supported accommodation, are aligned with those within the Council’s wider 
Housing Strategy and include:   

 Making the best use of existing accommodation including by utilising 
Disabled Facilities Grant to fund works and adaptations that will enable 
people to remain in their own homes, and live independently, for as long 
as possible whilst reducing the need for social care. 

 

 Developing a range of new build specialist and supported 

accommodation over the next 10 years, that is tailored to reflect the 

identified needs within our local communities. 

 

 Ensuring that support and care services, delivered by registered providers 

as well as the community, to people within supported housing as well as 

those living in mainstream housing, are effective in promoting people’s 

wellbeing and independence.  

 

Page 53



 

 

4.1.5 The Strategy is principally aimed at developers, providers and funders and is 
intended to catalyse and underpin the Council’s ability to manage the market more 
effectively, broker strong relationships and stimulate supply whilst being able to 
ensure that accommodation is of a high quality and meets the needs of older and 
vulnerable. 

 

Covid19  

 

4.1.6 The importance of ensuring the sufficiency of suitable and quality supported 
accommodation has been further highlighted since the Covid19 outbreak and in the 
Council’s response to this, as we have worked to safeguard the health and safety 
of residents.  Emergency supported accommodation has been set-up to enable 
those living in residential settings to have a place where they can relocate safely for 
isolation or other emergency needs.  The availability of Council owned 
accommodation has meant we have been able to react quickly to these emergency 
needs in a time where the majority of Providers were forced to suspend their access 
and referral into accommodation.   
  

4.1.7 As part of the Covid 19 response, communities have been working with vulnerable 
individuals on a range of support tasks from dog walking, shopping, collecting 
medications and making safe and well calls etc. As we move into the recovery period 
it is vital that we encourage and enable communities to continue to provide these 
support functions which have allowed people to remain safely in their home settings 
thereby reducing the burden on social services.   

 

4.1.8 The Covid 19 pandemic has further emphasised the importance of supporting 
people to remain living independently in their own homes or in supported housing 
as oppose to more institutional settings.  

 
4.2 Implementation  

 

4.2.1 The Strategy provides a clear context to engage with providers, investors and 
funders and sets out how the Council will work with and support the market to meet 
the housing needs of our vulnerable residents.   

4.2.2 The Council has also been successful in a bid to the LGA Housing Advisors 
Programme, securing funding to enable us to retain Housing LIN to support in the 
delivery of the following key actions: 

 Managing the quality of specialist and supported accommodation 
through the development of a housing provider framework – the 
proposal is to introduce a Dynamic Purchasing System and we are working 
with colleagues from Procurement and across service areas to agree the 
scope of the framework.   

 Making best use of planning policy –  Planning guidance will be developed 
to support the introduction of the Council’s Specialist & Supported 

Page 54



Accommodation Strategy, this will be developed, refined and consulted on 
prior to adoption as Supplementary Planning Guidance by Cabinet and will 
support the further implementation of the Strategy via the review of the 
Telford & Wrekin Local Plan.  

 Engaging and stimulating the market – to support with the publication of 
the Strategy and the commencement of market engagement activities.   

 Engagement with older citizens in Telford & Wrekin – Accommodation for 
older people represents the largest numbers in the strategy.  As such, a 
programme of engagement is being implemented to enable us to have a 
clearer understanding of the type and tenure of  housing that will be relevant 
to older people, geographical factors influencing needs and preferences, the 
relevance of support services and the factors that will determine older 
people’s willingness to ‘downsize/rightsize’.    

4.2.3 It is also intended, as set out in the Strategy itself, that the Council provides an 
update of assessed need on an annual basis.   

 
5 PREVIOUS MINUTES 

 
None 

 
6 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
None 

 
Report prepared by Paula Meyrick, Project Manager for Specialist & Supported 
Accommodation Programme, Telephone: 01952 380991 

 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



Telford & Wrekin’s 

Specialist and Supported 

Accommodation Strategy
2020-2025

care and invest

Supported Accommodation:       

 Our vision 

to protect,

JULY 2020

Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

PROOF

Page 57



32 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Contents

1. Introduction 4

2. Our vision 9 

3. Context 10

4. Investment and development opportunities 21

5. Why invest in Telford & Wrekin: the Council’s offer 31

6. Community & stakeholder engagement 37

Contact details 37

Annexe 1: Glossary 38

PROOF

P
age 58



54 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

One in six 
people in the 
UK are now 
over 65

The purpose of this 

strategy and the 

background work that 

has been undertaken, 

is in recognition of 

the Council’s need 

to understand 

its supported 

and specialist 

requirements and 

to ensure that there 

is a sufficiency of 

appropriate and good 

quality housing to 

meet the needs of 

the growing numbers 

of older people, 

vulnerable working 

age adults and young 

people in the borough. 

Having a range of high quality specialist and 
supported accommodation is an essential part of 
delivering these commitments. This Specialist and 
Supported Accommodation Strategy contributes to 
our overall Housing Strategy and together with other 
Council strategies and plans, it is the framework 
through which our specialist and supported 
accommodation and housing related priorities are 
set out. 

Telford & Wrekin Council faces a diversity of 
challenges in its role as a strategic housing authority. 
In common with other councils across the country, 
it no longer holds its own housing stock making 
the ability to directly intervene in the market more 
limited. Consequently the Council seeks to work 
with a range of partners to meet its objectives.The 
Council will ensure that the best use is made of 
existing provision, enabling additional development 
and brokering strong relationships with providers, 
to ensure it is of a high quality and that it meets the 
needs of local older and vulnerable people. 

This strategy is aimed at:

• Housing organisations that provide supported, 
specialist and mainstream housing, including 
those currently operating in Telford & Wrekin 
and those who may consider operating here.

• Support and Care organisations that provide 
services in supported accommodation.

• Community organisations in Telford & Wrekin 
with an interest in specialist and supported 
accommodation.

In the absence of universally agreed definitions, we 
have set out below what we mean by specialist and 
supported accommodation within the scope of this 
strategy:  

• Supported Living: where care and/or support 
is a core part of the housing offer.

• Specialist accommodation: housing that is 
specifically for people with particular needs or 
characteristics, e.g. age-designated housing or 
adapted/wheelchair accessible but where there 
may not be care or support directly linked.

• Mainstream/Supported accommodation:  
general needs/mainstream housing designed 
for all but where it might also suit those with 
particular needs and characteristics. E.g. 
with the addition of appropriate care and/
or floating support or minor adaptations 
could accommodate some of our vulnerable 
residents. 

Introduction
Telford & Wrekin Council’s Plan ‘Our programme to protect, care and invest to create a 
better borough 2019-2023’1  includes commitments to:

• Protect and support our most vulnerable adults and children.

• Support communities and those most in need and work to give residents access to 
suitable housing.

1  https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1604/our_programme_2019-2023

1

PROOF

P
age 59

https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1604/our_programme_2019-2023


76 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

This strategy covers the Council’s approach to 
specialist and supported accommodation for the 
following groups:

• Older people

• People with learning disabilities and people 
with autism

• People with mental health needs

• People with physical disabilities

• People with ‘complex’ needs; this includes 
people who are part of the Transforming Care 
programme (TCP)

• People at risk of homelessness who have a 
(non-assessed) mental health need

• Young vulnerable people, including care 
leavers

The Council’s response to the wider needs of 
these groups is covered through other Council 
plans for the next five years, for example:

• Housing Strategy  

• Adult Social Care Market Position Statement 

• Children & Young Peoples Commissioning & 
Sufficiency Strategy3 

• Homelessness strategy

• Better Homes for All. The Council’s approach 
to the private rented sector

• Health & Wellbeing Strategy

• Drug & Alcohol Strategy

• Domestic Abuse Strategy

The UK population, as reflected in Telford, is 
ageing with wide consequences for society and 
the economy. One in six people in the UK are now 
over 65, an increase of more than one million from 
2001. More and more people are living beyond 
80. Suitable and appropriate housing impacts 
positively on a person’s health and wellbeing as well 
as promoting and enabling greater independence 
for longer; it is particularly important in enabling 
the Council to meet its social care priorities cost 
effectively. The purpose of this strategy and the 
associated background work is to ensure that there 
is a sufficiency of appropriate and good quality 
housing to meet the needs of the growing numbers 
of older and vulnerable adults and young people in 
the borough.  

This strategy sets out:

• The local and national context

• The identified need for specialist and 
supported accommodation and our priorities

• Reasons for investing in Telford & Wrekin and 
the Council’s offer to investors

• Community and stakeholder engagement 

2  https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/7110/market_position_statement_2018_-_2020_published_version_1 
3 https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/download/2280/telford_and_wrekin_council_commissioning_sufficiency_strategy_2018-23

PROOF

P
age 60

https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/7110/market_position_statement_2018_-_2020_published_version_1
https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/download/2280/telford_and_wrekin_council_commissioning_sufficiency_strategy_2018-23


98 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Our objectives

We will deliver our ambitions through:

• Making the best use of existing
accommodation by utilising Disabled
Facilities Grant to fund works and adaptations
that will enable people to remain in their own
homes, and live independently, for as long as
possible whilst reducing the need for social
care.

• Developing a range of new build specialist
and supported accommodation over the
next 10 years, that is tailored to reflect the
identified needs within our local communities.

• Ensuring that support and care services,
delivered by registered providers as well as
the community, to people within supported
housing as well as those living in mainstream
housing, are effective in promoting people’s
wellbeing and independence.

This will result in:

• A wide range of supported accommodation
that enables adults and young people to live
independently in their communities.

• An increase in housing suited to older
residents, including access to support and
assistance to remain living in their own homes
and access to a wider range of high quality
specialist accommodation that is suited to
ageing well in later life, including bungalows
for over 55s.

• Reducing homelessness through the provision
of high quality supported accommodation and
‘move on’ housing opportunities.

• A range of supported and move-on
accommodation options for Care Leavers that
is affordable and supports the Council’s Care
Leaver’s Covenant. This will form a key part
of providing support for care leavers up to the
age of 25, ensuring that the Council continues
to play its part in supporting young people
leaving care.

• Ensuring that there is a place of safety
available through emergency accommodation
for all people including those experiencing
domestic abuse, in accordance with the
Council’s Domestic Abuse Policy and our
status as a White Ribbon Town.

• Stimulating the development of additional
accessible and adapted housing that is suited
to adults and children with physical disabilities
and long term health conditions.

• Integration between the generations and
fostering mutually supportive, stronger
communities where the generations work
together to create communities that are
inclusive of older people and vulnerable
citizens.

• Recognition of carers who may support
both dependent children and parents over
generations and require affordable multi-
generational living with safe and secure
housing options.

• Affordable and accessible housing for life that
will enable stability for young adult carers who
often encounter challenges to remain caring
for parents and siblings whilst maintaining an
independent life.

• Incorporating the use of assistive technology
to assist older and vulnerable members of our
community to live safely and live well.

Our ambition 

The provision of good quality specialist and supported accommodation is a part of 
creating a place where all citizens can live well in Telford & Wrekin. Our vision is to 
secure the best quality of life we can for our older and vulnerable citizens both now and in the 
future. This means delivering a range of housing that enables people to live independently, 
with support and care where necessary.

2
Our Vision

PROOF

P
age 61



1110 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Context
The Council has already seen some real successes in the delivery of a wide range of 
specialist and supported accommodation services in Telford & Wrekin. The maps show 
the existing provision in the borough across Extra Care and Retirement/sheltered schemes as 
well as supported accommodation schemes that provide longer term homes and those used 
to accommodate individuals for short-term or temporary use. Through future engagement 
with Providers we can discuss appropriate geographical locations of additional provision.  

Figure 1: Extra Care Schemes & Retirement/Sheltered Schemes

There has been 
a 65% growth 
in the provision 
of supported 
accommodation in 
the borough over the 
last 5 years3.  
Figures 1 to 3 refer.
3  Homes England  

 There is a mix of 
types of supported 
accommodation 
across all localities  
and it is mostly of 
good quality.

 We recognise 
the great value 
of the supported 
accommodation 
sector locally, the 
innovation that 
it brings and the 
importance of 
having a mix of 
providers of housing  
and support. 

In the context of our 
wider priorities and 
the requirements 
of our citizens and 
communities we 
have taken actions 
to facilitate and 
encourage further 
development of 
and investment 
in specialist 
and supported 
accommodation.

3

PROOF

P
age 62



1312 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Figure 3: Supported Accommodation – Short-term/temporary useFigure 2:  Supported Accommodation – Permanent/Long-term use

!(!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(
!(

!(
!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(
!(

!(

!(

!(

!(
!(

!(
!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(
!(

!(!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(!(

!(

    

±

0 1 2 3 4 50.5
Miles

Based on Ordanance Survey Mapping with the permission of 
the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office Crown Copyright .  
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may 
lead to prosecution or Civil Proceedings.  
Borough of Telford & Wrekin Licence No. LA 10001 9692 - 2020

Lakeside South

The Wrekin
Hadley Castle

Long Term Accommodation

!(

!(

!(!(
!(

!(!(
!(

!(

!(

!(

!(!(
!(

!(

!(!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(
!(!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(
!(

!(

!(!( !(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(!(

!(!(
!(

!(

!(

!(!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!( !(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(!(

!(

!(
!(!(

!(

!(

!(

!(!(!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

    

±

0 1 2 3 4 50.5
Miles

Based on Ordanance Survey Mapping with the permission of 
the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office Crown Copyright .  
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may 
lead to prosecution or Civil Proceedings.  
Borough of Telford & Wrekin Licence No. LA 10001 9692 - 2020

Lakeside South

The Wrekin
Hadley Castle

Short Term Accommodation
3

PROOF

P
age 63



1514 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Case study - HM
HM is 27 years old; she has cerebral palsy 
and autism and cannot communicate verbally. 
She can also experience high levels of anxiety 
which can lead to behaviours which need to be 
managed. HM can move around her home on 
her knees and uses a wheelchair outdoors or 
for long distances.

HM moved into her adapted bungalow in 
March 2019. The bungalow has been fitted 
with a range of technology to make HM’s daily 
routine easier to manage:

• A grid pad to communicate and control the 
environment in her home.

• High low sinks in the kitchen and bathroom 
and a high rise bath.

• A smart cooker and washing / drying 
machine.

• An easy open front door including a door 
video intercom system to enable HM to 
alert staff in an emergency.

• Grand Care System which provides HM 
with reminders and prompts throughout  
the day.

Whilst HM still receives 1:1 support during the 
day and has a sleep in support, it is anticipated 
that over the next few months, HM’s sleep 
in support can be gradually reduced and 
removed. Carers are also working with HM 
to identify periods of the day where HM can 
have time on her own in her bungalow, again 
being able to access the core support which 
remains close by 24/7. This is just one example 
of a suitably configured home, with the right 
technology, enabling a young person to live 
more independently. 

This existing provision is already helping 
to make real differences to the lives  
of some of the most vulnerable people  
in the Borough

Case study – Mr & Mrs S
Mr and Mrs S moved to extra care housing in 
August 2019 from a supported living scheme 
where they were in a maisonette and struggled 
to cope with the stairs and as such had little 
independence and contact with the other 
residents. They both have a learning disability and 
Mrs S also suffers from Epilepsy.  

They have settled into the Extra Care environment 
very successfully and are now able to feel part 
of a real community which they were unable to 
be in their former accommodation. The move 
has already resulted in the care package for Mrs 
S being reduced and also after a short period 
of increased care for Mr S to aid moving and 
settling-in, this has also reduced back to the 
original levels.  

They both feel much happier and are embracing 
the social opportunities that Extra Care offers.  
Mrs S is engaging fully with the programme of 
varying activities on offer within the scheme and 
at the last visit she had taken on a role in the on-
site shop and was looking forward to learning how 
to use the till.  

During a recent review in 
their new home, they both 
commented “We wish we 
had moved much sooner”

3

Case Study – NuPlace Ltd 
(Maple Fields)
Nuplace Ltd is the Council’s wholly owned 
private rental company, incorporated in 2015 
to build homes for rent and in doing so raise 
the standard of the private rental sector in the 
Borough. At one of Nuplace’s most recent 
development sites, at Maple Fields in Dothill, 
19 of the 54 homes are being built to higher 
accessibility standards comprising a mix of 
accessible and adaptable and wheelchair 
accessible units, alongside more mainstream 
general needs housing. 

These accessible bungalows are ring-fenced 
for people who are either 55 or over or have 
mobility issues. The proposals will deliver 
a mixed occupancy, inter-generational 

community, enabling people to live 
independently and age well in their homes.

There is an increasing body of evidence to 
support a significant growth in the number 
older people selling up to pay off debts, boost 
retirement income, help children or letting the 
family home to downsize, thus entering the 
private rental market at a later stage. However, 
there is currently a significant undersupply in 
age specific private rental accommodation to 
meet this increasing market demand. 

The Nuplace development at Maple Fields is 
an innovative and vital pilot intended to directly 
test the demand this with a view to increasing 
provision on future developments.

PROOF

P
age 64



1716 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Enabling 
young and old 
to live more 
independantly

 

Our approach  
How we are supporting the development 
of the supported accommodation sector 
We are already delivering some good housing solutions but we recognise that we need to do more to 
ensure delivery meets need.  

We have launched a programme of work to underpin 
this good work with a focus on the following: 

• Needs analysis – We commissioned the 
Housing LIN to undertake a comprehensive 
study of our specialist and supported 
accommodation need across a range of 
vulnerable groups over a 10 year period to 
2030. This comprehensive evidence base 
informs this strategy and will be important in 
relation to future policy development, including 
the forthcoming review of the Telford & Wrekin 
Local Plan. 

• Access and referral arrangements – We 
are streamlining the operational processes 
covering access and referral into specialist 
and supported accommodation. This is being 
implemented in phases aimed at improving the 
use of existing supported accommodation for 
both the Council and Providers and will ensure 
the most efficient use of new and existing 
accommodation going forward.       

• Extra care housing development and 
provision –  We have been very successful 
with our partners in developing 7 extra care 
housing schemes in the borough. More 
latterly we have been developing a joint 
application form, void notification process and 
a mechanism for referring clients by order of 
risk factor, care banding hours and preferred 
scheme(s) to the most appropriate vacancies. 

• Nominations – For those schemes where 
nominations would be mutually beneficial, 
we are developing a standard Nominations 
Agreement which can be applied across all 
specialist and supported accommodation 
schemes and which can be adapted to suit the 
individual needs of the scheme.  

• Framework for supported accommodation 
providers – We are looking into establishing 
a ‘framework’ for providers of supported 
accommodation. This would involve providers 
of supported accommodation joining a 
framework in order to access all relevant 
opportunities for provision within the borough. 
We are working with our Procurement Team 
to review the potential use of a Dynamic 
Purchasing System (DPS) for this purpose 
through which we will manage a coordinated 
approach to our procurement opportunities 
and the providers who will be invited to 
participate.  

• Improving our customer experience - We are 
implementing a range of measures to ensure 
that our residents can easily access suitable 
housing solutions, especially when they are in 
crises. In particular we are: 

o Establishing a single ‘front door’ for all 
supported accommodation services 

o Reviewing and updating our website to 
ensure that housing options and advice is 
simple and easy to navigate.    

o Providing a simple route to accessing 
Disabled Facilities and Wellbeing Grants to 
help people to remain in their own home

o Working with local service providers to 
develop an Independent Living Centre, to 
showcase and exhibit new initiatives and 
technologies that will help to enable people 
to live well, safely and more independently 
in their own homes.

o Developing an interactive app for and with 
young people to signpost to appropriate 
housing options.

2

PROOF

P
age 65



1918 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

The national context
The Council’s approach reflects renewed national 
interest in and Government priorities for specialist 
and supported accommodation. There has recently 
been a much clearer and stronger emphasis on the 
role of preventative approaches, including the role 
of housing, i.e. approaches to supporting people to 
remain living in their own homes, in both mainstream 
housing and supported accommodation. 

The Government’s Prevention Green Paper4 
reiterates the commitment to the Ageing Society 
Grand Challenge, the aim of which is to ensure 
that people can enjoy at least five extra healthy, 
independent years of life by 2035, while narrowing 
the gap between the experience of the richest and 
poorest. Whilst the Green Paper is health focussed, 
it is recognised that to deliver improved public 
health amongst an ageing population it is important 
to improve homes to meet the needs of older and 
vulnerable people. 

The Government’s recent strategy for tackling 
loneliness5 refers to the role of community based 
housing and housing for older and vulnerable people 
in helping to create social connections and reduce 
the risk of loneliness. 

A significant recent policy announcement from UK 
Government was in August 2018 when it set out 
its approach to the future funding of the housing 
costs in supported accommodation including 
older people’s housing.6  As a consequence, 
existing Housing Benefit regulations, including 
those covering ‘specified accommodation/exempt 
accommodation’, will continue to apply for the 
funding of eligible housing costs in supported 
accommodation and older people’s housing for 
eligible individuals for the foreseeable future, 
addressing some of the financial uncertainty that 
has inhibited this sector in recent years. 

It is anticipated that in 2019/20, MHCLG will publish 
a National Statement of Expectations aimed 
at commissioners and providers of supported 
accommodation. Although this will not be statutory 
guidance it is expected to set out the quality 
standards that will be expected in the supported 
accommodation sector and it will be a significant 
influence in how the Council formulates its approach 
to market management, monitoring and its overall 
‘stewardship’ role.

4  Advancing our health: prevention in the 2020s. DHSC (2019). 
5  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-connected-society-a-strategy-for-tackling-loneliness
6  https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/funding-for-supported-housing

2

The proportion of working  
age adults who report having  

a long term illness or  
disability is higher than the  

national average, 

nearly 16,000 adults 

 from 7.6% of 25-34 year olds

 to 29.6% of 55-64 year olds 

As the population increases over the next decade and beyond, 
we expect there to be an increase in older and vulnerable 
people with support needs:

It is estimated that around 

10,700 people 
aged 16-64 

have a moderate or serious 
physical disability 

and around 

17,400
aged 16-64 
have a common  

mental health disorder

People aged 65+ report higher 
levels of long term limiting 
illness or disability than the 

national average, around 

56% of people 
(13,495 people)

from 39% of 65-69 year olds 

to 86% of those aged 85+

It is estimated that around 

700 people 
aged over 65 

have severe depression 

and around
 

1,800 
have dementia

working age adults
65+

65+
16-74 year olds

These rates 
increase with age 

These rates 
increase with age 

2

PROOF

P
age 66

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-connected-society-a-strategy-for-tackling-loneliness


2120 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

There are many examples of high quality, well 
designed specialist and supported accommodation 
developments. The Council have a strong interest 
in the application of innovation and good practice 
locally and we want this to be reflected in the type 
and mix of housing and supported accommodation 
in Telford & Wrekin. The Council expects specialist 
and supported accommodation to incorporate 
contemporary design standards and features; we 
are working to develop further guidance for the 
market about this.

We are seeking supported accommodation that 
maximises its flexibility and suitability for people with 
differing needs and expectations reflecting:

• Whether the intention of supported 
accommodation is to provide short term 
housing or a long term home.

• Whether care/support is flexible or provided 
24/7 on site.

We are seeking further innovation from our 
partners including:

• The potential to create a ‘community 
village’ model, which will include specialist 
and supported accommodation alongside 
mainstream housing, that will provide 
accommodation and a range of health and 
wellbeing opportunities for older people 
and other citizens (see below). This reflects 
the Council’s overall approach to scheme 
development, based on evidence of need, 
stakeholder/community involvement and 
subsequent engagement with potential 
developers/providers. 

• Accommodation and support models 
that create and foster inter-generational 
connections. This could include housing that 
specifically accommodates younger and older 
people where there is an element of mutual 
and reciprocal support. This might include 
people who work in care/support/health 
jobs or as carers with a family unit; it might 
include families with a disabled child where an 
accessible/ground floor bedroom is needed. 

• Care and support providers who embed 
care enabled technology within their support 
services that will promote independence and 
resilience and lessen demand for formal care 
and support.

• Making better use of existing supported 
accommodation resources for older people 
(such as existing sheltered and extra care 
housing) to help create an age and dementia 
friendly Telford & Wrekin. The Council would 
welcome being involved at an early stage in 
such discussions regarding long term asset 
management plans including reconfiguration 
and development proposals. 

• Opportunities for the development of specialist 
and supported accommodation contributing, 
for example, to high street regeneration.

• Supported accommodation for vulnerable 
young people and adults that supports people 
to access education, training and employment 
opportunities.

• Supported accommodation that promotes 
peer-to-peer support to foster self-confidence 
and independence.

4

Widening housing choices and promoting innovation

There is growing evidence in relation to high quality contemporary practice in the provision of 
specialist and supported accommodation. We want to be aspirational and achieve the best 
we can for the borough and its residents. 

Investment and development 
opportunities

PROOF

P
age 67



2322 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

• Housing and support services that will 
decrease the use of residential care. 

• Supported accommodation schemes 
that provide appropriate consideration to 
accessibility to amenities, proximity of public 
transport, access to local services and support 
networks. 

• Housing options that offer opportunities 
for future proofing such as Lifetime Homes 
standard that are enabled for aids and 
adaptations such as hoists, with the minimum 
of cost and disruption.  

Our priority is to enable citizens to exercise their 
choice of care/support provider by the separation of 
housing provision from care provision. Where they 
are provided by the same organisation we would 
like to see protocols that enable people to choose 
a separate care/support provider without affecting 
their security of tenure.

Assessment of need for 
specialist and supported 
accommodation

A comprehensive evidence base of the need for 
specialist and supported accommodation suited 
to the groups covered by this strategy has been 
produced in 2019 for Telford & Wrekin. A summary 
of future need is shown in table 1 below. 

The assessment of need for specialist and 
supported accommodation is based on:

• Identification and analysis of the current supply 
of supported and specialist accommodation;

• Intelligence from local stakeholders, internal 
and external; 

• Intelligence about potential new supply and 
factors that are driving demand for specialist 
accommodation locally.

The Council intends to provide an update to this 
assessment of need on an annual basis. 

The quantitative assessment of future need for 
specialist and supported accommodation is 
disaggregated as follows:

• The current level of unmet need within the 
Borough for different types of specialist and 
supported accommodation, as applicable, for 
each client ‘cohort’.

• How this estimated need is expected to 
change in the short term (by 2020/21), in the 
medium term (by 2025/26) and in the longer 
term (from 2030/31) 

The assessment of supply and future need 
indicates that additional specialist and supported 
accommodation is required in Telford & Wrekin 
to meet identified need. Whilst the assessment is 
shown in relation to ‘client cohorts’, we recognise 
that people’s needs are often complex, therefore we 
are seeking innovative approaches to housing and 
support that go beyond these ‘cohort’ definitions in 
line with our objectives regarding widening housing 
choice and promoting innovation (above). 

Table 1: Summary of need for supported and specialist (units) to 2030/31. 

The figures below are not cumulative and the figures in the columns for 2025/26 onwards 
represent the uplift from the previous period. The column for 2020/21 represents our current/
immediate need across the various cohorts.  

Housing options 
that offer 
opportunities for 
future proofing

4

Specialist and Supported accommodation 
needs 
(Need estimates are not cumulative)

2020/21 2025/26 2030/31

A Older people
1 Housing for older people for sale/shared equity 

(units)
700 800 900

2 Housing for older people for social rent/
affordable rent (units)

340 590 920

3 Housing for older people for market rent (units) 40 45 50
4 Extra care housing including mainstream and 

high needs/dementia care (units) (included 
within 1 and 2)

140 400 530

5 Residential care (beds) 0 0 0
6 Nursing care (beds) 50 200 300
B People with mental health needs (assessed)* 15 40 65
C People with learning disabilities

Adults with learning disabilities 10 20 30
Young People in Transition with learning 
disabilities / learning difficulties

10 20 30

Adults with learning disabilities and physical 
disabilities

(require adapted and accessible properties)

5

(including 
1 bariatric 
need)

10 10

D Adults with physical disabilities (need for adapted and accessible properties)
1 Adults with physical disabilities 15 25 35
2 Adults with physical disabilities and who are 

bariatric
1 5 10

3 Families with a disabled child(ren) or disabled 
parent with physical disabilities

15 25 35

E Transforming Care cohort

Adults with complex and challenging learning 
disabilities and / or  Autism, Transforming Care 
(need for adapted, sensory efficient and robust 
properties)

10 25 35

F People at risk of homelessness who have  
(non-assessed) mental health need*

150 250 400

G Care Leavers/Vulnerable young people* 90 110 130
*Includes estimated need for supported accommodation and mainstream housing.

7   This typically relates to single people at risk of homelessness (who may have ‘non-assessed’ mental health needs). The Council’s  
 homelessness strategy covers the needs of a wider cohort of the population at risk of homelessness. 

PROOF

P
age 68



2524 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Based on this assessment of need, more specific 
investment priorities in the short to medium term 
(up to 2025) have been identified. These are set 
out below for each group:

 

Older People

The estimated need for specialist and supported 
accommodation is summarised in Table 1. This 
indicates by 2030/31 an increase in need for:

• ‘Care ready’8 housing across all tenures: for 
sale, social rent and market rent.

• Extra care housing for rent and for sale.

• Nursing care, including as part of ‘hybrid’ 
housing and care developments.

There is sufficient supply of residential care within 
the borough and as such we are not encouraging 
an increase to this type of provision.

Short-Medium term priorities to 2025/26

• 188 units of extra care housing: Dementia/
high needs care specific.  A high-care model 
of extra care housing that can accommodate 
older people living with dementia to end of 
life. As part of the initiative to reduce the use 
of residential care and move into a supported 
living model. 

• Up to 340 units of further mainstream extra 
care housing.

• Potential for a ‘community village’ model 
including a mix of tenures, housing types as 
well as on-site health services.  This should 
appeal to a wide range of older people from 
different tenure backgrounds as well as being 
attractive to people of all ages who want to 
purchase or rent.  

• ‘Care Ready’ housing that is available for rent 
and for sale to be attractive to a wide range of 
older people across the borough (Lines A1, A2 
and A3 in Table 1 refers).  

Care Leavers/Vulnerable 
young people and people 
at risk of homelessness with 
(non-assessed) mental  
health needs

The estimated need for supported accommodation 
and other housing is summarised in table 1. This 
indicates by 2030/31 an increase in need for:

• Additional supported accommodation, 
specifically ‘clusters’ of self-contained flats 
with varying levels of support.

• Access to general needs self-contained 
housing, including ‘move-on’ housing options 
from supported accommodation. 

Short-Medium term priorities to 2025/26

Vulnerable young people 

• The creation of additional self-contained 
studio/1 bed flats that are affordable with 
varying levels of support. These need to be 
smaller in scale, e.g. 6-8 units, to avoid over 
‘congregating’ vulnerable young people. An 
additional 4-5 clusters are required by 2025/26 
as a minimum.

• Access to additional affordable self-contained 
general needs housing for rent with access to 
support as required. This is required to provide 
‘move-on’ housing options from supported 
accommodation. Estimated need indicates 
that 50-60 units are required.

Key considerations for this group are: 

• There is a need for affordable housing 
within this group and landlords should offer 
affordable housing as a priority. 

• Landlords who can offer security of tenure i.e. 
by offering tenancy agreements in place of 
licence agreements.

• Avoiding the HMO/Shared housing based 
supported accommodation models that are 
more likely to lead to tenancy breakdown.

• To encourage security of tenure for young 
people, consideration for accommodation 
providers to enable settled young people 
to remain in the accommodation instead of 
moving on even when they no longer require 
ongoing weekly support. Benefits of young 
people remaining can be positive to other new 
young people moving in e.g. peer support. 

 

People at risk of 
homelessness

Up to 150 additional units including:

• Additional ‘clusters’ of self-contained flats with 
varying levels of support; evidence of need 
indicates 3-4 schemes maybe required.

• Access to additional affordable self-
contained general needs housing for rent with 
access to support as required. To include 
‘move-on’ housing options from supported 
accommodation.

• The delivery of a ‘Housing First’ type scheme 
for 5-10 individuals for which funding (e.g. 
MHCLG) may be sought.

Key considerations for this group are:

• The primary requirement is for an increase in 
the availability of access to mainstream self-
contained housing with access to flexible 
support services to complement supported 
accommodation services. 

• There is evidence that using HMO 
accommodation for move-on 
housing purposes has led in some 
cases to an over-congregation of people with 
support needs in particular locations and 
increased incidence of anti-social behaviour 
linked to some HMOs. There is consequently 
a need for affordable move-on housing that is 
self-contained. 

• There is a problem where individuals are not 
deemed ‘tenant ready’ by landlords, including 
when they have been living in supported 
accommodation. Therefore, there is a need 
for landlords to locally agree criteria of what is 
‘tenant ready’ to enable individuals to evidence 
how they have met/are engaged with support 
to work towards meeting this criteria. More 
housing needs to be available to individuals 
who are ‘less tenant ready’.

• There remains a requirement for support 
services that are flexible and can support 
individuals to maintain a tenancy once 
they have left supported accommodation. 
Any growth in the availability of supported 
accommodation and move-on accommodation 
will require that non scheme-based support 
services are available and sufficiently 
resourced to meet the growing demand, if this 
accommodation is to function effectively for 
this cohort. 

Increase in 
the availability 
of access to 
mainstream self-
contained housing

4

8  Care ready housing typically means that a home is capable of  
 adaptation over time to meet changing needs including space for  
 aids and adaptations. Through good design homes can be built to  
 be better suited to possible future requirements such as the need  
 to have an over-night carer, storage for mobility scooters and  
 space to retain independence.

PROOF

P
age 69



2726 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

• There is a minority within the population 
at risk of homelessness that is particularly 
challenging to accommodate. Individuals 
are characterised as having been through 
existing supported accommodation resources 
previously, potentially several times, and 
exhibit behaviours that severely minimise their 
housing options. This cohort is most likely to 
benefit from a ‘Housing First’ type approach. 

 People with learning 
disabilities and autism 
(incorporating Transforming 
Care), people with mental 
health needs and people with 
physical disabilities  

The estimated need for specialist and supported 
accommodation is summarised in table 1. This 
indicates by 2030/31 an increase in need for:

• Supported accommodation, specifically 
‘clusters’ of self-contained flats with varying 
levels of support.

• Wheelchair adapted and wheelchair accessible 
housing, some to suit bariatric individuals. 

• General needs self-contained housing, 
including ‘move-on’ housing options from 
supported accommodation. 

People with Mental Health 
Needs (assessed)

Short-Medium term priorities to 2025/26

• Circa 3-4 ‘clusters’ of self-contained flats 
for around 40 people, with varying levels of 
support.

• Circa 30 units of affordable self-contained 
general needs housing for rent with access to 
support as required. 

Key considerations for this group are:

• There is evidence of growing need for both 
supported accommodation and access to 
‘move on’ housing, given increasing levels of 
referrals for NHS and social care services.

• There is evidence of increasing need amongst 
existing clients who may need support or 
supported accommodation during crisis 
periods. 

People with Physical 
Disabilities

Short-Medium term priorities to 2025/26

• Affordable wheelchair accessible 
accommodation for circa 23 families with 
a disabled child(ren), disabled parents or 
couples.

Key Considerations for this group are:

• Ease of access and egress. 

• Sufficient manoeuvrability within the internal 
spaces.  

• Kitchens and bathrooms specifically need 
to be adapted to enable individuals to self-
support as well as providing sufficient space 
when care staff/carers are required to assist.

• Ample room to park and store a 
wheelchair whilst it is not in use within the 
accommodation.  

We are keen to agree a process whereby Council 
referrals into this type of accommodation can 
receive priority consideration in the first instance.  

People with Learning 
Disabilities & Autism 
(incorporating Transforming 
Care)

Short-Medium term priorities to 2025/26 

Housing will required for people, who will either be 
discharged from long term hospital stay, coming 
through transition, are currently living with elderly 
parents, or where placements are no longer 
appropriate. It is acknowledged that individual 
situations can change and therefore, where possible, 
the accommodation provision will need to be as 
flexible as possible.

• Self-contained supported accommodation 
for circa 30 people with a learning disability, 
currently in residential care services or where 
their current accommodation may not meet 
their needs long term.

• Wheelchair accessible supported 
accommodation taken out of the general 
needs system for circa 10 people with learning 
disabilities who also have physical disabilities 
including fully wheelchair adapted housing 
suitable for bariatric users.

• Single-occupancy accommodation for circa 
23 complex needs clients in a core and cluster 
model to allow for appropriate support and 
supervision where accommodation may have 
to be adapted for sensory efficiency, made 

robust and where a larger, secure 
garden space is required.

• Accommodation, possibly shared, 
for circa 26 young people in ‘transition’.

• To work with housing providers to purchase 
or build homes for individuals who have very 
bespoke needs.

• To work with housing providers, to be able 
offer a range of different and innovative 
schemes that are not limited to new-builds 
or refurbishments, such as opportunities for 
shared ownership of existing housing,  or 
those make connections with private landlords 
to facilitate the use of this valuable source of 
accommodation.

Key considerations for this group are:

The aim is to deliver homes in the community for 
people with learning disabilities, autism and for 
those with complex behaviours that challenge, 
at the time they need it, and with the inclusion 
of a package of care, will enable people to live 
independently and become part of their community.  
The provision will be for those where needs change 
and/or placements are no longer suitable, as well as 
those who are coming out of hospital, either from 
long or short term stays.

There is a shortage of specialist supported 
accommodation and supported living schemes 
with varying levels of care provision, therefore there 
is a the need to consider whether the needs of the 
individual can be met through the existing housing 
stock by carrying out adaptions, using assistive 
technology and putting in appropriate care and 
support packages. This will also allow people to 
remain in their own homes continuing to live with or 
close to family and to remain a part of their familiar 
community.

However, we recognise that there are a number 
of challenges that should be considered when 
identifying suitable accommodation for these clients, 
in particular those with complex needs and we 
would like to work together to ensure that:

• We work with our partners in the Sustainability 
& Transformation Partnership (STP) and with 
care providers to achieve the best outcomes 
for people when living in the community.

• Housing should be based on the needs of the 
individual.

Enabling people to 
live independently 
and become part 
of their community

4

PROOF

P
age 70



2928 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

• Where possible tenancies should be offered 
for long term settled accommodation.

• The housing and care offer should allow 
people to live as independently as possible 
and encourage integration into the local 
community.

• The housing offer should be affordable.

• A range of housing providers, providing a mix 
of housing models and tenures. 

• We provide flexible and sustainable housing 
to meet the changing needs of individuals in 
their homes, as well as the ability to adapt the 
accommodation to enable its continued use in 
the future.

• We use assistive technology to enable people 
to live as independently as possible and where 
possible to remain in their existing home.

• The care plan or discharge assessment should 
be able to identify and specify the housing 
need early in the process to facilitate strategic 
advance planning of the housing need.

• We understand whether an individual requires 
a ‘step-down’ model of accommodation, 
if being discharged from hospital, prior 
to moving into long term supported 
accommodation.

• We plan housing across all levels of need 
to take advantage of economies of scale 
and build strong relationships with housing 
providers for Shropshire.

• Where possible we employ joint working 
practices with our partners across Shropshire.

• We support the right number of schemes 
to meet the demand without creating an 
oversupply.

• We have a mechanism in place that will 
facilitate where possible, the early tendering 
of the housing and support provision. For 
this purpose we are planning to introduce 
a Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) that 
providers will be expected to join in order to be 
presented with procurement opportunities.  

Identify and 
specify the 
housing need 
early in the process

PROOF

P
age 71



3130 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

There are circa 78,200 homes in the borough and 
this is forecast to grow at around 1,000 net new 
homes annually for the next 15 years as set out in 
our Local Plan. 

Our evidence (Section 4) indicates that as our 
population grows the demand for a wider mix 
of specialist and supported accommodation is 
increasing. 

With an estimated population of 175,800, Telford 
& Wrekin is the largest urban area in the region 
outside the West Midlands and North Staffordshire 
conurbations. The population is growing, changing 
and ageing. The borough’s population is projected 
to grow at a faster rate than the national population, 
rising to 196,600 people by 2031, with over half of 
this population increase expected in the over-65 age 
group: 

Figure B1 below shows the current and projected 
numbers of the 18-64 age group and over 65’s in 
Telford & Wrekin up to the year 2031.  

As the population increases over the next decade 
and beyond, we expect there to be an increase in 
older and vulnerable people with support needs:

• The proportion of working age adults who 
report having a long term illness or disability is 
higher than the national average, nearly 16,000 
adults. The rate also increases with age, rising 
from 7.6% of 25-34 year olds to 29.6% of 55-
64 year olds. 

• It is estimated that around 10,700 people aged 
16-64 have a moderate or serious physical 
disability and around 17,400 have a common 
mental health disorder.

• People aged 65+ report higher levels of 
long term limiting illness or disability than 
the national average, around 56% of people 
(13,495 people). These rates increase with 
age, from 39% of people aged 65-69, to 86% 
of those aged 85+. 

The Council’s offer.  An introduction to our Borough 

Telford and Wrekin is a place of contrasts. The borough comprises Telford New 
Town, the market towns of Wellington and Newport, borough towns which include 
Madeley, Oakengates and Dawley and the Ironbridge Gorge UNESCO World Heritage 
Site - birthplace of the Industrial Revolution. All surrounded by beautiful countryside and 
farmland with more than two thirds of the borough classified as rural.

5
Why invest in Telford & Wrekin

PROOF

P
age 72



3332 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

• It is estimated that around 700 people over 
65 have severe depression and around 1,800 
have dementia.

As the population grows it continues to become 
more diverse. Some 10% of the population are from 
a BAME background, rising to over 13% in the 0-24 
age group. We expect supported accommodation 
services to be responsive to this increasing diversity. 

Our priorities and the requirements of our citizens 
and communities present opportunities for 
investment in Telford & Wrekin. Delivering our 
priorities within the Council’s Plan ‘Our programme 
to protect, care and invest to create a better 
borough 2019-2023’9  will require investment in a 
mix of additional housing and accommodation for 
older and vulnerable citizens as well as support for 
people to live well in their existing homes.

The Council’s offer
We are a proactive organisation, focussed on 
enabling the right developments within the Borough 
to meet need. We pride ourselves on being solution 
focussed, supportive and engaging, for example 
we have:

• Facilitated the delivery 1,200 homes per year 
in the Borough of which 300 are affordable, 
levering in £5m of Homes England (HE) grant.

• Invested £2.7m of commuted sums in 
affordable homes across Telford and Newport.

• Promoted and de-risked housebuilding on 
Council and Homes England land through 
the Telford Land Deal (TLD); delivered 179 
homes with a further 574 under construction/
committed.

• Coordinated and supported funding bids to 
West Midlands Combined Authority/Local 
Economic Partnership/HE and invested in 
infrastructure to unlock stalled sites. 

The Council will adopt a range of approaches 
to the delivery of the specialist and supported 
accommodation that is required. The Council will 
consider direct intervention in the market through 
the “headroom” that it has where:

• The market is failing to deliver housing that 
adequately meets the council’s needs

• Where direct delivery would make financial or 
service delivery sense.

The Council will also work with Registered Providers 
and other housing developers/providers to 
develop specialist and supported accommodation. 
This strategy is part of a dialogue with these 
organisations and individuals that are interested in 
delivering specialist and supported accommodation. 

There are many ways in which Telford & Wrekin 
Council can work with you and provide practical 
assistance. 

   

Market Intelligence
• We have completed a detailed appraisal of our 

existing and future specialist and supported 
accommodation needs and are keen to 
discuss requirements in more detail, brokering 
meetings with the relevant professionals as 
appropriate.

• Through our strong links with health partners, 
we can work together to develop innovative 
approaches to housing and communities 
that support and promote inter-generational 
connections.

• We have access to a wide range of data about 
Telford & Wrekin and its citizens. We are happy 
to share this with you. 

• If you need bespoke data then we can work 
with you to obtain it quickly and economically.

We are intending to establish a Dynamic Purchasing 
System (DPS) framework and will utilise this to 
procure specialist and supported accommodation 
opportunities. 

Resources and funding
We can provide assistance in relation to:

• Offering a range of delivery options including, 
funding and owning new developments or 
acquisitions. 

• Securing funding from partners including 
WMCA, LEP and HE to install infrastructure 
and unlock challenging sites thus supporting 
financial viability.

• Lobby government and Homes England 
to help ensure future funding streams for 
specialist and supported accommodation 
provision.   

• Advice on external funding streams to support 
new development.

• Brokering contacts with external funders, e.g. 
Homes England.

• Advice and guidance in relation to funding for 
care and support.

• Disabled Facilities Grants and the Council’s 
‘home improvement agency’ type services. 

• Advice regarding Housing Benefit, particularly 
the application of specified and exempt 
accommodation Housing Benefit regulations.

• Recruitment and skills support to help ensure 
the capacity and skilled workforce to enable 
partners to deliver e.g. the care sector is a 
key focus for growth and recruitment and one 
where providers may struggle to recruit.

Land and sites
• We can provide support 

to identify sites and where 
appropriate acquire sites to 
facilitate delivery including stalled sites and 
those with unimplemented planning consents.

• Before taking any Council owned land to 
the market we will assess its suitability for 
the provision of specialist and supported 
accommodation. 

• Planning guidance is being developed to 
support the strategy and this will undergo 
consultation prior to being adopted as 
Supplementary Planning Guidance in line with 
the review of the Telford & Wrekin Local Plan. 

Planning & Development
• We have implemented a supportive approach 

to Development Management giving 
developer/investor confidence and help to 
navigate the planning system.

• Through pre application discussions and 
during the planning process we will work with 
you to: 

o Provide you with the relevant planning 
policies for particular sites and help you to 
ensure your proposals are policy compliant.

o Give you information about other 
permissions in an area. 

Enabling 
young and old 
to live more 
independantly

5

9  https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1604/our_
programme_2019-2023

PROOF

P
age 73

https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1604/our_programme_2019-2023
https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1604/our_programme_2019-2023


3534 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

• We have recently embarked on a review of 
the Telford & Wrekin Local Plan and in line 
with this we are developing Supplementary 
Planning Guidance to ensure that our 
specialist and supported accommodation 
needs are implemented. Through this process 
will consider how the housing need for 
accessibility, adaptability and space standards 
can be addressed in emerging policy. We 
will also use this plan to instil principles of 
intergeneration, co-location and interaction 
in our future communities. We are seeking 
innovative approaches from our partners, for 
example, delivering a range of housing sizes, 
types and tenures that will be appropriate to 
the needs of various groups in the community.

• We will lobby government to publish national 
planning guidance to give appropriate weight 
to the growing demand for specialist and 
supported accommodation provision.  

Commissioning offer
• We will work closely with providers to discuss 

our requirements, possible care delivery 
models, approaches to procurement and 
funding.

• We will broker solutions that are fit for 
purpose.  

• We will give commissioning priority and 
support for those solutions that satisfy gaps 
identified in our Market Position Statement 
and our needs analysis. 

• We are developing an internal waiting list of 
specialist and supported accommodation 
clients which will enable us to more proactively 
manage appropriate nominations. 

• For bespoke accommodation commissioned 
by the Council, we will enter into specific 
nomination agreements and void 
management/coverage arrangements where 
appropriate.

• We are establishing a set of quality standards 
and requirements that are expected of all 
providers of supported accommodation 
operating in the borough.

• We are developing an approach to determining 
value for money offered by supported 
accommodation providers, including in relation 
to rents and service charges. 

Customer and community 
engagement
We can build on our existing customer and 
community engagement activities and experience to 
help you:

• Reach local audiences. 

• Undertake consultation activities, including in 
relation to your development proposals, and 
facilitate formal public consultation where 
appropriate.

• Explore market opportunities.

• Help embed your developments and services 
within local communities using our existing 
connections. 

Developing an 
internal waiting  
list of specialist 
and supported 
accommodation 
clients

The Council’s Ask: What we 
want from our providers
In return for our commitments to you, we expect the 
following from our providers.  

We have recently embarked on a review of the 
Telford & Wrekin Local Plan and in line with this we 
are developing planning guidance that, following 
consultation, will be adopted as Supplementary 
Planning Guidance. Through this process will 
consider how the housing need for accessibility, 
adaptability and space standards can be 
addressed in emerging policy. We will also use 
this plan to instil principles of intergeneration, co-
location and interaction in our future communities. 
We are seeking innovative approaches from 
our partners, for example, delivering a range 
of housing sizes, types and tenures that will be 
appropriate to the needs of various groups in the 
community

• We are seeking innovative approaches to 
new housing development more generally, for 
example we would like to see the infrastructure 
of new housing developments and associated 
roads and public spaces designed to be ‘all 
age friendly’. 

• We want to be involved at an early stage in 
considerations and discussions regarding 
the reconfiguration or disposal of existing 
provision.  

• We want to agree priority notification/
nomination rights on existing and new 
specialist and supported accommodation 
within the borough.

• Once established, we want you to sign up to 
our DPS Framework and through this provide 
the necessary evidence that you have credible 
plans in place to achieve the higher/highest 
regulatory ratings from the Social Housing 
Regulator.

• We want you to own and lease housing 
for the purposes of providing supported 
accommodation and understand your funding 
model. Where housing is leased we want to be 
satisfied that this model is sustainable and in 
the interests of the intended residents. 

• We want providers to develop proposals for 
specialist & supported accommodation which 
are effectively tailored to meet local need and 
to consult with local communities prior to and 
during the implementation of these proposals. 

• We want providers, to help to contribute to 
the wider health and wellbeing of the borough 
through their specialist and supported 
accommodation services. 

• We want you to be willing to work with other 
partners/agencies to help facilitate the delivery 
of intergenerational and diverse communities. 

• We want providers to acknowledge/adopt 
where possible, our overarching strategy 
objectives in relation to climate change and 
modern methods of construction.

PROOF

P
age 74



3736 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Telford & Wrekin Council is committed to engaging 
with local citizens and communities about the 
role for and types of specialist and supported 
accommodation required. 

We have engaged with the following local groups 
and organisations as part of this process:

• Wrekin Housing Trust

• Bromford

• Bournville Village Trust

• Sanctuary

• Anchor/Hanover

• Trident

• Maninplace

• STAY

• A Better Tomorrow

• TACT

• YMCA

• First Choice Housing 

• Accord

• Severnside Housing 

• Parents Opening Doors (PoDs) 

• Making it Real Board 

• Carers Partnership Board

• Homes England 

• Parish & Town Councils 

• Lovell Homes

Feedback from Stakeholder 
Engagement
We have consulted on the draft Specialist and 
Supported Accomodation Strategy with a range 
of partners and stakeholders and have received a 
number of highly constructive comments. These 
reflect the thoughts of those organisations who 
are likely to be assisting the council in the delivery 
of specialist and supportive housing, including 
both funders and providers, as well as those 
people who will ultimately be living in it. It is fair 
to say there is unanimous support for the scope 
and intentions of the Specialist and Supported 
Accommodation Strategy. It is also acknowledged 
that this strategy will be continuously evolving, 
will feed into the overarching Housing Strategy 
and is informed by other existing Council plans 
and strategies which are referenced within the 
document and not intended to be a replacement 
for these. 

Following this engagement, the Strategy has 
been updated to reflect the feedback received, 
but more importantly the process has highlighted 
great opportunities to continue engagement 
and dialogue with providers, strategic groups 
and particularly with community groups such as 
Parents Opening Doors (PoDs), Making it Real 
Board and the Carers Partnership Board/A Life 
Outside Caring (ALOC) over the coming months 
to ensure that, wherever possible, demand is 
satisfied and expectations are met.  

Contact details
For further information please contact:

Name: Paula Meyrick 

Job Title: Project Manager – Specialist and 
Supported Accommodation Project

Telephone: 01952 380991

Mobile: 07528 969427

Email: paula.meyrick@telford.gov.uk

6
Stakeholder engagement

PROOF

P
age 75

mailto:paula.meyrick%40telford.gov.uk?subject=


3938 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) A grant available from Local Authorities to pay for essential 
housing adaptations to help disabled people stay in their own 
homes.

Dynamic Purchasing System 
(DPS)

An electronic system operated by the Council that is used to 
purchase goods and services.

General needs housing General Needs Housing applies to general family housing and 
dwellings for singles and couples. The accommodation is 
normally provided in self – contained bungalow, house, flat or 
maisonette form.

Homes England (HE) Homes England is the non-departmental public body that funds 
new affordable housing in England.

Houses of Multiple Occupancy Refers to residential properties where 'common areas' exist and 
are shared by more than one household. Most HMOs have been 
subdivided from larger houses designed for and occupied by 
one family.

Local Economic Partnership 
(LEP)

Voluntary partnerships between local authorities and 
businesses set up by the Department for Business, Innovation 
and Skills to help determine local economic priorities and lead 
economic growth and job creation within the local area.

Local Plan Local Plans set out the strategic priorities for development 
of an area and cover housing, commercial, public and private 
development, including transport infrastructure, along with 
protection for the local environment. They comprise a series 
of documents that should set out clear guidance on what 
development will and won't be permitted in a local authority 
area.

Market Position Statement A document produced by a local authority that outlines what 
support and care services people need and how they need 
them to be provided.

Nominations Agreement Typically means an agreement negotiated between a Council 
and a social landlord which guarantees the Council’s ability 
to access the social landlord’s accommodation for applicants 
on the Council’s Housing Register, either via a Choice Based 
Lettings system or some alternative route.

Transforming Care Programme 
(TCP)

A NHS England programme that is about improving health and 
care services so that more people can live in the community, 
with the right support, and close to home.

Telford Land Deal (TLD) A deal between Telford & Wrekin Council and Homes England 
(formerly Homes & Communities Agency)  that allows the 
Council to take responsibility for the marketing and selling all 
Homes England housing and employment land in Telford for a 
10 years period from 2016. 

West Midlands Combined 
Authority (WMCA)

The combined authority for the West Midlands metropolitan 
county in England. It is a strategic authority with powers over 
transport, economic development and regeneration.

Annexe 1: Glossary

PROOF

P
age 76



Supported Accommodation

Telford & Wrekin Council, Larkin Way,

Wellington, Telford, TF1 1LX

Email: paula.meyrick@telford.gov.uk

Tel: 01952 380991

Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

PROOF

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL 
 
CABINET - 18 JUNE 2020 
 
TELFORD & WREKIN CONSULTATION DRAFT HOUSING STRATEGY 2020-2025 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR: HOUSING, EMPLOYMENT & INFRASTRUCTURE  
 
LEAD CABINET MEMBER – CLLR DAVID WRIGHT, CABINET MEMBER FOR 
ECONOMY, HOUSING, TRANSPORT & INFRASTRUCTURE 

 
 
PART A – SUMMARY REPORT 
 
1. SUMMARY OF MAIN PROPOSALS 
 
1.1 The right balance of good quality homes, which are affordable, sustainable and 

provide variety, choice and accessibility, are essential to the economic prosperity, 
health and well-being of the people in our borough.  A decent home is the foundation 
upon which people build their lives and housing is a key theme within the Council’s 
high level vision for the borough as set out in our Community Plan ‘Our Programme 
to Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough, 2019 – 2023’.  
 

1.2 Telford & Wrekin Council is a unitary authority and takes a proactive, innovative and 
informed approach to meeting local housing needs. Whilst the Council transferred 
its own housing stock to local housing associations in 1999, as the housing authority 
for the borough, it retains a vital role in delivering local and national housing 
priorities.  

 
1.3 A lot has been achieved – for example:-  

 

 We are delivering 1200 new homes every year using our own assets and 
accelerating delivery through the Telford Land Deal.   

 We have increased the number of affordable homes delivered to 300 pa and 
delivered 400 new homes for private rent through Nuplace Ltd.   

 Our Better Homes for All initiative is driving up standards in the management 
and maintenance of private rented housing and we have licensed over 200 HMO.   

 We recognise the need to support the most vulnerable access good quality homes 
increasing the amount of supported housing by 65% over the last 5 years 
including delivery of 7 extra care housing schemes and developing a family 
based supported living environment for young people including Care Leavers.   

 We have increased well-being grants and support over 300 people each year 
to continue to live independently by providing Disabled Facilities Grant and 
other assistance  

 We have implemented a range of initiatives to support care leavers in finding 
move-on homes with approved Landlords in accordance with the Council’s Care 
Leaver’s Covenant.  

 We are providing advice and support to over 3,000 people each year including 
people who are victims of domestic abuse, veterans and key workers, as well as 
almost 400 who are at risk of being homeless. 

 Since the outset of the Covid19 crisis, we have housed or prevented 
homelessness for over 200 individuals and working with our partners have 
successfully moved the majority on from B&B/temporary accommodation – 

Page 79

Agenda Item 6



2 
 

placing us 2nd in MHCLG recent LA rankings for housing/prevention during 
the current crisis 
 

1.4 We recognise we still have challenges to address both in relation to the homes that 
will be built and those that we already have, and we are addressing this at a complex 
and changing time. The Council’s new draft Housing Strategy 2020-25, being 
proposed for consultation, is an essential part of driving the future of housing in our 
Borough. It sets out how we will focus our efforts to ensure that there is suitable 
housing for all, and in particular the most vulnerable.  It will sit alongside other key 
documents including the Telford & Wrekin Local Plan and provides a framework for 
other supporting strategies including the Supported & Specialist Housing Strategy 
which we are launching in parallel.  The Strategy will also support the Council’s 
aspiration, working with the community and partners, to achieve a carbon neutral 
Borough by 2030. The consultation phase will also allow for the short and longer 
term implications of the Covid19 pandemic, which are still emerging, to be 
considered. 

 
1.5 This report sets out the purpose, scope and content of the Strategy which is centred 

on the following three key objectives: 
 

 To create sustainable, accessible, affordable and integrated 
communities. 

 To make the BEST use of our existing homes. 

 To provide homes to support and empower our most vulnerable 
people.  

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 That Cabinet approve the launch of the Council’s draft Housing Strategy, 

included at Appendix 1, for consultation. 

 

 
3 SUMMARY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 

COMMUNITY 
IMPACT 

Do these proposals contribute to specific Co-Operative Council 
priority objective(s)? 

Yes In Strategy will contribute directly to the Council’s 
priority:   
 
‘To support communities and those most in need and 
work to give residents access to suitable housing’.   
 
However, it will also contribute, directly or indirectly, to 
all of the Council’s priorities.  

Will the proposals impact on specific groups of people? 

Yes As a high level overarching strategy this document will 
have a fundamental and long term borough wide 
impact. 

TARGET 
COMPLETION/ 
DELIVERY DATE 
 

The draft strategy will be published for consultation subject to 
approval by Cabinet on 18 June 2020. The consultation period 
will run until 31 August 2020 following which an updated 
version of the strategy will be brought back to Cabinet for 
review, seeking formal adoption.  

Page 80



3 
 

 
The Strategy covers the five year period 2020-25. 
 

FINANCIAL/ 
VALUE FOR 
MONEY IMPACT 

Yes
/No  

This draft Housing Strategy currently encompasses a 
number of actions identified within its supporting 
strategies and policies that have a range of financial 
implications that are being met from within existing 
resources or short term funding. The latter will need to 
be considered in the context of the 5-year plan if this 
work is to continue. 
 
The proposals within this document will allow the 
Council to continue to make the most effective use of 
its own resources and seek to attract external funding 
where possible.  It will also influence the funding and 
investment decisions of others. This will help address a 
wide range of housing needs but by the provision of 
appropriate and affordable housing will also benefit all 
elements of the community through a number of 
improved outcomes and consequential cost benefits for 
the Council and wider public sector may arise.  
 
Subject to any changes, following consultation further 
detailed work to assess financial implications will need 
to be done as the strategy is implemented. Any 
significant financial implications  identified will be 
reported through future financial management reports 
to Cabinet and accommodated within future service 
and financial planning strategies 
 
TAS 13.2.2020  
 

LEGAL ISSUES Yes  There is no legal requirement to have a Housing 
Strategy as required in other specific areas of housing 
provision, e.g. allocations policy and the homelessness 
strategy.   
 
However, the preparation of such a strategy is deemed 
as good practice to bring together all relevant policies 
and strategies which influence housing provision and 
housing standards, providing clear direction for the 
Council and its partners in meeting housing 
expectations. 
 
Section 8 of the Housing Act 1985 requires local 
authorities to consider housing conditions in their 
district and the needs of the district with respect to the 
provision of further housing accommodation. 
 
There is no statutory requirement to consult on the draft 
housing strategy, however in this case the common law 
duty to consult is engaged in light of the nature and the 
impact of the strategy and the likely legitimate 
expectation of stakeholders, interest groups and 
individuals. 

Page 81



4 
 

 
As such the consultation must comply with the 
following: 
(a) it should be at a time when proposals are still at a 
formative stage; 
(b) the Council must give sufficient reasons for any 
proposal to permit intelligent consideration and 
response; 
(c) adequate time must be given for consideration and 
response; and 
(d) the product of consultation must be conscientiously 
taken into account. 

PM 13/02/2020 

OTHER 
IMPACTS, RISKS 
& 
OPPORTUNITIES 

Yes  The Housing Strategy will underpin a series of sub 
projects and actions necessary to secure and 
safeguard delivery of the Strategy’s’ objectives. 
Impacts, risks and opportunities will be evaluated as 
these sub projects evolve, with delivery against the 
Strategy being overseen by Council’s Housing 
Programme Board on behalf of the Cabinet.   

IMPACT ON 
SPECIFIC 
WARDS 

No The Strategy will impact on all wards.  

 
PART B – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
4.      INFORMATION 
 

Background  
 
4.1 The right balance of good quality homes, which are affordable, sustainable and 

provide variety, choice and accessibility, are essential to the economic prosperity, 
health and well-being of the people in our borough.  Housing is a key theme within 
the Council’s high level vision for the borough as set out its Community Plan ‘Our 
programme to protect, care and invest to create a better borough, 2019 – 2023’. 
Key housing themes from our Community Plan are summarised in Figure 1 below.  

Page 82



5 
 

 
         Figure 1: Council Priority Plan & Housing Strategy Priorities. 
 
4.2 Whilst the Council transferred its own housing stock to local housing associations in 

1999, as the housing authority for the borough, it retains a vital role in delivering local 
and national housing priorities and ensuring sufficient homes for all, especially the 
most vulnerable.. We adopt a proactive approach to delivery, working with an existing 
partner and provider network, as well as brokering new relationships to deliver on 
our objectives. Through our proactive approach to housing we have already:  

 
Helped secure the delivery of high quality new homes: 

 Adopted a new Local Plan, which sets out the Council’s overall vision and 
growth strategy for the borough, including how future housing needs will be 
met with a target of over 17,000 new homes by 2031 

 Enabled the delivery of 1,200 new homes every year (the third best 
nationally), partly through the use of Council land and assets but also by 
adopting a supportive and ‘business friendly’ development management 
approach including providing pre-application advice, support and viability 
assessment, and assisting to unlock stalled development sites.  

 Accelerated the delivery of over 600 new homes, through our unique 
‘Land Deal’ with Homes England. 

 Increased the number of new affordable homes provided every year 
from 100 to 300, through joint working with local housing associations and 
Homes England and supporting the delivery of wholly affordable 
schemes.   

 Attracted annual housing investment of over £5 million from Homes 
England. 

 Delivered almost 400 new homes for rent, including some at affordable 
levels and some built to accessible and adaptable and wheelchair 
standards, through the Council’s in house company, Nuplace Ltd.  
 
 
 

Page 83



6 
 

Helped to improve our existing housing stock: 

 Promoted better management and maintenance standards in the private 
rented sector through the Council’s ‘Better Homes for All’ programme 
which is underpinned by an “Educate, Encourage, Enforce” approach.  

 Supported home owners and landlords to invest in the maintenance and 
improvement of their properties through access to low cost/trusted 
finance and directing them to sources of information, advice and accredited 
traders.    

 Taken a proactive approach to bringing long term empty homes back 
into use.  

 Relaunched our Landlord Accreditation Scheme. 

 Operating our own social letting agency – ‘Telford Homefinder’ – to help 
those in housing need to access affordable and safe privately rented 
accommodation.     

 Licenced more than 200 Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) who 
meet our enhanced licencing standards, with two prosecutions to date 
addressing poorly managed HMOs. 

 Issued the first Banning Order in England, preventing the landlord 
concerned from working in the property industry for up to 5 years; 

 Ensured compliance with more than 400 enforcement notices to bring 
properties up to standard. 

 Increased environmental maintenance and enforcement in ‘hot spot’ 
areas, working with local Town and Parish Councils and other partners.  

 
Supported vulnerable people to access good quality housing: 

 Completed a detailed analysis to understand housing needs of 
vulnerable people which has informed the development of a Specialist & 
Supported Accommodation Strategy.   

 Helped increase the amount of supported housing by 65% over the last 
five years, including the delivery of seven new extra care housing 
schemes. 

 Is directly delivering more ‘accessible & adaptable’ and wheelchair 
standard homes through its own housing company, Nuplace Ltd.   

 Increased well-being grants from £191k in 2017/18 to £459k in 2018/19 
(in total £2.16m in grants in 18/19). 

 Helped around 300 people to continue to live independently at home by 
providing Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) and other assistance every 
year. 

 Implemented a range of initiatives to support care leavers in finding 
move-on homes with approved Landlords in accordance with the Council’s 
Care Leaver’s Covenant.   

 Developed a family based supported living environment via Shared 
Lives for 16-17 and 18-24 Care Leavers. 

 Provided advice and support to over 3,000 people each year including 
people who are victims of domestic abuse, veterans and key workers, as 
well as almost 400 who are at risk of being homeless. 

 Provided support through the Thrive partnership to help prevent 
homelessness and sustain tenancies. 

 Implemented the Homelessness Reduction Act and advised over 3,300 
people to date. 

 Provided additional support for young homeless clients in temporary 
accommodation. 

Page 84



7 
 

 Secured funding of over £369,000 to assist with homeless and rough 
sleepers. 

 Launched our homelessness fund-raising and awareness raising 
campaign (https://homeless.telford.gov.uk).  

 Developed a new rough sleepers register. 

 Ensures that there is a place of safety available through emergency 
accommodation for all people experiencing domestic abuse, in 
accordance with the Council’s Domestic Abuse Policy and our status as a 
White Ribbon Town.  

 
4.3 These actions are already having a significant and positive impact in terms of; 

securing housing delivery that directly responds to housing need, supporting people 
to access this housing and helping to raise standards in terms of the condition and 
management of existing homes.   

 
4.4 Despite this, and in line with other parts of the Country, the Borough still lacks 

sufficient suitable homes, some of these homes are unaffordable and others are 
unsuitable.  

 
4.5 In addition, the national policy context for housing is complex and changing, 

requiring the Council to be responsive and dynamic in its approach: 
 There continues to be a very strong emphasis on building more new homes 

across the country, with a series of Government planning and housing policy 
measures aimed at all types of providers and individuals, seeking to increase and 
speed up new housing delivery.   

 The Government has announced that further funding for new affordable homes 
will be provided beyond the end of the current Shared Ownership & Affordable 
Homes Programme in March 2021 with a focus being on home ownership.   

 New and emerging policies are focussing on improving housing design and 
quality, physical accessibility, environmental performance and safety alongside 
modern methods of construction. 

 An urgent requirement to deliver housing for older and vulnerable people. 
 Limited national funding for housing renewal and improvement, with the 

exception of Disabled Facilities Grants and related measures. 
 Continuation of Welfare Reform changes, however planned changes to the 

funding of specialist housing have not been introduced.   
 Introduction of a series of measures to help protect consumer rights in housing. 
 The prevention and mitigation of Climate Change. 

4.6  At a local level the Borough experiences some key housing related challenges which 
include; 
 The borough is continuing to grow and change, while the population is ageing 

and becoming more diverse – as such there is a need to maintain an up-to-date 
and comprehensive understanding of the borough’s housing needs. 

 There are high levels of new home building and an increasing range of housing 
providers – the housing tenure mix is becoming more diverse and like the country 
as a whole.  

 There is a continuing unmet need for more affordable homes, while 
homelessness and rough sleeping is still a significant issue.   

 Some homes in the borough require urgent renewal as part of wider regeneration 
programmes.  

 There are concerns about physical and management standards in some parts of 
the borough’s housing stock.  

 The delivery of new homes is challenging in an area where many housing sites 
are brownfield in nature, with historical uses linked to past mining or other 

Page 85

https://homeless.telford.gov.uk/


8 
 

industrial activity. This, combined with historical fluctuations in the housing 
market, has left a number of housing developments in the borough stalled. Often 
located within some of the more disadvantaged parts of the Borough, these sites 
can be a blight on communities and hotspots for anti-social behaviour. However 
they also present a valuable opportunity to deliver much needed housing and kick-
start regeneration of these communities if ways can be found to address viability 
and other constraints.  
 

4.7 In this context, this report presents for consideration a new ‘draft’ Housing Strategy 
2020-25 for the Borough. The Strategy establishes a series of Objectives which will 
underpin our approach to tackling some of the ongoing housing issues faced within 
the Borough in order to ensure that access to suitable housing becomes an 
achievable goal for all of our residents. The three objectives are summarised below:  
 
Objective 1: To create sustainable, accessible, affordable and integrated 
communities 

 Review the Council’s long term development plan for the borough - the 
Telford & Wrekin Local Plan – to help make Telford & Wrekin a great place 
to live. 

 Promote high standards in all new build homes and ensure that they 
contribute positively towards the Council’s climate change commitments.  

 Work with our partners to achieve a real net gain in the number of truly 
affordable homes available. 

 Continue to provide more new sustainable homes through Nuplace and 
examine new opportunities for the Council to be a direct home provider. 

 Objective 2: To make the BEST use of our existing homes 
 Support the positive redevelopment and improvement of existing homes to 

address climate change and reduce fuel poverty. 
 Continue to work to bring empty homes back into use. 
 Create a new focus on housing renewal in the borough, starting with some 

of the earliest new town housing estates to deliver sustainable, cohesive 
communities. 

 Champion high standards in the private rented sector, actively addressing 
the worst conditions through the application of our Better Homes for All 
programme whilst providing a strong role model through Nuplace.  

Objective 3: To provide homes to support and empower our most vulnerable 
people. 

 Work with our partners to increase the supply of specialist and accessible 
homes for older and vulnerable people. 

 Help local people, including key workers and veterans, to find and sustain 
the homes they need. 

 Help people to live in their own homes as independently as they can for as 
long as possible. 

 Continue to prevent homelessness and work to eradicate rough sleeping. 

4.8  While the development of a housing strategy itself is no longer a formal requirement, 
there are clear benefits from demonstrating our strategic approach in:  
 Providing a clear and co-ordinated focus for housing within the authority.  
 Highlighting the Council’s housing role and key functions. 
 Demonstrating the link between the Council’s housing priorities and other 

service areas.  
 Identifying areas of achievement together with current and future challenges. 

Page 86



9 
 

 Sending clear signals to partners and investors about the Council’s ambitions 
and priorities, highlighting the opportunities available locally. 

4.9 As such the Housing Strategy, will be of interest to a wide range of investors, 
partners, stakeholders and community groups, describing the Council’s housing role 
and how this will contribute to achieving the Council’s Plan to ‘Protect, Care and 
Invest -  to create a better borough’.  

 
4.10 The Strategy also provides a framework for a number of other supporting housing 

strategies and policy documents, including, Homelessness & Rough Sleeping, 
Specialist & Supported Housing, Better Homes for All Programme and The Home 
Assistance Policy. At the same time it complements other strategic documents 
including the Telford & Wrekin Local Plan, Economic Development Strategy, Health 
& Well Being Strategy and the Council’s carbon reduction commitments.  It also 
supports delivery of housing related themes in our Care Leaver’s Covenant, Armed 
Forces Community Covenant and Domestic Abuse Policy in which access to 
suitable housing is seen as a fundamental component in supporting people to obtain 
and maintain health and wellbeing  

 
Impact of Covid19 
 
4.11 The Coronavirus pandemic has emerged towards the latter part of the development 

of this draft strategy and the medium to long term implications are yet to be 
determined.  In terms of the housing market generally, whilst a small dip has been 
seen, property experts remain positive about its recovery. We have seen the 
majority of the Borough’s major housebuilders recently remobilise to sites, 
supported by positive sales figures, even during lockdown.  

 
4.12 However, the pandemic will undoubtedly have long term economic and social 

impacts for people within the borough with many continuing to face increasing 
hardship in the short and medium term.  Supporting those threatened with 
homelessness and seeking funding to sustain our success with ‘everybody in’ 
alongside work with private landlords as the moratorium on evictions comes to an 
end, will be key.   The availability of suitable and affordable housing will also continue 
to be a top priority during the implementation of this strategy. 

 
4.13 The response to the pandemic has also resulted in new ways of working, especially 

in supporting some of our most vulnerable clients to access housing and a growth 
in volunteering and community capacity.  These new ways of working and 
community engagement will be further developed as we move into the recovery 
phase.   

 
4.14 In the longer term, the pandemic is anticipated to have a profound effect on how 

many people live and work with the transition to home working that the pandemic 
has accelerated being a key change which many expect to be sustained in some 
form. This again may have a significant impact on the future design and 
configuration of housing as we move forward and which will need to be accounted 
for in the Local Plan Review and in the properties that Nuplace and/or the Council 
delivers directly.    

 

Consultation & Implementation 
 
4.15 Subject to approval from Cabinet, the Council will invite comments on the draft 

Strategy from a range of partners and stakeholders as well as residents of the 

Page 87



10 
 

Borough, with comments to be received by 31 August 2020. A final draft of the 
Strategy, will be brought back to Cabinet for consideration and adoption.   

 
4.16 The consolidation of capacity and resources into a new Directorate for Housing, 

Employment & Infrastructure will facilitate increased focus on the delivery of this key 
Strategy and ensure that it is aligned with the Borough’s economic growth. Whilst 
Government funding to deliver on this agenda remains constrained, the Council will 
continue to make the most effective use of its own resources and seek to attract 
external funding where possible.  It will also seek to influence the funding and 
investment decisions of others to realise the objectives of this strategy. 

 
5.      PREVIOUS MINUTES 
 

   Not Applicable. 
 
6.      BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

 Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 

 Strategic Housing Market Assessment, 2016 (SHMA)  

 
Report prepared by Chris. Winter, Investment Strategy & Partnership Officer, 
Telephone: 01952 381901.  Chris.Winter@telford.gov.uk 

Page 88



Telford & Wrekin’s 

Housing Strategy
2020-2025

care and invest

Our vision 

to protect,

JUNE 2020

Draft for consultation

Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

PROOF

Page 89



32 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Foreword

This Strategy is all about the future of 
housing in Telford & Wrekin.  A decent 
place to live is the foundation on which 
people build their lives. If you’ve got 
a good quality home, then health, 
employment, educational achievement 
and a happy family life are often much 
easier to obtain. However, we know that 
financial difficulties and some national 
polices are making things harder for 
some people.  As a Council we want to 
offer local people opportunities and 
choices over where they live, in homes 
that are of good quality and affordable. 
We must also future-proof our homes 
by building, or improving these, to the 
best possible physical, accessibility 
and environmental standards.  Whether 
owned or rented, we believe strongly 
that all types and tenures of home are of 
equal value.

Housing is one of the Council’s priorities, set out in our Community 
Strategy – ‘Our programme to protect, care and invest to create 
a better borough’.  This Housing Strategy is an essential part of 
that programme. It also complements other key documents, such 
as the Telford & Wrekin Local Plan, and provides a framework for 
other supporting strategies. A lot has been achieved in housing 
but we still have twin challenges to address, at a complex and 
changing time. These challenges are both about the homes that 
will be built and those that we have already.   

Telford & Wrekin is a focus for housing growth – this brings 
benefits to the borough, helps to strengthen our local economy 
and creates opportunities. Over the last five years the Council 
has worked with Homes England and local housing association 
partners to achieve a step change in the delivery of new 
affordable homes in the borough.  

1

Duce Drive, Dawley

PROOF

P
age 90



54 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

However, losses to the affordable sector over the last 
five years means that there has only been a small 
overall increase. We need to continue to address 
the big shortage of affordable homes and ensure 
that there is an increase in supply of truly affordable 
homes.

The borough’s homes are a major asset.  While new 
housing is important, 80% of the homes that we 
will have in 20 years’ time are here now. We need to 
make sure that the homes we already have are as 
good as the best of the new ones that are being built 
today.

Telford – a third generation new town – is now over 
50 years old. Some of the first new homes built by 
the former Telford Development Corporation – now in 
diverse ownership - are in urgent need of investment, 
as part of a wider regeneration programme.  The 
Council will lead a multi-sector Taskforce to help 
to understand what is needed and what can be 
done. Given the scale of the issue, it will also seek 
to influence government and investors to support its 
plans.  

It is hard to believe that homelessness and rough 
sleeping is still an issue today. The Council is 
working closely with its local partners to help prevent 
and tackle all types of homelessness.  This has 
included meeting its new increased responsibilities 
under the Homelessness Reduction Act. 

Working with partners, the Council has been able to 
attract a range of additional funding to help reduce 
homelessness and rough sleeping, although much 
of this is currently time limited. It is also working with 
local housing providers to help homeless people to 
access suitable homes and to provide the support 
needed to help sustain them.   

Housing plays a huge role, alongside effective care 
and support services, in helping to meet the needs 
of older, disabled and vulnerable people. As a result 
of its Joint Investment Programme, over more than 
ten years, the borough currently has one of the best 
levels of extra care housing provision in the country.  
There is also a large network of traditional sheltered 
housing and level access homes. Similarly the 
local stock of supported and specialist homes has 
increased by 65% over the last five years. Through 
our new Specialist & Supported Accommodation 
Strategy we need to keep pace with need and 
continue to increase supply, widen choice in all 
tenures and ensure that we make the best use of 
this valuable resource. 

In the case of older people, only around 5% will live 
in specialist or supported housing. To reflect this, 
the Council is investing over £2 million every year 
in helping to make existing homes more suitable 
for their needs, complementing other sources of 
funding.  

An increasing proportion of the borough’s homes are 
part of the private rented sector, which is now almost 
as big as the social housing sector.  A growing 
number of people – at all stages of their life – are 
now living in a home that is rented privately.  The 
Council is working proactively with the best private 
landlords and lettings agents in order to promote 
the best standards possible and is also delivering 
high quality rental properties through its housing 
company, Nuplace Ltd. Though its ‘Better Homes for 
All’ programme it is also working with landlords who 
are not performing as well. 

In some of the general housing in the borough – both 
older and not so old – there are real concerns about 
quality and condition, which can impact negatively 
on residents and areas. The Council will continue 
to seek external funding and investigate alternative 
approaches to begin to address these issues. 

I hope that you will enjoy reading Telford & Wrekin 
Council’s new Housing Strategy. I look forward to 
receiving your comments.

David Wright

Councillor David Wright 

Cabinet Lead Member for Housing,  
Transport & Infrastructure 

If you’ve got a good quality home, 
then health, employment, educational 
achievement and a happy family life are 
often much easier to obtain.

Launch of Snedshill Phase 2

PROOF

P
age 91



76 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Contents

Executive Summary  8-10

Introduction 12-17

Our Housing Role 14

Our Housing Achievements 14

Why We Have a Strategy 16

Housing Context 18-21  

 The National Picture 19

The Local Picture  19

 

Our Objectives

Objective 1: To create sustainable, accessible,  24-29

affordable and integrated communities 

Objective 2: To make the BEST use of our existing homes 30-33

Objective 3: To provide homes to support and empower  34-39

our most vulnerable people

 

Achieving our Strategy 40-43

Our offer to Stakeholders and Residents  40

Consultation 42

Clock Tower Road, Wrockwardine Wood

PROOF

P
age 92



98 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

The right balance of good quality homes, which are affordable, sustainable and provide 
variety, choice and accessibility, are essential to the economic prosperity, health and well-
being of the people in our borough. Housing is a key theme within the Council’s high level 
vision for the borough as set out its Community Plan ‘Our programme to Protect, Care and 
Invest to create a better borough, 2019 – 2023’. 

Executive Summary 

Whilst the Council transferred its own housing 
stock to local housing associations in 1999, as the 
housing authority for the borough, it retains a vital 
role in delivering local and national housing policy 
and ensuring sufficient homes for, all especially 
the most vulnerable. In this way the Council 
has delivered many significant positive housing 
outcomes including; securing housing delivery 
that directly responds to housing need, supporting 
people to access this housing and helping to 
raise standards in terms of the condition and 
management of existing homes.  

Despite this, and in line with other parts of the 
Country, the Borough still lacks sufficient suitable 
homes, some of these homes are unaffordable 
and others are unsuitable. In this context, and in 
accordance with the Council’s aspiration to work 
with partners and the community to achieve a 
carbon neutral borough by 2030, the Council’s 
Housing Strategy 2020-25 for the borough 
identifies the following three key objectives: 

Objective 1
To create sustainable, accessible, affordable 
and integrated communities

• Review the Council’s long term development 
plan for the borough - the Telford & Wrekin 
Local Plan – to help make Telford & Wrekin a 
great place to live.

• Promote high standards in all new build homes 
and ensure that they contribute positively 
towards the Council’s climate change 
commitments. 

• Work with our partners to achieve a real net 
gain in the number of truly affordable homes 
available.

• Continue to provide more new sustainable 
homes through Nuplace and examine new 
opportunities for the Council to be a direct 
home provider.

Objective 2
To make the BEST use of our existing homes

• Support the positive redevelopment and 
improvement of existing homes to address 
climate change and reduce fuel poverty.

• Continue to work to bring empty homes back 
into use.

• Create a new focus on housing renewal in the 
borough, starting with some of the earliest new 
town housing estates to deliver sustainable, 
cohesive communities.

• Champion high standards in the private 
rented sector, actively addressing the worst 
conditions through the application of our Better 
Homes for All programme whilst providing a 
strong role model through Nuplace. 

Objective 3
To provide homes to support and empower our 
most vulnerable people

• Work with our partners to increase the supply 
of specialist and accessible homes for older 
and vulnerable people.

• Help local people, and in particular key 
workers and veterans, to find and sustain the 
homes they need.

• Help people to live in their own homes as 
independently as they can for as long as 
possible.

• Continue to prevent homelessness and work to 
eradicate rough sleeping.

• Continue to prevent homelessness and work to 
eradicate rough sleeping.

These Objectives will underpin our approach to 
tackling some of the ongoing housing issues faced 
within the Borough in order to ensure that access 
to suitable housing becomes an achievable goal 
for all of our residents.

1

 Our Housing  
Achievements 

Delivering  
1200 new homes 

every year

Delivering  

3oo  

affordable 
homes  

every year

Delivered  

400 
new homes  
for private rent  
through Nuplace Ltd 

Licensed over 

200 HMOs 
through our Better Homes 

for All programme

Increased 
supported 

housing by 65% 
over the last 5 years 

Support over 300 
people per year  

to continue to live 
independently at home 

Provide advice 
and support 
to over 3,000 

people each year 
working to prevent or 
relieve homelessness

Vesey Court, Wellington

PROOF

P
age 93



1110 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Objective 1: 
To create sustainable, accessible, 

affordable and integrated communities

Work with agencies to provide 

More homes which  
are affordable

Unlock disused 
brownfield sites  
for the development of 

affordable homes, supporting 
hundreds of jobs in the 

construction and  
manufacturing sector

Build 200  
NuPlace homes  

owned and run by the Council at 
affordable rates, re-investing into 

local Council services

Through NuPlace, bring forward 
more brownfield sites to  

Provide more quality 
homes to rent

Objective 2: 
To make the BEST use of our  

existing homes

Invest £1million 
into a ‘Stronger Community’ 

fund which be led by residents 
and will support the continued 
regeneration of our New Town 

and existing estates.

Take robust action to  

Reduce the number  
of empty and  

unused properties 
including;  an extra Council tax 
charge for homes which have 
been empty for 2 years with 

proceeds invested to prevent 
and reduce homelessness

Continue to tackle  

Rogue landlords 
work with good landlords and 

support private tenants by 
continuing to invest in our  

‘Better Homes for All’ 
scheme

Explore ways to  
Support our young 

people to get onto the 
housing ladder

Build a ‘Care  
Leavers Covenant’  

in our Borough which will provide 
care leavers the best start  

to their adult life

Increase the range and 
availability of  

Council owned 
accommodation  

for older residents, including 
adapted living and retirement 

bungalows for over 55s

Work with the voluntary sector to 

Tackle the root causes 
of homelessness

Halve the number  
of people living 

in temporary 
accommodation  

by 2021

Eradicate rough 
sleeping by 2023

Maintain funding to ensure  
there will be an  

Offer of a safe  
and warm bed for 

anyone who needs it  
all year round.

Expand provisions to  

Support our veterans, 
care leavers  
and over 65s  

at home and in the community

Our Council Plan to Protect, Care & Invest
We are committed to ensuring every family has a safe and affordable home. 

Objective 3: 
To provide homes to support and  

empower our most vulnerable people

1

Lightmoor

PROOF

P
age 94



1312 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

This document will be of interest to a wide 
audience – including investors, developers, 
registered providers, town and parish councils, 
non-statutory and voluntary bodies and local 
residents – in fact anyone who is concerned 
about housing in Telford & Wrekin.

The right balance of good quality homes, which 
are affordable, sustainable and provide variety, 
choice and accessibility, are essential to the 
economic prosperity, health and well-being of 

the people in our borough. Housing is a key 
theme within the Council’s high level vision for 
the borough as set out its Community Plan ‘Our 
programme to Protect, Care and Invest to 
create a better borough, 2019 – 2023’. Key 
housing themes from our Community Plan are 
summarised in Figure 1 below. 

The Future of Housing in Telford & Wrekin

This five year Housing Strategy (2020 - 2025), is concerned with all types of housing, tenure 
and housing needs. It sets out our long term vision for housing and the actions that we will 
take, working with our partners and government, to address our housing challenges.

Introduction

Protect, Care 
and Invest

2

A Great Place to Live

Retirement Bungalows

Young People

Homes for Heroes

Care Leavers

Carers

Rough Sleepeer

Homelessness

 Older People

Adaped Living

Independence

Empty and unused properties

Stronger Communities

Partnership

Brownfield Land

Green Spaces

Affordable homes

Direct Development 

(Council and NuPlace)

Regeneration of New 

Town Estates

‘Better Homes for All’

Private Landlords

Carbon Neutral/Sustainable

Figure 1 - Council Priority Plan and Housing Strategy Priorities

Oakengates

PROOF

P
age 95



1514 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

• Accelerated the delivery of over 600 new 
homes, through our unique ‘Land Deal’ with 
Homes England.

• Increased the number of new affordable 
homes provided every year from 100 to 300, 
through joint working with local housing 
associations and Homes England.  

• Attracted annual housing investment of over 
£5 million from Homes England.

• Delivered almost 400 new homes for rent, 
including some at affordable levels and built 
to accessible & adaptable and wheelchair 
standards, through the Council’s in house 
company, Nuplace Ltd. 

Helped to improve our existing housing stock 

• Promoted better management and 
maintenance standards in private rented 
housing through the Council’s ‘Better Homes 
for All’ initiative which is underpinned by an 
“Educate, Encourage, Enforce” approach. 

• Relaunched our Landlord Accreditation 
Scheme.

• Licenced more than 200 Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMOs) with 2 prosecutions to 
address poorly managed HMOs.

• Issued the first Banning Order in England, 
preventing the landlord concerned from 
working in the property industry for up to 5 
years.

• Ensured compliance with more than 400 
enforcement notices to bring properties up to 
standard.

Supported vulnerable people to access good 
quality housing:

• Completed a detailed analysis to understand 
housing needs of vulnerable people.  

• Helped increase the amount of supported 
housing by 65% over the last five years 
including the delivery of seven new extra care 
housing schemes.

• Increased well-being grants from £191k in 
2017/18 to £459k in 2018/19 (in total >£2.16m 
in grants in 18/19).

• Helped around 300 people to continue to live 
independently at home by providing Disabled 
Facilities Grants (DFGs) and other assistance 
every year.

• Implemented a range of initiatives to support 
care leavers in finding move-on homes with 
approved Landlords in accordance with the 
Council’s Care Leaver’s Covenant.  

• Developed a family based supported living 
environment via Shared Lives for 16-17 and 
18-24 Care Leavers.

• Provided advice and support to more than 
3,000 people each year, including almost 400 
who are at risk of being homeless.

• Provided support through the Thrive 
partnership to help prevent homelessness 
and sustain tenancies.

• Implemented the Homelessness Reduction 
Act and advised over 3,300 people to date.

• Provided additional support for 
young homeless clients in temporary 
accommodation.

• Secured funding of over £369,000 to assist 
with homeless and rough sleepers.

• Launched homelessness fund-raising 
and awareness raising campaign https://
homeless.telford.gov.uk 

• Developed a new rough sleepers register.

Creating 
sustainable, 
accessible, 
affordable and 
integrated 
communities

2

London House, Madeley

In this context, this Strategy seeks to directly 
respond to and address these themes through the 
following key objectives:

• To create sustainable, accessible, affordable 
and integrated communities.

• To make the BEST use of our existing homes.

• To provide homes to support and empower 
our most vulnerable people.

Our Housing Role

Telford & Wrekin Council is a unitary authority 
and takes a proactive, innovative and informed 
approach to meeting local housing needs. Whilst 
the Council transferred its own housing stock to 
local housing associations in 1999, as the housing 
authority for the borough, it retains a vital role in 
delivering local and national housing priorities, 
including:

• Building an evidence base of local housing 
needs and priorities.

• Developing meaningful strategy that 
recognises the diversity of need across 
communities and the impact of housing on 
health, well-being and social cohesion.  

• Ensuring that there are suitable homes for all, 
especially for our most vulnerable residents, 
key workers and veterans.

• Using its housing and planning powers to 
ensure our existing housing stock is fit for 
purpose and new housing developments meet 
local need and contribute positively towards 
our carbon reduction commitments.

• Working as a consumer champion, through the 
use of its regulation and enforcement powers.

• Acting as a strategic commissioner, enabler or 
influencer. 

• Working in partnership with Homes England, 
registered providers, private sector landlords. 
letting agents, developers, and voluntary and 
community groups to achieve successful 
communities.   

• Ensuring that owner occupied and private 
rented housing contributes to building vibrant 
and sustainable communities, by being in 
demand and in good condition.

• Helping our residents to access housing that 
meets their needs in their choice of tenure, and 
making critical links to appropriate support 
services. 

• Directly delivering high quality affordable and 
market rented homes through our own housing 
company, Nuplace Ltd.

Our Housing Achievements

Through our proactive approach to housing we 
have already: 

Helped secure the delivery of high quality new 
homes:

• Adopted a new Local Plan, with a target of 
over 17,000 new homes by 2031.

• Enabled the delivery of 1,200 new homes 
every year (the third best nationally), partly by 
the use of Council land and assets.

Park Lane, Woodside

PROOF

P
age 96



1716 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Why we have a Strategy 

Whilst the Council are already delivering positive 
housing outcomes it is still the case that the 
borough does not have enough homes and 
existing housing is unaffordable for some people 
and unsuitable for others. The reasons for this 
include a lack of supply, insufficient investment, 
housing market dynamics and wider social and 
economic factors. 

Through each of our three strategy objectives, 
the Council is committed to ensuring that the 
quality of homes in the borough improves and 
that local people can find a home that meets their 
needs. The Housing Strategy is high-level and 
overarching as set out in Figure 2 and:

• Is closely linked to The Telford & Wrekin 
Local Plan, which sets out the long term 
development vision for the borough as a whole 
(currently under review).  

• Complements a number of other key strategies 
including Economic Development, Better 
Homes for All, Health & Well Being and the 
Council’s carbon reduction commitments.

• Provides the framework for a number of 
supporting strategies and policies including, 
for example, Homelessness, Specialist & 
Supported Accommodation and Private Sector 
Housing.

In this way the authority takes a co-ordinated  
and strategic approach and ensures that the 
Council’s housing functions are delivered in an 
integrated way.

Figure 2 - Telford & Wrekin Strategic Housing Framework

2

Homelessness 
Strategy

Specialist & 
Supported 

Accommodation 
Strategy

Housing 
Allocation Policy  

& Tenancy 
Strategy

Better Homes 
for All

Housing 
Assistance Policy

The  
Local Plan

HOUSING 
STRATEGY

Economic 
Development 

Strategy 

Health & Well 
Being Strategy

Council Plan 
Our programme to Protect, Care and 

Invest to create a better borough

Malthouse Court, Wellington

Council Vision 
The place of enterprise, innovation  

and partnership

Climate Change 
StrategyPROOF

P
age 97



1918 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

The National Picture 

The national policy context for housing is complex 
and changing with key themes summarised 
below:

• There continues to be a very strong emphasis 
on building more new homes across the 
country - this also includes affordable housing, 
particularly for low cost home ownership.  

• A series of planning and housing policy 
measures aimed at all types of provider are 
seeking to increase and speed up new housing 
delivery.  

• New and emerging policies are focussing on 
improving housing design and quality, physical 
accessibility, environmental performance and 
safety.

• The Government has indicated that further 
funding for new affordable homes will be 
provided beyond the end of the current Shared 
Ownership & Affordable Homes Programme in 
March 2021. 

• There continues to be limited national funding 
for housing renewal and improvement, with 
the exception of Disabled Facilities Grants and 
related measures.

• Local councils’ homelessness responsibilities 
have been extended through the 
Homelessness Reduction Act, accompanied 
by some targeted funding.  

• The Welfare Reform changes are continuing, 
however planned changes to the funding of 
specialist housing have not been introduced.  

• A series of measures are to be introduced to 
help protect consumer rights in housing.

 

The Local Picture

Telford & Wrekin is a growing and successful 
borough with a diverse housing market and 
continuing housing needs.

Our Borough

The Borough of Telford & Wrekin is a unitary 
authority located within the West Midlands 
region to the north west of the West Midlands 
conurbation. It includes urban Telford, the market 
town of Newport and a large surrounding rural 
area. The borough is a place of contrasts, a mix 
of urban and rural areas with green open spaces 
alongside contemporary housing developments 
and traditional market towns.  

Part of the borough was designated as ‘Telford 
New Town’ in 1968, partly to meet housing needs 
from the West Midlands conurbation and partly 
to assist in the physical regeneration of former 
mining and industrial areas. From the 1960s to 
the 1970s the town grew rapidly, mainly through 
social rented housing provided by the Telford 
Development Corporation. Following the closure 
of the Development Corporation in the 1980s, 
growth has continued through new housing 
development by private developers and registered 
providers. 

With a population of some 177,800 people, living 
in circa 78,200 homes, Telford & Wrekin is the 
largest urban area in the region outside the West 
Midlands and North Staffordshire conurbations. 
The borough has a key role as an Urban 
Powerhouse within the Marches Local Enterprise 
Partnership and as a competitive inward 
investment destination. Telford & Wrekin has been 
consistently amongst the most rapidly growing 
local authority areas – fourth by population 
(+2,030) and fifth by housing (+1,050) - in the 2020 
‘Centre for Cities Report.   

While some parts of Telford & Wrekin appear 
prosperous, there are clear differences across 
the borough with other areas being amongst the 
most disadvantaged nationally – comparable with 
inner cities.  18 areas of the borough (out of 108 
areas) are ranked in the 10% most disadvantaged 
nationally.  25% of the borough’s population live in 
the 20% most disadvantaged areas nationally.

Housing ContextTelford  
and Wrekin

With a population of 

some 177,800 people, 

living in circa 78,200 

homes homes, Telford 

& Wrekin is the largest 

urban area in the 

region outside the 

West Midlands and 

North Staffordshire 

conurbations. The 

borough has a key 

role as an Urban 

Powerhouse within 

the Marches Local 

Enterprise Partnership 

and as a competitive 

inward investment 

destination.  

3

Coalport

PROOF

P
age 98



2120 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Our People

The borough’s population is projected to rise 
to just under 200,000 (196,900), by 2031 – an 
increase of over 11%. While the borough’s 
population is still comparatively young, it is 
becoming older and more diverse.  There are 
currently 29,862 people aged over 65 living in 
the borough (2017). Over half of the population 
increase in the borough to 2031 will be in the over 
65 age group (10,700).  As part of this, the 65-84 

age group will rise by 27% (7,300) and the number 
aged 85+ will almost double (+ 3,400).  

10.5% of the borough’s population are classed as 
being from a Black or Minority Ethnic group (BME) 
compared to 20.2% for England as a whole. Key 
drivers of change have been new migrants and 
population age structure. 

There are an estimated 3,831 UK Armed Forces 
Veterans of working age living in Telford & Wrekin 

More information and sources of our  
population data can be found at  
www.telford.gov.uk/factsandfigures 

Our Housing Market 

The borough’s housing market is highly self - contained, although there are strong links with some 
neighbouring areas.  The borough has a number of separate housing sub markets including urban 
Telford (which itself includes distinctive sub areas), the market town of Newport and a large rural area.

Our 
population  
is growing  
and ageing

177,800 
people 

196,900 projected  
by 2031 

4th fastest 
growing 

population of 
English cities 

27%  
increase

in 65-84 age group 
by 2031

98%  
increase  

in 85+ population  
by 2031

33% 

households  
with dependent 

children 
 (England 29%)

Many of our residents are vulnerable or in need….

30,600 report a 
health problem  

or disability  
(higher proportion 

than England)

10,400 adults 
18-64 report a 
moderate to 

severe disability

10,400 people 
report bad health 
(higher proportion 

than the  
England rate)

18,000 
unpaid 
carers 

58 
households 

in temporary 
accommodation at 

31st March 2019 

21 rough 
sleepers 

(November 2019)

3

Figure 3: Our borough in summary

Raxter Drive, Snedshill

PROOF

P
age 99



2322 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

In addition to some 13,000 local authority owned 
homes, there were once around 14,000 social 
homes (mainly on large mono-tenure estates) 
developed by the former Telford Development 
Corporation in the 1960s and 1970s. Much of 
this was built to innovative layouts using non-
traditional construction methods. While some of 
these homes were transferred to the Council in 
the 1980s and then to local housing associations, 
many were sold to their tenants. As a result there 
is now a very diverse pattern of ownership in 
these areas. 

A wide range of national, regional and smaller 
house builders are active in the borough, together 
with a growing number of developing Registered 
Providers and large scale private landlords. The 
number of different home providers in the borough 
in all sectors is continuing to increase. 

House prices in the borough continue to increase 
with the average house price growing from 
£144,851 in 2015 to £167,066 in 2019; £34,742 
less than for the W-Midlands (£201,808) and 
£84,007 less than the England average (£251,073).

The mix of housing tenures in the borough is 
becoming increasingly similar to the country as a 
whole.  While the proportion of owner-occupied 
homes has fallen, it is still the largest tenure 
in the borough. The number of social homes 

has remained fairly stable, with significant new 
provision offset by various losses. The number of 
homes rented privately has more than doubled 
in the last twenty years and is now close to the 
national average.  

The private rented sector is increasingly becoming 
a key component of our local housing market. 
Between March 2018 and March 2019 alone 
there was a 13% growth in the number of rental 
properties within the Borough with this growth 
being experienced across all property sizes. The 
average monthly rent in Telford and Wrekin for 
the year to March 2019 (£593) remains lower than 
regional (£651) and national (£858) comparators.

The sector caters for a range of different housing 
needs including short term lettings to assist with 
mobility and increasingly provides quality homes 
on a long term basis. The sector is diverse and 
ranges from single property owners to portfolio 
landlords. Most recently there has been a 
growth in large scale private rented provision 
through accommodation funded by institutional 
investment. The Council provides homes for 
private rent through its wholly owned company 
‘Nuplace’. There are also a number of private 
letting agencies in the borough.  

Our Housing Conditions

Telford & Wrekin has a unique housing profile and 
range of challenges. While there are high levels 
of recent new house building, part of the borough 
is a former third generation new town, developed 
around many long established communities. 
The borough’s housing stock is comparatively 
new, with high levels of new building and some 
redevelopment – around 70% of the borough’s 
homes have been built since 1965, with over 25% 
constructed after 1990. However there is a mix of 
homes of other ages, with just under 10% built 
before 1919. 

Nationally, since 2007, there has been a significant 
reduction in the proportion of homes classified 
as ‘non-decent’ (all tenures). This is now 19%, 
although this has stalled in recent years. The most 
recent borough-wide housing condition survey 
estimated the proportion of ‘non decent homes’ 
as just over 10%. Across England there remains 
a lower proportion of non-decent homes in the 
social sector than in the owner-occupied and 
private rented sectors.  

Despite being relatively new, the condition and 
quality of some of the former new town housing 
estates is a major concern. Significant and 
sustained investment is needed urgently to bring 
them up to modern standards alongside the wider 
provision of social and economic support for 
these areas. The Council has already undertaken 
a number of successful, targeted interventions in 
these areas but future intervention is complicated 
by increasingly diverse ownership.  

Housing associations in the borough are taking a 
proactive approach to improving and modernising 
their homes through their asset management 
strategies and redevelopment initiatives.

The energy efficiency of homes in England has 
increased considerably (all tenures) over the last 
twenty years, although this increase has now 
slowed.

Affordable Homes 

For a number of reasons many people are unable 
to afford to buy or rent a home in the open 
market. Housing affordability in Telford & Wrekin 
has remained stable over the last ten years but 
average house prices were still 6.4 times higher 
than average annual incomes in 2018. In some 
parts of the borough this ratio is much higher.

As such, there is a continuing requirement for 
more new affordable homes to meet local needs, 
especially for rent. While almost 1,650 new 
affordable homes have been built in the five years 
to 2019, more than 1,450 have been lost to the 
sector through sales and redevelopment – the 
equivalent of 9 in 10. The most recent Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) shows that 
more than 600 extra affordable homes are needed 
each year (mainly for rent) across all parts of the 
borough, There is also a particular need for rented 
homes that are genuinely affordable.  

Homelessness

Homelessness continues to be a key issue locally 
and under the Homelessness Reduction Act, the 
Council has widened its responsibilities to prevent 
homelessness and provide relief. In 2019/20 it 
assessed 451 households, of which 256 were 
owed a prevention duty and 213 were owed a 
relief duty. Of these, accommodation was secured 
or homelessness prevented for 235 households.

In the past 12 months there have been on average 
50 people living in temporary accommodation. In 
the most recent annual survey, 21 individuals were 
found to be ‘sleeping rough’ (November, 2019).

Circa 

78,200   
homes

70% 
constructed 
since 1965

 10% built 
before 1919

1,200  
new homes  
built per year

£167,066 
average  

house price
(lower than West 

Midlands and 
England)

Our housing stock and market is diverse and changing

£593 average 
weekly rent 

(lower than West 
Midlands and 

England)

Private 
rented homes 
doubled in the 

last 20 years 

10%  
of homes  

non-decent

For every 10 
affordable 

homes built,  
9 are lost

through sales and 
redevelopment 

3

 Figure 4: Our Housing Market 

PROOF

P
age 100



2524 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

The borough needs new homes for its growing 
and changing population, to enable existing 
homes to be made available and poor quality 
homes to be replaced. New homes are also a 
key component of sustainable communities 
required to keep pace with new jobs and to 
meet aspirations. There is also a continuing need 
for more homes that people can afford. The 
government says that there is a national shortfall 
of 300,000 new homes every year - of these 
140,000 should be affordable. 

The National Planning Policy Framework 2019 
(NPFF) expects local councils to create long term 
development plans for their areas. These must be 
up-to-date and ensure that areas have a five year 
land supply for new house building. The building 
of new homes must be balanced by the provision 
of infrastructure and the creation of local jobs.  

The Telford & Wrekin Local Plan, 2011 - 2031 
(adopted 2018) sets out the Council’s overall 
vision and growth strategy for the borough, 
including how future housing and employment 
needs will be met and sets out the Council’s key 
housing and planning policies, supported by a 
number of Neighbourhood Plans. It aims to deliver 
approximately 17,280 net new dwellings (including 
affordable homes) by 2031. Total assumed 
supply for this period (as at April 2016) is 11,741 
dwellings, leaving a net requirement of just over 
5,500. Around 1,200 new homes are being built 
in the borough each year (of which some 300 are 
affordable).  

Whilst new homes are undoubtedly needed, it is 
critical that these homes are;

• Sustainable - in order to contribute positively 
towards the Council’s carbon reduction 
agenda. In July 2019, the Council declared a 
‘Climate Change Emergency’, in recognition 
of the threats from global warming and the 
importance of meeting long term targets to 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions. Energy 
use in homes accounts for 14% of total UK 
emissions and as such, delivering sustainable 
housing is key to meeting the Council’s 
objectives in this regard.

• Accessible - in order to allow people to live 
as independently as possible, for as long as 
possible.

• Affordable - in order to deliver a meaningful 
net increase in truly affordable homes.    

• Integrated – to ensure that new homes 
respect and are effectively integrated 
into existing communities and stimulate, rather 
than detract from community cohesion. 

It is important to acknowledge that the delivery 
of these homes is challenging in an area where 
many housing sites are brownfield in nature, with 
historical uses linked to past mining or other 
industrial activity. This, combined with historical 
fluctuations in the housing market, has left a 
number of housing developments in the borough 
stalled. Often located within some of the more 
disadvantaged parts of the Borough, these sites 
are a blight on communities and hotspots for 
anti-social behaviour. However they also present 
a valuable opportunity to deliver much needed 
housing and kick-start regeneration of these 
communities, with these sites being capable of 
delivering circa 2,400 new homes, if ways can be 
found to address viability and other constraints.

To support the delivery of this Objective the 
Council currently: 

• Works with a wide range of local, regional and 
national development partners to deliver new 
quality homes and increase the annual supply 
of affordable homes on mixed tenure schemes.

• Provides a supportive and ‘business friendly’ 
development management approach including 
providing pre-application advice, support and 
viability assessment. 

• Assists developers to deliver schemes that are 
stalled and/or with unimplemented planning 
consents through access to a range of support 
and funding.

• Supports the redevelopment of brownfield and 
previously developed land to create quality 
new homes.  

• Attracts funding for, and facilitates the delivery 
of, essential infrastructure to enable new 
development to take place.

• Co-ordinates and secures external investment 
from Homes England, The Marches LEP and 
the West Midlands Combined Authority. 

• Markets residential development sites on 
behalf of Homes England and itself through 
The Telford Land Deal. 

Objective 1: 

To Create Sustainable, 

Accessible, Affordable 

& Integrated 

Communities1 

• Review the Council’s long 
term development plan for 
the borough - the Telford & 
Wrekin Local Plan – to help 
make Telford & Wrekin a 
great place to live.

• Promote high standards in 
all new build homes and 
ensure that they contribute 
positively towards the 
Council’s climate change 
commitments. 

• Work with our partners to 
achieve a real net gain in the 
number of truly affordable 
homes available.

• Continue to provide more 
new sustainable homes 
through Nuplace and 
examine new opportunities 
for the Council to be a 
direct home provider.

4

1 Key Documents: 

• Telford & Wrekin Local Plan (2011-2031) 
[under review] 

• Economic Development Strategy (2016) 
[under review] 

Telford Millennium Community (TMC),  Ketley

PROOF

P
age 101



2726 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

• Directly delivers a mixture of high quality 
homes for private and affordable rent through 
the Council’s wholly-owned company Nuplace 
Ltd, including some built to higher accessibility 
standards.

• Promotes high development standards/quality 
in new build housing through its Development 

Plan for the borough and through its 
Development Management services. 

• Supports wholly affordable ‘land led’ schemes 
by housing associations.

• Supports open market or ‘off the shelf’ 
acquisitions by housing associations.

• Seeks early engagement with housing 
associations to support their development 
programmes and help ensure that their 
proposals will most effectively meet  
local needs.

• Enables the delivery of affordable homes in 
rural areas through planning exception policies, 
and puts arrangements in place to give priority 
to existing residents of these areas, or those 
with a strong local connection.  

• Works with Homes England to support bids 
for grant funding by providers to deliver 
new affordable homes. This has been both 
through the main bidding round of their Shared 
Ownership and Affordable Housing Programme 
(SOAHP), and subsequent ‘Continuing Market 
Engagement’ (CME) or ‘thematic’ bidding 
rounds.  

In order to further meet this Objective the 
Council will:

Through the Local Plan review, develop a 
strong planning framework which embodies 
the principles of sustainability, affordability and 
integration.

As required by the NPPF, The Council is 
currently undertaking a five year review of its 
Local Plan. This will help keep it up to date 
and reflect changes in national policy and local 
circumstances.  It will also extend its life until at 
least 2040.  There is an agreed timetable and 
structured involvement and consultation process 
prior to a formal Examination in Public, with a 
target for adoption of 2023. 

As part of its Local Plan review the Council will:

• Ensure housing needs are properly assessed 
and quantified by updating the local evidence 
base, including the Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment (SHMA) and the Gypsy & Traveller 
Accommodation Assessment (GTAA). 

• Develop and enhance policies to further 
improve housing standards in the borough, 
including design, accessibility, security and 
environmental performance, taking account of 
developing national guidelines and published 
evidence. 

• Develop policies aligned with the Council and 
Borough’s Climate Change Action Plan to 
ensure that new housing positively contributes 
towards carbon reduction during development 
and operational phases. 

• Work to increase the supply of housing that 
provides flexibility in the long term by being 
delivered, wherever possible, to:

• The Nationally Described Space Standard 
(NDSS).  

• Part M (4) Category 2 of the Building 
Regulations (roughly equivalent to the 
‘Lifetime Homes Standard’).  

• Part M (4) Category 3 (wheelchair 
standard).

• Review opportunities to develop policies 
and guidance on affordability and establish a 
“Living Rent” which is linked to local wages.

• Work to secure a meaningful increase in the 
delivery of truly affordable homes - specifically 
a significant net gain in the provision of social 
housing for rent.

• Examine opportunities to increase housing 
supply through new approaches, for example, 
community based housing. 

• Use new or updated local strategies, including 
the Economic Development, Homelessness 
and Specialist & Supported Accommodation 
Strategy to help shape policy.  

• Develop Supplementary Planning Guidance 
which ensures that our specialist and 
supported housing needs are considered on 
a site by site basis, alongside the provision of 
housing across a variety of tenures.

• Identify further opportunities to meet housing 
needs for specific vulnerable groups by way of 
off-site financial contributions.

• Clearly establish demand for self-build within 
the Borough and support the delivery of self-
build opportunities wherever feasible. 

Continue to work collaboratively with partner 
organisations to:

• Maximise new affordable housing supply and 
deliver a real, long term increase in the size of 
the social housing sector and where possible 
to include the most affordable form of housing 
– social rent.

• Ensure that where affordable homes 
are provided as part of mixed tenure 
developments, that these are ‘tenure neutral’ 
and fully integrated with all other tenures to 
create mixed and balanced communities.

Case Study –  
Affordable homes for rent 
by Nuplace Ltd 
Last year Shaquille moved from his family 
home in St Georges to his first home of his 
own. Shaq had been thinking about moving 
out for a while when his friend told him about 
the Nuplace homes in Hadley. After getting in 
touch with the Nuplace team, he choose his 
two bedroom apartment at Nuplace’s Blossom 
Walk development and moved in a few months 
later. Here’s what Shaq told us.

“I’ve always wanted my own home but before 
buying I wanted to see if I could manage living 
on my own – it’s such a big commitment but I 
love my home, and I must say it’s worth every 
penny. 

I loved being able to choose my apartment off 
plan – although I had to wait for it to be built 
that time gave me chance to save before I 
moved in.  

It’s hard to say what I love the most. The 
apartment is so spacious - I have an ensuite 
plus a main bathroom so it’s perfect for when 
friends visit. Nuplace have also been so easy to 
get in touch with when I have a problem, which 
really puts my mind at ease. 

I would definitely recommend Nuplace to 
anyone who is looking to make that big move 
into their first home. It’s been the perfect 
stepping stone for me.” 

Case Study –  
Working together to 
unlock brownfield land
Prinicpal Point on Orleton Lane, Wellington, 
Telford is a 165 home mixed-tenure 
development comprising of 1 bed apartments 
to 5 bedroom homes for sale and private rent, 
due to be completed in early 2021. The site 
was a former school which had been vacant for 
many years, but the Council have worked with 
developer Lovell Partnerships Ltd to unlock 
this vacant site and bring back to life. In doing 
so, they have transformed it into a cohesive, 
sustainable and inclusive development to meet 
local housing needs.

In addition to the delivery of the scheme, both 
parties have worked collaboratively to agree 
the design, scale and delivery of a new, fit for 
purpose leisure facility for the local community.PROOF

P
age 102



2928 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

• See arrangements put in place to keep low 
cost and shared ownership homes, provided 
as part of planning requirements, affordable 
in the long term or to recycle the subsidy to 
replace them locally.   

• Work with providers to increase the delivery 
of specialist and supported housing through 
its Specialist & Supported Accommodation 
Strategy. 

• Engage constructively with other adjacent 
regional local authorities and other stakeholder 
agencies.

• Work with the construction industry (including 
SME companies) and training providers to 
address skills gaps in the borough’s workforce, 
including housing design, construction and 
new building technologies. 

• Enable developers to progress housebuilding 
on stalled sites through access to a range of 
support and funding.

• Work with house builders to embed 
modern methods of construction into their 
development plans where this can speed up 
delivery, address viability and affordability 
issues and contribute towards the Council’s 
carbon reduction commitments. 

Consider further direct 
delivery of new homes 
Although the Council is no longer a direct provider 
of social housing, new national policies have 
changed the financial context for house building 
by local authorities, although this is only a part of 
the wider policy framework.  

The Council will continue to review opportunities 
available to deliver housing directly where there 
is market failure or where direct provision makes 
financial or service delivery sense. This is most 
likely to be focussed on specialist and supported 
housing provision or through the Council’s 
housing company, Nuplace Ltd. 

Case Study -  
More Affordable Homes  
for All
The borough of Telford & Wrekin needs more 
than 600 extra affordable homes every year.   

Working with local housing associations, 
benefitting from the support of Homes England 
and using its own resources, the Council 
has increased the long term average of new 
affordable homes built in the borough every 
year from 100 to over 300. These homes are 
being provided by both the Council’s long term 
housing association development partners and 
also a number of new developing associations.   

One of the biggest developers of new 
affordable homes in the borough is The Wrekin 
Housing Group. They recently worked with 
the Council, Homes England and a developer 
to ‘de-stall’ an important new build and 
redevelopment housing scheme in the centre of 
Newport.   

Steve Swann, Project Manager at The Wrekin 
Housing Group, said: “We’re delighted to have 
been able to get this development going again 
with the assistance of Telford & Wrekin Council.

However, despite the increase in supply, the 
borough’s total social housing stock has barely 
increased over the last five years - due to the 
impact of ‘The Right to Buy’, other sales and 
shared ownership ‘stair casing’. 

Delivering  
housing directly 
where there is 
market failure.

Edgmond Former Royal Victoria Hotel, Newport

PROOF

P
age 103



3130 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Through its strategic and stewardship roles 
the Council wants to promote the best housing 
conditions and standards it can across all homes 
in the borough.  

Improving housing stock 
condition and bringing 
empty properties back  
into use

All housing requires ongoing maintenance and 
improvement in order to remain in good condition 
and up to date and as such the quality, condition 
and safety of all local homes is a continuing 
issue. Housing quality, can depend on a number 
of factors including age, construction type, 
maintenance and management. It is also a key 
driver of health and well-being yet national 
housing policy continues to focus heavily on 
new build, with more limited support for existing 
homes.  

Poor housing quality is a key contributing factor 
to fuel poverty with it being estimated that 11% of 
the borough’s residents are currently living in ‘fuel 
poverty’ and are therefore unable to keep their 
homes warm at a reasonable cost. The National 
Fuel Poverty Strategy (2015) is currently under 
review.  

Poor quality homes are also a significant 
contributory factor to climate change with energy 
use in homes accounting for 14% of greenhouse 
gas emissions in the UK. The technology and 
knowledge to create high quality, low-carbon and 
resilient homes exists, but current policies and 
standards are failing to drive either the scale or 
the pace of change needed.

A deterioration in property condition is also a key 
concern when homes become empty. Properties 
can become empty for a variety of reasons with 
the issues being experienced across all tenures. 
In October 2018, there were 390 long term empty 
homes in the borough, which is significantly 
lower than the unitary authority average of 
1,515. However, these properties can still have 
a disproportionately negative impact on their 
surrounding area.

To improve housing stock and bring empty 
properties back into use the Council currently: 

• Supports home owners and landlords 
to invest in the maintenance and 
improvement of their properties through 
access to low cost/trusted finance and 
directing them to sources of information, 
advice and accredited traders.   

• Supports remodelling or redevelopment 
schemes by housing associations to 
modernise older or unpopular homes. 

• Delivers a range of initiatives through its 
“Better Homes for All” Programme. 

• Contributes to the regeneration of local high 
streets through a number of housing related 
initiatives. 

• Is delivering a modernisation and 
redevelopment programme of permanent and 
temporary accommodation for the Gypsy 
and Traveller community (with the support of 
Homes England). 

• Works with developers and communities 
to ensure that local estate stewardship 
arrangements are effective and offer good 
value for money.

• Takes a proactive approach to bringing 
long term empty homes back into use, by 
the provision of advice, enforcement and 
encouragement. 

In order to further meet this Objective the 
Council will:

• Undertake targeted Local Housing Surveys 
into the condition of the borough’s housing 
stock, using a ‘desk-based’ approach with 
existing published sources

• Work closely with local housing associations 
to help align their investment strategies and 
disposal plans with the Council’s priorities for 
the borough. 

• Work with energy suppliers and funding 
partners to access funding to deliver energy 
efficiency measures to support those affected 
by fuel poverty and assist in achieving climate 
change objectives.

• Work with local people and interest groups 
to develop a community-based approach to 
property care, including home maintenance 
advice and low cost finance. 

Objective 2: 

To make the BEST use 

of our existing homes

• Support the positive 
redevelopment and 
improvement of existing 
homes to address climate 
change and reduce fuel 
poverty.

• Continue to work to bring 
empty homes back into use.

• Create a new focus on 
housing renewal in the 
borough, starting with some of 
the earliest new town housing 
estates to deliver sustainable, 
cohesive communities.

• Champion high standards 
in the private rented sector, 
actively addressing the 
worst conditions through 
the application of our Better 
Homes for All programme 
whilst providing a strong role 
model through Nuplace.  

The borough’s housing stock is one 
of its biggest assets and is growing 
each year. While building new homes 
is important, annual completions 
represent only a small part of all the 
homes in the borough.  In 20 years’ 
time, 80 percent of the borough’s 
homes will be those currently existing  
in 2020. 

The good management and 
maintenance of all homes in the 
borough is a key issue for the 
Council and is as important as 
enabling new homes to meet future 
need.

5

Raxter Drive, Snedshill

PROOF

P
age 104



3332 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

• Work with and support community based 
groups that are seeking to establish 
themselves as management organisations and 
/ or landlords to ensure that they contribute 
positively towards raising property and 
management standards in the Borough.

• Champion/promote positive images of all 
housing types and tenures across the borough 
through its communication channels and 
partner networks.  

• Increase investment in bringing empty homes 
back into use.

• Provide additional encouragement for specific 
housing areas through the designation of a 
number of new ‘Housing Target Zones’. 
These zones will be identified using data from 
the Local Housing Survey and will be the focus 
for coordinated activity aimed at creating:

• better homes

• better neighbourhoods

• stronger communities 

• Prepare a new strategy to reduce fuel poverty 
in the borough. This will help to increase 
health, well-being and comfort - particularly for 
older and vulnerable people. 

Addressing the Legacy of 
Telford New Town 

In 1967 the government designated Telford as a 
‘third generation’ new town. This was led by the 
former Telford Development Corporation (TDC), 
who built more than 14,000 new homes over 
fifteen years. 

Some of the first social housing estates in 
South Telford developed by TDC, now require 
significant and sustained investment to meet 
modern standards. This is complicated by 
diverse ownership in these areas which, following 
government policy, is now mainly private. The 
physical regeneration in these areas must be 
complemented by wider social and economic 
support to help build strong local communities.

To address the Legacy of the New Town the 
Council has: 

• Undertaken a number of targeted interventions 
to remodel and improve areas of mixed tenure 
housing on former TDC housing estates. 

• Worked with private developers and housing 

associations to deliver a range of new homes 
in various tenures.

• Invested in local community buildings and 
other facilities and secured new commercial 
users.

• Worked with local service providers, partners 
and groups to deliver a series of economic, 
social and community development initiatives 
as part of a wider regeneration programme.

In order to further meet this Objective the  
Council will:

• Launch a ‘New Town Futures’ Programme 
to help revitalise South Telford and to build 
stronger communities - with the local district 
centre as their hub.  

• Provide additional support to address 
stalled sites and empty properties in these 
communities in order to provide a focus for 
and catalyse regeneration activity.

• As part of its Local Housing Survey, update 
and develop its Neighbourhood Assessment 
Studies for this area. 

• Commission a detailed position statement 
(including assets and interests) and option 
appraisal, leading to the creation of an action 
plan and investment prospectus.

• Develop a new area-based approach for 
directing resources and co-ordinating services/ 
interventions in specific locations through a 
new approach to community engagement.

• Formulate a robust case to national 
government and lobby for additional 
investment in the regeneration of borough’s 
former New Town homes and communities.

• Identify opportunities to support the 
Programme through the forthcoming review of 
the borough’s Local Development Plan. 

Improving Standards within 
the Private Rented Sector
The private rented sector plays an important role 
in meeting the housing needs of the borough, 
providing both flexible housing options and long 
term housing solutions. It is estimated that more 
than 20% of homes in the borough are now rented 
privately and this number is increasing. This 
includes over 230 Houses in Multiple Occupation 
(HMOs).  

The Council has a key role in ensuring that 
this part of the market offers good quality and 
safe homes for all groups, including the most 
vulnerable. While most of this sector is well 
managed by professional landlords and agents, 
in some cases properties fall short of the 
management standards and conditions that are 
expected.  

To improve standards within the private rented 
sector the Council currently: 

• Works with local landlords and agents to 
promote good management and physical 
standards. This includes the provision of 
training, information and advice. 

• Intervenes where necessary and take 
appropriates enforcement action, including use 
of sanctions, civil penalties and prosecutions 
where necessary.  

• Operates its own social letting agency – 
‘Telford Homefinder’ – to help those in housing 
need to access affordable and safe privately 
rented accommodation.    

• Operates its ‘Better Homes for All’ programme 
which seeks to address concerns about 
housing standards and anti-social behaviour 
in some private rented homes in the borough 
through: 

A revised and enhanced licencing scheme 

for Houses of Multiple 
Occupation (HMOs). 

A new Housing Enforcement 
Policy to help poorly performing 
landlords to improve. 

A strengthened landlord accreditation and 
development scheme. 

• Has increased environmental maintenance 
and enforcement in ‘hot spot’ areas, working 
with local Town and Parish Councils and other 
partners. 

• Is promoting positive practice in housing 
development and management through its own 
Nuplace rented homes initiative. 

In order to further meet this Objective the 
Council will:

• Continue to promote positive practice in 
private rented housing by the planned 
expansion of Nuplace Ltd.

• Develop a new training and education 
programme to help raise standards in the 
private rented sector.

• Develop deposit bonds for more vulnerable 
tenants, linked to homelessness prevention 
and the provision of tenancy support. 

• Actively address unlicensed HMOs using an 
intelligence-led and prioritised approach. 

5

Case Study - Using new 
powers to raise standards 
in the private rented sector
Last year Telford & Wrekin Council became the 
first council to use new legislation to secure 
a banning order against a landlord illegally 
operating a house of multiple occupation 
(HMO). 

The landlord in question had been refused 
a licence to operate a seven bedded HMO 
in Hollinswood, but despite this continued 
to operate. During a number of Council 
inspections throughout 2018 evidence was 
found of 5 people living in the property. This 
culminated in the landlord pleading guilty in 
the Magistrates Court to managing a house in 
multiple occupation without a licence in place. 

Following this, and as a result of other previous 

offences, the Council decided to use new 
powers under the Housing and Planning Act 
2016 and was successful in securing a five 
year banning order, preventing the landlord 
in question from letting out a house or being 
involved in letting or property management.

In its ruling, the tribunal found that the 
landlord’s use of “licences” instead of rental 
agreements was “a deliberate attempt to 
mislead tenants as to their legal rights and in 
particular security of tenure”, and that there 
was “a risk that the respondent will continue to 
flout his legal obligations resulting in potential 
harm to his tenants”.

The [then] Housing Minister Esther McVey said: 
“I welcome the fact that councils like Telford 
and Wrekin are making use of the powers 
available to tackle these criminals, forcing 
them to either raise their standards or leave the 
sector entirely.”

PROOF

P
age 105



3534 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

As part of the Specialist & Supported 
Accommodation Strategy, the Council has 
developed a robust evidence base to inform future 
requirements for specialist and supported housing 

in the short, medium and long term. The 
high level demand figures are presented 
in the table below and show a shortfall in terms of 
provision across all vulnerable groups. 

Objective 3: 

To Provide Homes to 

Support & Empower 

Our Most Vulnerable 

People

• Work with our partners to 
increase the supply of specialist 
and accessible homes for older 
and vulnerable people.

• Help local people, and in 
particular key workers and 
veterans, to find and sustain the 
homes they need.

• Help people to live in their 
own homes as independently 
as they can for as long as 
possible.

• Continue to prevent 
homelessness and work to 
eradicate rough sleeping.

Everyone should have a choice 
of good quality and affordable 
housing in order to meet their 
needs and aspirations and the 
Council works closely with local 
housing associations, developers 
and other organisations to ensure 
that there are good quality homes 
available for all people, including 
the most vulnerable as well as 
veterans and key workers.

It is also vital that suitable homes 
are available on an emergency 
basis for people in crisis for 
a range of reasons, including 
homelessness and domestic 
abuse, and that there is provision 
for people to move on from this 
accommodation to a home from 
which they can safely and securely 
rebuild their lives.

6

However, with this increasing demand, comes an 
increasing supply and we are seeing a growing 
number of home providers and housing options 
in the borough across all tenures, accessed in 
different ways. Some of the established methods 
of finding a home are changing, while new 
approaches continue to emerge. This means 
that finding a suitable home is becoming more 
complex for local people.  

Helping people to remain as independent as 
possible for as long as possible – either in their 
existing home or a new one is a priority for 

the Council. As most people will continue to 
live in their own homes, with only a relatively 
small number of people moving into specialist 
accommodation, it is vital that the Council 
considers how both new and existing housing can 
best meet local needs. 

Following the Homelessness Reduction Act, local 
authorities (working with other local agencies) 
have expanded responsibilities to prevent and 
relieve homelessness. 

Table 1. Summary of need for supported and specialist (units) to 2030/31 

The figures below are not cumulative and the figures in the columns for 2025/26 onwards represent the 
uplift from the previous period. The column for 2020/21 represents our current/immediate need across 
the various cohorts.   

*Includes estimated need for supported housing and mainstream housing.   

(1) This typically relates to single people at risk of homelessness (who may have ‘non-assessed’ mental health needs). The Council’s 
homelessness strategy covers the needs of a wider cohort of the population at risk of homelessness. 

Supported & specialist housing needs 
(Need estimates are not cumulative)

2020/21 2025/26 2030/31

A Older people:
1 Housing for older people for sale/shared equity 

(units)
700 800 900

2 Housing for older people for social rent/
affordable rent (units)

340 590 920

3 Housing for older people for market rent (units) 40 45 50
4 Extra care housing including mainstream and 

high needs/dementia care (units) (included 
within 1 and 2)

140 400 530

5 Residential care (beds) 0 0 0
6 Nursing care (beds) 50 200 300
B People with mental health needs (assessed) 15 40 65
C People with learning disabilities 25 50 70
D Adults with physical disabilities (need for 

adapted and accessible properties)
31 55 80

E Transforming Care cohort 10 25 35
F People at risk of homelessness who have  

(non-assessed) mental health need (1) 
150 250 400

G Vulnerable* young people 90 110 130

PROOF

P
age 106



3736 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Providing Advice and 
Guidance to Landlords 
and Tenants 
The Council’s Property Management Officers 
(PMOs) play a crucial role in supporting 
both landlords and tenants to ensure that 
both parties are operating legally and that 
relationships, and ultimately housing can be 
maintained. 

When a tenant called the team stating that 
the locks on his rented home had been 
changed, one of the Senior PMOs took on 
the case. It was established that the tenant 
was late paying some of his rent due to loss 
of employment but that he did want to return 
to the property. 

After some investigation, the PMO managed 
to identify and contact the landlord, who 
thought the tenant was no longer living at 
the property. The PMO advised the landlord 
of his duties, and the rights of the tenant 
in relation to relevant legislation but also 
the fact that the landlord could apply to the 
Housing Benefit team for the rent to be paid 
to him directly. 

The advice and guidance resulted in the 
landlord providing the tenant with a new 
set of keys, allowing them to return to the 
property and the tenancy was sustained. 

To contribute towards this Objective  
the Council: 

• Has developed a robust evidence base of 
specialist housing requirements and will 
launch an associated Specialist & Supported 
Accommodation Strategy in Spring 2020.

• Is working with partners to increase the supply 
of good quality specialist and supported 
housing. 

• Is seeking higher physical accessibility 
standards in new mainstream housing.    

• Is directly delivering housing more ‘accessible 
& adaptable’ and wheelchair standard homes 
through its own housing company, Nuplace 
Ltd.  

• Is providing targeted housing information and 
advice, including signposting people to local 
housing associations and home providers.

• Has prepared a high level housing allocations 
policy and tenancy strategy, which provides 
the basis for the allocation of social housing 
vacancies in the borough and describes how 
these properties will be let. It also helps to inform 
how the Council and local Registered Providers 
will work together. 

• Is making nominations and referrals to 
local housing associations and other home 
providers, as well as agreeing local lettings 
plans with housing associations. 

• Operates its own social lettings agency - 
‘Telford Homefinder’. 

• Is working with the local ‘Help to Buy’ agent to 
help first time buyers to access local housing 
opportunities.

• Provides direct financial support with 
housing costs through Housing Benefits and 
Discretionary Housing Payments. 

• Is successfully administering Disabled 
Facilities (statutory & discretionary) and 
‘Well Being’ Grants to allow people to adapt 
and improve their homes across all tenures, 
helping them to remain independent or to 
leave hospital or care settings. 

• Proactively works with ex-Service personnel 
and their families to find suitable housing, in 
accordance with the Council’s Armed Forces 
Community Covenant.

• Helping self-funders by overseeing and 
managing work in their homes.  

• Is working corporately and with a strong 
network of statutory, independent and other 
organisations to prevent homelessness and 
eliminate the need for anyone to sleep rough. 

• Provides grants to partner organisations 
totalling circa £85,000 to help tackle 
homelessness and rough sleeping. 

• Is providing temporary accommodation and 
support services to help people to access and 
sustain their own accommodation. 

• Is continuing to secure external funding 
to help prevent and relieve homelessness 
and to provide good quality temporary 
accommodation. 

Case Study - Living 
independently in Fabulous 
Extra care housing
Back in 2006, with a rapidly growing older 
population, the Council’s Housing and Social 
Care teams set themselves an ambitious 
medium term target - to develop 500 new 
homes in extra care housing.  

In response to this, 408 new homes have 
been completed in seven schemes across 
the borough - with 70 more homes in the 
development pipeline. Four of these schemes 
are right at the centre of new communities or 

on strategic sites. As a result, the borough 
now has one of the highest levels of extra care 
housing provision in the country.

To achieve this, the Council has worked with a 
number of local housing association partners 
and Homes England – and also used its own 
resources. These homes are mainly for rent, 
with some for older persons’ home ownership. 

Extra care housing is popular in the borough -  
it enables local people to live as independently 
as possible for as long as they can and may 
also help to reduce loneliness. The wider local 
community are also able to make use of the 
communal facilities. 

6

Duce Drive, Dawley

• Supports local homeless charities and third 
sector organisations by providing funding to 
deliver services for homeless clients and those 
sleeping rough.

• Actively supports fundraising campaigns by 
local homeless charities.

• Provides a homelessness and housing advice 
service, with a strong emphasis on preventing 
and relieving homelessness.

• Has implemented a range of initiatives to 
support care leavers in finding move-on 
accommodation with approved Landlords, in 
accordance with the Council’s Care Leaver’s 
Covenant. 

• Ensures that there is a place of safety available 
through emergency accommodation for all 
people experiencing domestic abuse, in 
accordance with the Council’s Domestic Abuse 
Policy and our status as a White Ribbon Town. 

• Provides wrap around support to unsure 
victims of domestic abuse are supported to 
find safe and secure move on accommodation. 

In order to further meet this Objective the 
Council will:

• Implement its new Specialist & Supported 
Accommodation Strategy and:

• Maintain an up to date assessment of local 
need and specialist housing supply.   

• Proactively engage with providers to 
significantly increase supply and widen 
choice in the local market. 

• Secure appropriate quality and standards 
in the local housing market. 

• Promote higher accessibility standards in 
all new build homes through the Local  
Plan Review.

• Make best use of the borough’s 
housing resources through 
nominations, referrals and 
other means.

• Update its Housing Allocation Policy & Tenancy 
Strategy

PROOF

P
age 107



3938 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

• Continue to embed housing as a key theme 
within the Care Leavers Covenant, ensuring 
that young people leaving care have a safe and 
suitable place to live and the necessary support 
to maintain their tenancy and their home.

• Ensure that key workers and ex service 
personnel are given the support they need 
to find appropriate and affordable housing.• 
Improve access to, and information  
on, housing options by:

• Working with home providers to  
review the local arrangements for 
accessing social and market housing.

• Helping to create a modern housing 
information and advice service through a 
single point of contact and one number for 
all Housing enquiries.

• Developing appropriate local oversight 
arrangements for the sector. 

• Focus on reducing homelessness, including 
the use of temporary accommodation and 
rough sleeping by:

• Reviewing and updating its Homelessness 
and Rough Sleeping Strategy

• Seeking additional internal and external 
funding to maintain and enhance 
homelessness prevention and tenancy 
sustainment initiatives

• Developing new local partnerships to 
support local people who are homeless 
and to reduce rough sleeping. 

• Developing a Housing First approach which 
will:

• Give people who have experienced 
homelessness and chronic health and 
social care needs a stable home from 
which to rebuild their lives.

• Provide intensive, person-centred, holistic 
support that is open-ended.

• Place no conditions on individuals other 
than they should desire to have a tenancy.

• Be appointing a Domestic Abuse Support 
Worker to provide more intensive wraparound 
support to enable victims of domestic abuse 
to find a home from which they can rebuild 
their lives.  

• Be working to increase the level of available 
refuge accommodation for victims of domestic 
abuse, in accordance with the anticipated 
Domestic Abuse Bill.

Implementation of a Telford Housing First 
approach will be subject to an outline 
business case, which will see the council 
invest in purchasing and managing additional 
accommodation with a supported wrap around 
support service to accommodate a range of 
vulnerable clients.

Case Study Housing for All
For the Council, working with partners to tackle 
and prevent homelessness and rough sleeping 
is extremely important - it would not be able to 
do this without them. 

One of our partners was called into action to 
support a 78 year old man with multiple health 
problems who was wheelchair dependent. 
He had no home to return to and the Housing 
Solutions team provided initial bed & 

breakfast accommodation whilst working with 
Maninplace to find a secured temporary bed 
space under the Night Inn provision where he 
could receive support for the short term.

The Housing Solutions team worked with 
the client and partners, including health 
services, to identify additional support and 
understand his tenancy needs. This culminated 
in a social housing property being identified 
which has provided long term sustainable 
accommodation and allows the client to 
receive ongoing support for his care needs. 

6

Giving people who have experienced 
homelessness, chronic health and social care 
needs a stable home to rebuild their lives.

6

Castle Farm Way, Priorslee

PROOF

P
age 108



4140 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

The Council will 

• Promote the best interests of the borough in 
advocating for resources and policy changes.

• Work strategically on behalf of the borough 
with a range of local and national partners. 

• Act as a ‘consumer champion’ in housing for 
local people. 

• Continue to deliver a range of housing 
services, focusing particularly on those who 
are most vulnerable or in crisis.

• Promote the best possible standards in all 
aspects of housing.

• Seek to embed carbon reduction measures 
into housing delivered directly by the Council 
and via Nuplace Ltd.

Our ‘Asks’ 

The Council values its partners and asks them to: 

• Share information and insight with us to help 
us to understand local housing needs. 

• Work with us to attract external funding into 
the borough and to raise awareness of local 
needs.

• Keep us informed of your activities, policies 
and priorities, including any proposed changes 
or new initiatives. 

• Continue to work in partnership with us to 
meet local housing needs.

• Maintain active conversations with us for the 
greater good our of Borough.

• Seek to embed carbon reduction measures 
into your existing and new housing stock to 
support the Borough in meeting its carbon 
reduction commitments.

• Embrace modern methods of construction 
where this can speed up the delivery 
process, help to meet our carbon reduction 
commitments and address affordability issues.

Resources

The Council has recently consolidated its housing 
capacity and resources in a new Directorate of 
Housing, Employment & Infrastructure in order 
to increase focus and provide greater clarity in 
relation to this critical agenda. Alongside this, and 
despite continuing funding pressures in national 
and local government as a whole, the Council will 
continue to direct as many resources to delivering 
this Strategy as it is able to. This will include: 

• Its core revenue and capital budgets, working 
as creatively and as flexibly as possible.  

• Its own land and property assets.

• The wider resources and infrastructure of the 
authority, including support ‘in kind’.

• External funding that that it is able to attract, 
recognising that much of this is on a short or 
fixed term basis and may require matching 
funding contributions.

The Council will also: 

• Support its partners to access external funding 
for activities that support the priorities of the 
borough.

• Seek to influence the spending plans and 
priorities of government and others.

Housing is 
a priority for 
Telford & 
Wrekin Council, 
but we can 
cannot deliver 
on this alone.  
The Council 
will work with 
partners, 
stakeholders 
and residents.  

7

Our ‘Offer’

The Council wants homes in the borough to be of good quality, to meet the needs of current 
residents and future generations and support healthy and thriving communities.  

Achieving our Strategy

PROOF

P
age 109



4342 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Implementation 

The consolidation of capacity and resources into 
a new Directorate for Housing, Employment & 
Infrastructure will facilitate increased focus on 
the delivery of this key Strategy and ensure that 
it is aligned with the Borough’s economic growth. 
Whilst Government funding to deliver on this 
agenda remains constrained, the Council will 
continue to make the most effective use of its own 
resources and seek to attract external funding 
where possible. It will also seek to influence the 
funding and investment decisions of others to 
realise the objectives of this strategy.

Consultation 

Subject to approval from Cabinet, the Council 
will invite comments on the draft Strategy from 
a range of partners and stakeholders as well as 
residents of the Borough, with comments to be 
received by 31 August 2020. A final draft of the 
Strategy, will be brought back to Cabinet for 
consideration and adoption. 

Please send your comments on this 
Strategy to: 

futureofhousing@telford.gov.uk 

by 31st August 2020.

7

We want your 
comments by the  
31 August 2020.

Jockey Road, Donnington

PROOF

P
age 110

mailto:futureofhousing%40telford.gov.uk?subject=Housing%20Strategy%20Comments


Housing, Communities and  
Customer Services

Telford & Wrekin Council, Larkin Way,

Wellington, Telford, TF1 1LX

Email: Kate.Callis@telford.gov.uk   Tel: 01952 382073

Email: Chris.Winter@telford.gov.uk   Tel: 01952 381901

Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

PROOF

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



 

TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – 18 JUNE 2020 
 
AUDIT COMMITTEE – 14 JULY 2020 
 
THE ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2019/20 
 
JOINT REPORT OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER AND DEPUTY 
MONITORING OFFICER  
 
LEAD CABINET MEMBER – CLLR RAE EVANS, CABINET MEMBER FOR 
COUNCIL FINANCE & GOVERNANCE 

 
 
PART A) – SUMMARY REPORT 
 
1. SUMMARY OF MAIN PROPOSALS 
 
1.1 It is proposed that Cabinet agrees the Annual Governance Statement 

2019/20 (“the AGS”) attached at Appendix A prior to the statement 
being signed by the Leader of the Council and Chief Executive.  The 
AGS will then be reported to the Audit Committee for review and 
approval and will accompany the 2019/20 accounts. 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that Cabinet notes and agrees the Annual 

Governance Statement 2019/20, attached at Appendix A to this 
report; and 

 
2.2 It is recommended that the Audit Committee notes and approves 

the Annual Governance Statement 2019/20 attached at Appendix 
A to this report. 

 

 
3. SUMMARY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 

COMMUNITY IMPACT Do these proposals contribute to specific Co-
Operative Council priority objective(s)? 

Yes The Governance Framework 
encompasses the whole Council and 
all of the Council’s priorities. 

Will the proposals impact on specific groups of 
people? 

No  

Page 113

Agenda Item 7



TARGET 
COMPLETION/DELIVERY 
DATE 
 

The Annual Governance Statement should be 
signed and ready to accompany the 2019/20 
accounts when reported to Audit Committee. 

FINANCIAL/VALUE FOR 
MONEY IMPACT 

No  The governance framework includes 
several financial elements, including 
the Council’s financial regulations, 
the budget strategy and the Treasury 
Management Strategy.  These 
provide the financial parameters, 
systems, processes and guidelines 
within which the Council must 
operate and, as such, assist in the 
delivery of good governance.  Strong 
financial management also supports 
the delivery of value for money in 
ensuring economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the Council’s 
decision making and processes. 
 
The Council’s external auditors give 
an opinion on the financial 
statements of the authority and a 
value for money conclusion in their 
opinion on the accounts and in their 
Annual Audit letter each year which 
provides further assurance. 
KC 14/05/20 

LEGAL ISSUES Yes/No  The Council is required to comply 
with the requirements of the Audit 
and Accounts Regulations 2015.  
Regulation 6 of these Regulations 
sets out that the authority must 
undertake a review of the 
effectiveness of its internal control 
systems on an annual basis and 
prepare an annual governance 
statement. The annual governance 
statement must be approved in 
advance of the annual statement of 
account. 
AL – 14/5/2020 

OTHER IMPACTS, RISKS 
& OPPORTUNITIES 

Yes  Good governance supports the 
identification and management of 
risks and robust control 
arrangements. 

IMPACT ON SPECIFIC 
WARDS 

Yes Borough-wide impact 

 

Page 114



PART B) – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
 
4. INFORMATION 
 
4.1 Under the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 (“the Regulations”), 

the Council is required to produce an Annual Governance Statement 
(“AGS”).  It is best practice for the AGS to be signed by the Leader of 
the Council and the Chief Executive.  This statement should be 
approved in advance of, and accompany, the annual statement of 
accounts. 

 
4.2  The AGS for 2019/20 is attached at Appendix 1 and has been 

developed based upon the requirements of the Regulations and 
CIPFA/SOLACE guidance.  The AGS includes a draft action plan 
(Annex 1) to ensure that the Council continues to improve its existing 
governance arrangements. The action plan may need further 
development once all AGS certifications have been received. A final 
version of the action plan will be presented to the Audit Committee for 
final approval in July 2020. 

 
4.3 The action plan attached to the 2018/19 AGS (implemented during 

2019/20) has been reviewed and updated to reflect current progress.  
Any actions still in progress from the 2019/19 plan have been 
incorporated into the 2019/20 plan. 

 
4.4 The AGS and the Local Code of Good Governance outlines that the 

Council has a robust governance framework in place but that it is 
continually reviewing procedures to maintain and demonstrate good 
corporate governance.  It is supported by risk management and sound 
systems of internal control which are paramount in the financially 
constrained circumstances within which the Council operates.  The 
Council can be assured that, during 2019/20, including during 
organisational changes, periods of flooding response and the 
response to the global Covid-19 pandemic, the existing or revised 
governance arrangements have continued to support proper and 
appropriate governance.  Where required, changes to procedures 
have been agreed by SMT and changes to the Constitution have been 
agreed by full Council via the Council’s Constitution Committee. 

 
4.5 Assurance for the AGS is provided by all areas of the Council and 

externally by the following:- 
 

a) Leader of the Council and Chief Executive – who sign the AGS to 
acknowledge their responsibilities; 

b) Senior management – the Chief Executive, Executive Directors 
and Directors; 

c) Chief Financial Officer 
d) Monitoring Officer 

Page 115



e) Members – Scrutiny arrangements, Standards Committee, Audit 
Committee and other Regulatory Committees; 

f) Internal Audit; 
g) Partners; 
h) External Audit; and 
i) Other external inspection agencies 

 
4.6 The 2019/20 AGS sets out adherence to the Council’s governance 

arrangements that were in operation during the period 1 April 2019 to 
21 March 2020 and measures the effectiveness of them. 

 
4.7 The Council’s current Code of Good Governance was approved on 29 

May 2018 to reflect the CIPFA/SOLACE framework including any 
revised principles, guidance and good practice received in the 
preceding year. A revision of the code will be presented to Audit 
Committee during 2020/21.  

 
 
5. IMPACT ASSESSMENT – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
Not applicable. 
 
6. PREVIOUS MINUTES 
 
May 2019. 
 
7. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
None 
 
 
Report prepared by: 
 
Rob Montgomery, Audit & Governance Team Leader, Telephone: 01952 
383103 
 
Tracey Drummond, Principal Auditor, Telephone: 01952 383105 

Page 116



1 
 

Appendix A 
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2019/20 

 
1. Introduction 

 
1.1 Under the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 the Council is required to produce an Annual 

Governance Statement to accompany the Statement of Accounts which is approved by the 
Audit Committee.  

 
             The Annual Governance Statement outlines that the Council has been adhering to the Local 

Code of Corporate Governance, continually reviewing policies and procedures to maintain 
and demonstrate good corporate governance and that it has in place robust systems of 
internal control. 

 
             The Council has adopted the Code of Corporate Governance which is consistent with the 

principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework – Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government.   

 

 
 
 
CIPFA’s Principles of Good Governance  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 117



2 
 

2. Standards of Governance 
 

2.1 The Council expects all of its members, officers, partners and contractors to adhere to the 
highest standards of public service with particular reference to the employee and Members’ 
Code of Conduct, Constitution, Corporate Priorities as well as applicable statutory 
requirements. 

 
3. Scope of Responsibility 

 
3.1 Telford & Wrekin Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in 

accordance with the law and proper standards. The Council needs to demonstrate that public 
money is safeguarded and properly accounted for and used economically, efficiently and 
effectively to secure continuous improvement.  

 
3.2 To meet this responsibility, the Council puts in place proper governance arrangements for 

overseeing what it does including putting in place proper arrangements for the governance 
of its affairs including risk management, the requirements of regulations and ensuring the 
effective exercise of its functions. These arrangements are intended to make sure that the 
Council does the right things, in the right way, for the right people, in a timely, open and 
accountable manner. The Council takes into consideration all systems, processes, policies, 
cultures and values that direct and control the way in which we work and through which we 
account, engage and lead our communities.   

 
 
4.     The Governance Framework 

 
4.1 The governance framework allows the Council to monitor how they are achieving their 

strategic aims and ambitions and how this contributes to the delivery of its vision and values: 
 

 

 
 

   
 
 
4.2 The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to 

manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve priorities 
and objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an on-going process designed to 
appropriately identify, quantify and manage the risks to the achievement of the Council’s 
priorities, objectives and policies. 

 
5. Review of Effectiveness 
 
5.1 Telford & Wrekin Council has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the 

effectiveness of the governance arrangements including the system of internal control.  The 
review of the effectiveness is informed by:- 

 

Page 118



3 
 

 
 
5.2      The Council has faced considerable challenge during 2019/20 particularly in respect to the 

significant effects of heavy flooding in the region and the worldwide COVID-19 pandemic. 
Both of these challenges have meant changes to working practices which have required a 
greater degree of flexibility and risk based decision making at lower levels in the authority. 
However changes have been made within the boundaries of good governance which can be 
evidenced by the following examples: 

 

 Gold/silver corporate groups set up to manage strategic and operational risk; 

 Gold/silver groups including key stakeholders and regulatory roles, e.g. Section 151 
Officer, Monitoring Officer, etc; 

 Audit & Governance support with Business Rate Relief applications and other changes 
in practice across the Council; 

 COVID-19 decision log kept to record decisions made using Chief Officer powers within 
the Council’s Constitution; and 

 COVID-19 risk registers maintained both at service area level and at a corporate level  
 
  The Council continues to deliver services to its community using new and developing 

practices in light of COVID-19. Underpinning this is support/instruction from central 
government and continued risk management from the corporate Gold and Silver Groups.  

 
5.3  The Council recognises the importance of information governance and formalised its 

Information Governance Framework. The main focus of the Information Governance Team 
in 2019/20 has been to ensure the Council’s continued compliance with the requirements of 
the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) / Data Protection Act 2018. The Information 
Governance Team has continued to report to the Audit Committee during the year including 
information on responses to information rights requests and data security breaches. During 
2019/20 no enforcement action has been taken by the Information Commissioner’s Office 
(ICO) against the Council in respect to data breaches. 

 

Page 119



4 
 

 5.4 The Chief Executive, Executive Directors, Directors and Service Delivery Managers have 
signed annual assurance certificates confirming that the governance framework has been 
operating within their areas of responsibility, subject to the actions outlined in Annex 1. 

 
 5.5 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require a review of the effectiveness of the system 

of internal control. This review is informed by the work of Internal Audit, management, other 
internal assurance services and the External Auditors’ review. The Internal Audit Annual 
Report 2019/2020 will set out the Internal Audit opinion.  

 
 5.6 The Council has been advised on the implications of the review of the effectiveness of the 

governance framework by the Cabinet, Standards Committee, Audit Committee, Scrutiny, 
Senior Managers, Internal Audit and external review. The Chief Internal Auditor concludes 
that the review of the governance arrangements provides a reasonable level of assurance 
that the governance arrangements continue to be regarded as fit for purpose in accordance 
with the governance framework. Attached as Annex 1 is an agreed action plan to address 
any key governance issues and ensure continuous improvement. 

 
 5.7 Issues from the previous action plan (2018/19) that have been addressed or mainstreamed 

have been deleted and those that continue to be addressed are included in 2019/20 action 
plan. 

 
 5.8 The Senior Management Team has monitored implementation of the 2018/19 actions and 

reported back to the Audit Committee in January 2020. 
 

 5.9 Detailed below is a statement explaining how the Council has complied with the Code of 
Corporate Governance and meets the requirements of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2015 and CIPFA Code on the Principles of Good Governance.  

 
5.10 Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values and 

respecting the rule of the law. 
 
5.10.1 Members and officers, in the main, recognise the importance of compliance with the 

Constitution, specifically Financial and Contract Rules; Procurement Regulations, Scheme of 
Delegation, Codes of Conduct and Gifts & Hospitality Policy. However, some improvements 
are needed in this area and recommendations have been included in the 2019/20 AGS action 
plan. 

 
5.10.2 There is ongoing training, both classroom based and via the on-line learning platform (OLLIE) 

for Codes of Conduct, Equality Awareness, Leadership & Governance and Contract 
Procedure Rules/Procurement. 

 
5.10.3 The Council has an Anti-Fraud & Corruption Policy, supported by the Whistleblowing (Speak 

Up) Policy, encouraging internal referrals. The Council has a zero tolerance policy in relation 
to fraud and corruption and it is service management’s responsibility to ensure there are 
adequate controls in their areas to ensure the opportunities for fraud are minimised. It is 
everyone’s responsibility to report suspicions and the Whistleblowing (Speak Up) Policy 
supports this internally. Internal Audit along with the Investigations Team undertakes 
proactive fraud work based on a fraud risk register and/or other intelligence. Other specific 
anti-fraud and corruption activities are undertaken by Trading Standards. An annual report 
on anti-fraud and corruption activities and an update to the Anti-Fraud & Corruption Policy 
and Whistleblowing (Speak Up) Policy is presented to the Audit Committee. 

 
5.10.4 Officers comply with their professional organisations’ codes of conduct when delivering 

services. 
 

Page 120



5 
 

5.10.5 All Internal Audit reviews consist of an ethics questionnaire that is sent to a sample of staff in 
specific teams to demonstrate their understanding of key corporate policies. Responses have 
highlighted some lack of understanding of key policies such as the Gifts & Hospitality Policy. 
There is also a lack of awareness with regard to the Whistleblowing (Speak Up) Policy and 
how they should report a suspected fraud.  

 
             Ethic questionnaire findings have been shared when discussing individual audits with 

relevant Service Delivery Managers and Directors and taken to SMT as part of reporting 
corporate recommendations.   

 
5.10.6 There are both internal and external reviews in social care to monitor compliance with the 

law, e.g. the Care Act, Deprivation of Liberties, Safeguarding and the Mental Health Act.   
 
5.10.7 Ofsted undertook an inspection of the Council’s children’s social care services in January 

2020. The outcome of the inspection was that Ofsted graded these services as ‘Outstanding’. 
An extract from the inspection report is detailed below: 

 
‘Children’s services in Telford and Wrekin are outstanding. Children benefit from high-
quality social work and an impressive range of specialist services that improve their well-
being and help to protect them from harm. Social workers and other staff who support 
children are very committed, and they are exceptionally well trained. Children are valued 
and receive child-focused services tailored to their individual needs. Children are listened to 
and their experiences are well understood and inform planning to improve their lives.  
Corporate parenting is exceptionally strong. Children are cared for, and they are cared 
about.  
 
Children and their families benefit from creative high-quality services which support children 
to live with their families wherever possible. A significant number of children have been 
successfully diverted from alternative care and enabled to live safely with their birth 
families. When this is not in their interest, children benefit from high-quality carers and 
timely securing of permanence. Care leavers benefit from strong and enduring relationships 
with personal advisers, who are responsive to their needs well into adulthood.  
 
Senior leaders have implemented a clear and ambitious vision for vulnerable children and 
families in Telford and Wrekin, which has resulted in outstanding services that are 
benefiting children. Despite this success, they continue to work to continually improve 
services. They aspire to a service for every child that they would welcome for their own. 
Workforce development, recruitment and retention are particularly strong. Staff at all levels 
are valued and very well supported. This has developed a positive culture where social 
workers can practise safely and effectively and where they are making a positive impact on 
the lives of children and their families’. 

    
 The Council’s Children’s Services therefore have become the first in the Midlands and the 

first outside of London to transform services from “requires improvement to be good” to 
“outstanding”. 

 
This is a very positive result especially when you compare Telford & Wrekin Council’s 
grading against the national average.  

 

5.10.8 Human Resource and recruitment polices and processes ensure the Council is fully compliant 
with employment law.  Annual audits are undertaken in these areas and ongoing checks take 
place to ensure compliance with IR35 legislation. This year saw the implementation of the 
new HR ICT system (Resourcelink), which will be reviewed as part of the annual HR/Payroll 
audit.  

 

Page 121



6 
 

5.10.9 Senior officers meet regularly and work closely with Members to ensure that they understand 
and can undertake their respective roles effectively and legally. 

 
5.10.10 The Cabinet monitors the effectiveness of the governance framework through the 

consideration of regular service and financial management information reports from senior 
management.  Individual Cabinet Members receive regular feedback from senior officers in 
respect to their areas of responsibility on the progress of priorities and objectives.  Issues of 
strategic and corporate importance are referred to Cabinet. 

 
5.10.11 Statutory responsibilities across the Council are discharged openly and proactively, examples 

include having key statutory officers in place, i.e. Head of Paid Service, Data Protection 
Officer, Section 151 Officer, Monitoring Officer, Director of Children Services, Director of Adult 
Social Services, Director of Public Health and Scrutiny Officer. 

 
5.11    Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement 
 
5.11.1 The Council’s ‘Shaping our Future – Our Journey to 2020’ document is a community strategy 

for Telford & Wrekin.  It shows how partnership working makes a positive difference to 
community life. 

 
5.11.2 The Council actively contributes to, and collaborates with, partners to promote good 

governance and achieve the delivery of outcomes through increased joint working.  The 
Council is a member of a number of sub regional partnerships and groups. Many of our 
services are delivered in partnership with other organisations such as West Mercia Energy, 
Town and Parish Councils, voluntary groups, etc. 

 
5.11.3 Regular meetings take place between Children Safeguarding and key partner agencies such 

as the police, Telford & Wrekin CCG, Education and Health.    
 
5.11.4  All Council services feed into transparent reporting processes through council committee 

meetings and this is further supported by the transparency agenda. 

 
5.11.5   Annually the public is consulted on the budget for the forthcoming year. 
 
5.11.6  There is regular engagement between Public Health, Telford & Wrekin Clinical Commissioning 

Group (CCG) and Social Care for the future provision of services. 
 
5.11.7 The structure and provision of the Council’s Scrutiny function has been reviewed in 2019/20 

to ensure its operation is fit for purpose and complies with good practice. The revised Scrutiny 
provision will be in place operationally in 20/21 and will look at the development of policy, the 
decision-making process and areas of concern.  The subject areas for review will be  informed 
by community engagement, direct feedback to members from within the community, the results 
of review and inspection (both external and internal) and areas of policy being developed by 
the Council. 

 
5.12    Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social and environmental benefits. 
 
5.12.1   The Council can demonstrate its longer and medium term action plans through the ‘Medium 

Term Council Plan’ and the ‘Shaping Our Future – Our Journey to 2020’.  The Council is 
working on economic growth and marketing its services towards commercial activities in order 
to generate income and place less reliance on government grants. Plans are being reviewed 
in light of the current/future impact of Covid19.  All service areas also have to meet savings 
targets to ensure a sustainable budget for future years. These are under review in light of the 
impact of Covid19. 

 

Page 122



7 
 

5.12.2   Digital transformation and changes in the way we work are intrinsic to the Council’s service 
delivery model.  

  
5.12.3  The Telford & Wrekin Local Plan sets out the Council's vision and strategy for the physical 

planning of the borough up to 2031 and a review of the Local Plan has commenced to ensure 
that it remains capable of meeting the needs of the borough. 

 
5.12.4 All service areas have their own service plans which details how they intend to deliver their 

service for the coming year and the risks they face. These plans encompass identifying risks 
to service objectives being met. 

 
5.12.5 The Council has a commercial strategy / investment strategy that demonstrates clear visions, 

objectives and outcomes. This includes financial, economic, social and environmental issues. 
 
5.12.6 The Councils economic growth strategy supports and drives increased economic productivity. 
 
5.12.7 The financial strategy sets out the short and long-term implications for service delivery across 

the Council. The Service & Financial Planning reports include various papers to Cabinet 
regarding the budget and sets out short/ medium and long-term implications, including the 
capital strategy and saving strategy. 

 
5.12.8 Adult Social Services in respect to systems, financial management and implementation of the 

cost improvement plan have continued to provide updates during the year to Members 
including the Audit Committee. To support the revised target operating model there has been 
commissioned external support and management changes. 

 
5.12.9 All Council reports to Members show relevant financial implications and risk. 
 
5.12.10 Implementation of the ICT Strategy has continued, including infrastructure upgrades, the   

ongoing roll-out of Office 365 and further security improvements particularly in response to 
spam, phishing/ whaling and ransomware threats. Some implementation has been 
accelerated due to flooding and COVID-19. 

 
5.13 Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended 

outcome. 

 
5.13.1   The Council can demonstrate its longer and medium term action plans through the ‘Medium 

Term Council Plan’ and the ‘Shaping our Future – Our Journey to 2020’ which are aligned to 
the Treasury Management Plan to ensure a joined up approach to delivering the organisation 
outcomes and savings plans. 

 
5.13.2  Budget plans are produced for all service areas for planning purposes. Budget consultation 

is undertaken annually with Council Members and members of the public. 

 
5.14 Developing the Council’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the 

individuals within it. 
 
5.14.1 To deliver the vision of ‘being the change’ a Workforce Development Strategy 2017-2019 is 

in place.  This focuses on 4 key themes – Employer of Choice, Planning for the Future, 
Healthy Organisation and Workforce of the Future.  The Organisational Delivery & 
Development Team are in place to bring together the corporate values and planning function 
and to align these with workforce development.  

 

Page 123



8 
 

5.14.2 Officers understand their respective roles and these are set out in job descriptions.  The 
Constitution, Scheme of Delegation and Contract Procedure Rules clearly shows roles and 
responsibilities, specifically with regard to delegation and authorisation. 

 
5.14.3 There are various training methods available to staff such as mentoring, Ollie (On-line 

learning platform) and classroom based. 2019/20 saw the second cohort of future leader 
training taking place.   However, the ethics questionnaire issued by audit highlighted that 
some staff did not feel supported or developed in their roles.  The results also highlighted that 
staff did not have time to complete Ollie training and felt they had not received proper 
induction into their role.  

 
5.14.4  Other support includes CPD sessions, team meetings and ongoing 1:2:1s, however results of 

the ethics questionnaires have demonstrated that some staff still do not have regular 1:2:1 
supervision meetings. 

 
5.14.5 Members receive an induction session and annual training with regard to the Treasury 

Management Strategy and other training relevant to their position.  All Members and staff 
have had the opportunity to undertake training on General Data Protection Regulations 
(GDPR) / Data Protection Act (DPA) 2018 legislation. There is also online training available 
to all staff on GDPR/DPA 18 Requirements.  

 
5.14.6 The action plan at Appendix A of this statement detail issues highlighted from the results of 

the annual governance certification process  

 
5.15 The Council continues to manage risks and performance through robust internal 

control and strong public financial management. 

 
5.15.1 Risk management is an integral part of good management and corporate governance and is 

therefore at the heart of what we do. Our approach to managing risk is explained in our Risk 
Management Strategy.  The Strategic Risk Register is reviewed by SMT and considered by 
Audit Committee annually. 

 
5.15.2 The Internal Audit plan is informed by the Council’s service and financial planning processes, 

strategic risk register, external inspection reports, external networking intelligence, comments 
from Senior Management and their opinion of the current state of the governance risk and 
internal control arrangements.   

 
5.15.3 During 2019/20 the Internal Audit team achieved 70% of their planned work and this has been 

used with the relevant output from unplanned work to form their opinion on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Council’s governance, risk management and internal control framework. 
Internal Audit output is lower than previous years and this is due to a number of factors 
including long-term sickness, concentration of audit resource on particular high risks to the 
Council and, more recently, the need to focus staff resources on responding to the Covid-19 
pandemic.  
 
All recommendations made in audit reports show a risk category which is used to inform the 
overall grading of the report.    

 
5.15.4 The Chief Internal Auditor has undertaken checks on the work of Internal Audit as part of the 

Quality Assurance Improvement Program. A small number of minor issues have been 
identified through these checks and have been fed back to the Internal Audit Team to assist 
in their continuous improvement.  

 
5.15.5 Internal Audit report to the Audit Committee 4 times a year. The Audit Committee has asked 

for additional information during the year and requested Executive Directors/Directors and 
Page 124



9 
 

Service Managers to attend to provide assurance on the management of risks and 
implementation of recommendations. The Audit Committee have also approved the Internal 
Audit Charter for 2019/20. 

 
5.15.6 Large projects include the maintenance of a project risk register; this is an ongoing working 

document that is amended throughout the project. Where personal data is processed, 
projects also include the completion of Data Protection Impact Assessments. 

 
5.15.7 The Council has adopted the CIPFA code of practice for managing the risk of fraud and 

corruption and this has been reflected in our updated Anti-Fraud & Corruption Policy and 
Whistleblowing (Speak Up) Policy. 

 
5.15.8 Services report regularly to Council committees such as Audit Committee, Planning, 

Licensing, Cabinet etc. These reports detail any impact assessment, including risk and 
opportunity. Financial decisions are reported to Cabinet, full Council and Audit Committee, 
who often challenge to ensure appropriate financial management and to demonstrate 
transparency. 

 
5.15.9 Financial Regulations set out our financial management framework for ensuring we make the 

best use of the money we have available. Financial roles and responsibilities are clearly 
shown in the Financial Regulations and it provides a framework for financial decision-making. 

 
5.15.10 The Treasury Management Strategy and regular updates on treasury matters are provided 

to Audit Committee. This information clearly show investments, loans, and the financial 
position of the Council. 

 
5.15.11 The Council’s financial strategy identifies the short term budget plan and long term 

aspirational plan linked to the corporate plan to be a self-sustaining council. 

 
5.15.12 Final accounts are produced on time and in line with best practice and our External Auditor’s  

Report for 2018/19 included in its headlines: 
 

 Value for Money conclusion - Based on the work we performed to address the significant 
risks, we are satisfied that the Council had proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 

   

 In our opinion, the financial statements: 
 

-  give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Authority as at 31 March 2019 
and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended; 

- have been prepared properly in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice 
on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2018/19; and 

- have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014. 

 
5.15.13 The Council has continued to make savings in light of ongoing financial pressures. Over £123 

million savings have been made to date by the Council with further future savings of £20 
million required by 2022/23 which will be subject to review in the light of the impact of Covid19.     

 
5.16 Implement good practices in transparency, reporting and audit to deliver effective 

accountability 

 
5.16.1 As a public body we endeavour to be open and transparent in our activities and reporting. 

Council and committee agendas, reports and minutes are published on our corporate website 
to demonstrate decisions made.  The Council undertake public consultation on areas such 

Page 125



10 
 

as the budget and selective licensing.  We publish expenditure over £100 on our website, as 
part of the transparency agenda. 

 
5.16.2 The Audit Committee has responsibility for internal and external audit matters, the Council’s 

arrangements for Corporate Governance and risk management. 

 
5.16.3 The Audit Committee terms of reference also incorporate the review and monitoring of the 

Council’s Treasury Management arrangements. Members of the Committee are kept up to 
date through awareness training on factors that influence/affect delivery of the strategy and 
during the year were provided with an update on these matters by Arlingclose the Council’s 
Treasury Management advisors. 

 
5.16.4 There are various committees, all with their own terms of reference and areas of 

responsibility, i.e. Licensing Committee, Planning Committee, and there are elected members 
who are responsible for service areas within the Council. 

 
5.16.5 Arrangements are in place to ensure Internal Audit fully complies with the Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS).   

 
5.16.6 The Internal Audit plan is developed using a risk-based approach taking into consideration 

the Strategic Risk Register, Service Plans and other audit intelligence. Audit 
recommendations made are communicated to relevant Service Delivery Managers and 
relevant Senior Management representatives for consideration and implementation of 
recommendations.  Internal Audit will share best practice in the duty of their work. 

 
5.16.7 The Council’s Communication Team works with Officers and Members to ensure key 

messages are in plain English and in consistent format. 
 
5.16.8 The Council’s performance management framework is monitored by the Senior Management 

Team and has procedures in place that drive continuous improvement in performance. 
 
5.16.9 The Annual Governance certification process demonstrated that service areas are aware that 

their intranet and web pages are not up to date and are in the process of updating them. 

 
 
 

 Signed Dated 
 
David Sidaway 
Chief Executive 
 
 

  

   
Cllr Shaun Davies 
Leader of the Council 
 
 

  

   
Cllr Nathan England 
Chair of Audit Committee 
 
 

  

   

 

Page 126



11 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



ANNEX 1 to APPENDIX A 
AGS ACTION PLAN FOR 2019/20 FOR IMPLEMENTATION DURING 2020/21  

 

No Findings 
 

Actions  Lead Officers Comments  

1. Ongoing savings proposals and 
continued strategic 
management of organisational 
changes to continue particularly 
in light of COVID19. 
 
(Part) Follow on from 2018/19 
AGS action plan.  
 

  Chief Executive  

 SMT 

 
 
 
 

2. All internal audits consist of an 
ethics questionnaire that is sent 
to a sample of staff in the 
team/areas being audited to 
demonstrate their understanding 
of key corporate policies and 
whether staff feel supported.   
 
Results of these questionnaires 
in 2019/20 demonstrate that: 
 

 Some staff do not feel that 
they have had a proper 
induction 

 Some staff do not have 
regular 1:2:1 supervision or 
team briefs 

 Staff feel they do not receive 
adequate training 

 
These findings have been 
shared when discussing 
individual audit reports with 
relevant SDM’s and Directors 

  SMT/SDM 

 Organisational 
Delivery & 
Development 
Manager 

 

P
age 129



No Findings 
 

Actions  Lead Officers Comments  

and taken to SMT as part of 
reporting corporate 
recommendations.  
  

3. Results of the Internal Audit 
questionnaires also indicated a 
lack of awareness in some areas 
of key corporate policies such as 
the Gifts & Hospitality Policy and 
Whistleblowing Policy.  
 
 

Campaign in 20/21 to re-publicise the 
Gifts and Hospitality Policy and 
Whistleblowing Policy. Campaign to 
be led by Audit & Governance. 

 SMT/SDM 

 Organisational 
Delivery & 
Development 
Manager 

 

4. The results of the annual 
governance certification process 
highlighted that in some service 
areas there were reductions in 
appropriate skilled staff numbers 
creating single points of failure.  
 
Service Delivery Managers are 
aware of these issues and 
where possible are putting 
measures in place to try and 
mitigate this. 
 
 
Follow on from 2018/19 AGS  
action plan  
 

  Chief Executive  

 Director of 
Finance & 
Human 
Resources 

 Organisational 
Delivery & 
Development 
Manager 
 

 

5. The results of the annual 
governance certification process 
has highlighted that service 
areas have experienced data 
breaches and potential near 
misses in respect to personal 
data.  

Information Governance to: 
 

 Update data protection training 
modules in 20/21 to ensure all 
officers are appropriately trained. 

 SIRO/SMT   

 SDM’s 

 

P
age 130



No Findings 
 

Actions  Lead Officers Comments  

 
Where data breaches have been 
experienced, these have been 
reported to the Information 
Governance Team and 
managers have changed 
processes and procedures, 
where possible, based on 
lessons learned to prevent 
similar breaches occurring.   
 
It should be noted that the 
Information Commissioners 
Office has not taken any action 
against the Council during this 
time. 
 

 To refresh and re-publicise its 
Information Security Breach 
Procedure. 

 To ensure lessons are learnt 
after each breach and suggested 
improvements communicated 
corporately where applicable.  

6. The annual governance 
certification process 
demonstrated that some service 
areas are aware that their web 
pages are not up to date but 
they are in the process of 
updating them. 
 
Follow on from 2018/19 AGS 
action plan  
 

  SMT  

 SDM’s 

 

   

P
age 131



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – 18 JUNE 2020 
 
REPRESENTATION ON OUTSIDE BODIES 2020-21 
 
REPORT OF THE ASSOCIATE DIRECTOR: POLICY & GOVERNANCE 
 
LEAD CABINET MEMBER – CLLR SHAUN DAVIES, LEADER 
 

 
1.0 PURPOSE   
 
1.1 To request that Cabinet approves the nominations made to Outside Bodies as 

set out in Appendix 1 of the report. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 That the nominations to represent the Council on Outside Bodies, as set 

out in Appendix 1 of the report, be considered and representation for 
2020/21 be approved. 

 
2.2 That the Monitoring Officer be authorised to give effect to nominations 

to Outside Bodies as notified to her in writing by the Leader. 
 

 
3.0 INFORMATION 
  
3.1 The nominations to represent the Council on Outside Bodies dealt with in this 

report are those which are appointed on an annual basis. 
 
3.2 The list of outside bodies for which appointments are required is shown at 

Appendix 1.   
 
3.3 Members are reminded that only the named councillor or holder of the 

nominated Cabinet position should attend meetings of Outside Bodies.  
 
3.4 Nominations have been sought from each of the political groups for those 

appointments that are not by position. Any additional nominations received 
will be reported at the meeting.  

 
3.5 Cabinet is also asked to authorise the Monitoring Officer to make in-year 

changes to the appointments in consultation with the Leader when notified in 
writing. This delegation avoids the necessity to refer each nomination back to 
Cabinet as it is effectively an administrative task.   

 

Page 133

Agenda Item 8



 
4.0 OTHER CONSIDERATIONS   
 

AREA       COMMENTS 
 
Equality & Diversity      Not applicable 
Environmental Impact    Not applicable 
Legal Implications     The outside bodies to which 
       this report relates are to fulfil 
       functions which are, under the 
       relevant statutory and  
       constitutional provisions,  
       cabinet functions 
Opportunities & Risks    Not applicable 
Financial Implications    Not applicable 
Links with Corporate Priorities   Not applicable 
Ward Implications     Not applicable 
 
 

5.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

None. 
 
Report prepared by Deborah Moseley, Democratic & Scrutiny Services Team 
Leader – 01952 383215 and Kieran Robinson, Democratic & Scrutiny 
Services Officer – 01952 382061 
 
 
 

Page 134



 

Appendix 1 
PROPOSED REPRESENTATION ON OUTSIDE BODIES 2020/21 

ORGANISATION CABINET MEMBER OTHER 
MEMBER(S) 

NOMINATION(S) for 2020/21 

National/Regional Bodies 

Association for Public Service 
Excellence (APSE)  

 1 Councillor Cllr L D Carter  

National Association of Councillors   1 Councillor  

(Must be one of 
the 
representatives 
on the English 
Region Branch) 

Cllr S Davies 

Association of Councillors – English 
Region Branch 

 3 Councillors 
(one of which 
must be the 
representative to 
the National 
Association) 

1. Cllr S Davies  

2. Cllr P Watling 

3. Cllr E J Carter 

Local Government Association – 
General Assembly 

 

 4 Councillors  

 

 

 

1. Cllr S Davies  

2. Cllr R A Overton  

3. Cllr L D Carter  

4. Cllr A J Eade  

Midlands Partnership NHS 
Foundation Fund  

Cabinet Member: Health & 
Social Care 

  

P
age 135



 

ORGANISATION CABINET MEMBER OTHER 
MEMBER(S) 

NOMINATION(S) for 2020/21 

West Mercia Police & Crime Panel   2 Councillors 

1 Substitute 

1. Cllr K S Sahota  

2. Cllr J Lavery   

Substitute: Cllr S J Reynolds 

West Midlands Regional Employers 
Organisation  

Cabinet Member with 
Responsibility for HR 

 Cllr R C Evans  

Shropshire Organisations 

Energize STW  1 Observer 1. Cllr E M Callear  

Shropshire Association of Local 
Councils (SALC) 

 1 Councillor (non 
voting) 

1. Cllr P Watling  

Shropshire Hills Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty 

 1 Councillor 1. Cllr C R Turley  

Shropshire Pension Fund 
Committee 

 2 Councillors  

 

2 Councillors 
(substitutes) 

1. 1. Cllr M J Smith  

2. 2. Cllr R C Evans 

Substitute 1 : Cllr L A Murray 

Substitute 2 : Cllr A Lawrence  

Shropshire Playing Fields 
Association 

 + 1 Councillor + 1 
Substitute 

1. Cllr E M Callear 

Substitute: Cllr P Watling  

P
age 136



 

ORGANISATION CABINET MEMBER OTHER 
MEMBER(S) 

NOMINATION(S) for 2020/21 

Telford & Wrekin Organisations 

Granville Country Park (Local 
Nature Reserve) Management 
Committee 

 1 Councillor   1. Cllr C R Turley  

Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage 
Site Steering Group 

 1 Ward Councillor  

1 Councillor   

1. 1. Cllr C Healy  

2. 2. Cllr C R Turley 

Lawley Village Steering Group Cabinet Member:  Housing, 
Transport and Infrastructure 
+Assistant Director Planning 
Specialist 
(Strategic Lead) 

 1. Cllr D Wright  

Safer Telford Partnership  Cabinet Member: 
Neighbourhood Services, 
Enforcement and The Pride 
Programme 

 Cllr R A Overton  

Telford MIND Executive Committee  1 Councillor 1. Cllr A J Burford  

Telford Christian Council - 
Executive Committee 

 1 Councillor Cllr V A Fletcher 

Telford & Wrekin Healthwatch   1. Cllr S J Reynolds 

Telford & Wrekin Home-Start 
Management Committee 

 1 Councillor  1. Cllr J M Seymour  

P
age 137



 

ORGANISATION CABINET MEMBER OTHER 
MEMBER(S) 

NOMINATION(S) for 2020/21 

Telford & Wrekin Local Admission 
Forum 

Cabinet Member:  Children, 
Young People, & Education 

 Cllr S A W Reynolds 

Telford & Wrekin Standing Advisory 
Council for Religious Education 
(SACRE) 

 3 Councillors 1. 1. Cllr R Mehta  

2. 2. Cllr L A Murray   

3. 3. Cllr V A Fletcher  

Companies Limited by Guarantee/Trusts/Charities, etc. 

Ironbridge Gorge Museum Trust   

[Not a formal appointment, invited 
to attend Bi Annual Members 
Meeting Only] 

 1 Councillor 1. Cllr C R Turley  

 

Madeley United Charities of 
Shropshire 

 1 Councillor 

(Ward Councillor 
or with good 
knowledge of 
Madeley) 

1. Cllr J Jones  

Meeting Point Trust  3 Councillors 1. 1. Cllr K S Sahota  

2. 2. Cllr V J Holt  

3. 3. Cllr A Jhawar  

Park Lane Centre  

[Appointed as a Director] 

 1 Councillor 1. Cllr R C Evans  

 

P
age 138



 

FOR INFORMATION ONLY - APPOINTMENTS WITH A TERM LONGER THAN ONE YEAR  
 

ORGANISATION TERM CABINET MEMBER OTHER MEMBER(S) NOMINATION(S) 

Age UK Shropshire, Telford & 
Wrekin 

2 Years 

2019/20-2020/21 

 
1 Councillor Cllr J M Seymour 

Anstice Community Trust 3 years 

2019/20-2021/22 

 1 Ward Councillor 1. Cllr J Jones  

English Severn & Wye Regional 
Flood & Coastal Committee  

5 Years 

2019/20-2023/24 

Cabinet Member: 
Housing, Transport 
and Infrastructure 

 1. Cllr D Wright  

Joint Adoption Panel 3 years 

2019/20-2021/22 

Cabinet Member: 
Children, Young 
People, & Education 

 1. Cllr S A W Reynolds  

Just Credit Union  3 years 

2019/20-2021/22 

 1 Councillor Cllr R Mehta  

Local Access Forum 2 years 

2019/20-2020/21 

 
1 to 3 Councillors/ 
Parish Councillors 

 

1. Cllr H Rhodes 

2. Cllr E Callear 

3. Cllr C Healy 

Oakengates Leisure Centre 
Joint/Community Use 
Management Committee 

4 years 

2019/20-2022/23 

 
1 Councillor 

Ward member or 
Leisure Cabinet lead 

Cllr S J Reynolds  

P
age 139



 

Severn Gorge Countryside Trust 

[For approval at Trust’s AGM in 
October] 

4 years 

[Appointed on a 
staggered basis] 

 
3 Representatives 

 

2019/20-2022/2023 

1. Dylan Webster  

2.  Cllr C Healy  

2017/18-2020/21 

3. Cllr C R Turley 

Stevinton’s Charity Until Resignation 
 

 Cllr G H Cook  

Telford Langley Academy 
Joint/Community Use 
Management Committee 

4 years 

2019/20-2022/23 

 

 
1 Councillor 

Local ward member or 
Leisure Cabinet lead 

Cllr C Cassar  

Telford Park Academy 
Joint/Community Use 
Management Committee 

4 years 

2019/20-2022/23 

 
1 Councillor 

Requested local ward 
member or Leisure 
Cabinet lead 

Cllr C  R Turley  

Telford Sports & Recreation 
Trust (formerly Telford Trust) 

4 years 

2019/20-2022/23 

 
4 Councillors 1. Cllr J Jones  

2. Cllr E M Callear 

3. Cllr K Middleton  

4. Cllr R C Evans  

Telford & The Wrekin Citizens 
Advice Bureau – Management 
Board 

3 years 

2019/20-2021/22 

 2 Councillors 1. Cllr R Mehta  

2. Cllr A J Burford 

Telford & Wrekin Council for 
Voluntary Services 

Board of Trustees 

3 years 

2019/20-2021/22 

 1 Councillor 

 

Cllr P Watling  

P
age 140



 

The Walker Trust  4 years 

2019/20-2022/23 

 
1 Councillor with 
education background  

1. 1. Cllr S A W Reynolds 

Wellington United Charities 

Until Resignation 

 4 Representatives 1. 1. Cllr G H Cook 

2. 2. Cllr L D Carter  

3. 3. Cllr A D McClements  

4. 4. Cllr M B Hosken  

World Heritage UK (WH:UK) 3 years 

2019/20-2021/22 

Cabinet Member 
with Responsibility 
for Tourism 

 1. Cllr C Healy  

Wrekin Housing Trust 3 years 

2019/20-2021/22 

 
1 Councillor Cllr S Davies  

 

P
age 141



T
his page is intentionally left blank



TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL 
 
CABINET -  18 JUNE 2020 
          
LOCAL GROWTH FUND - STRONGER COMMUNITIES  
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PROSPERITY & INVESTMENT  
 
LEAD CABINET MEMBER – CLLR DAVID WRIGHT, CABINET MEMBER FOR 
ECONOMY, HOUSING, TRANSPORT AND INFRASTRUCTURE          

 
PART A – SUMMARY REPORT 
 
1.0 SUMMARY OF MAIN PROPSALS 
 
1.1 In November 2019, the Council were made aware of an anticipated underspend against 

the Local Growth Fund, administered by the Marches Local Enterprise Partnership 

(LEP). 

 

1.2 In response to this the LEP launched an urgent call for eligible projects, involving a 

rigorous selection process including the submission of expressions of interest and full 

business cases within challenging timescales.  

 

1.3 Timescales were driven by a requirement to spend the grant by end of March 2021 to 

avoid clawback by central government, with the identified projects needing to be 

delivered in their entirety, with associated outputs realised, by the end of March 2025.  

 

1.4 The Council’s Stronger Communities proposal, was approved for funding, subject to 

finalising formal Funding Agreement, by the LEP Board on 24 March 2020.   

 

1.5 In order to meet the timescales for the Funding Agreement with the LEP, a Strong Leader 

Decision was taken to utilise  £11.85m from the Regeneration and Investment Fund 

approved by full Council on 5 march 2020 to deliver the programme and provide the 

match funding required for project delivery.  Additionally, the Leader recommends to full 

Council that the LEP funding be included within the Budget Strategy.  This report  seeks 

the endorsement of these decisions. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
2.1 
 
 
 
 
2.2 
 
 
2.3 
 
 

That Cabinet endorses the decisions taken as part of the Strong Leader 
Decision  as detailed  in Appendix 1 to this report (which is exempt from 
publication under paragraph 3, part 1, schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972)   
 
That Cabinet endorses the Decision to acquire the strategic site in the Telford 
Town Centre as set out in para 4.7 of the Report  
 
That Cabinet endorses the delivery of the Stronger Communities package to 
deliver borough wide regeneration, job creation and new homes to directly 
meet housing need.  

 
 
  

Page 143

Agenda Item 9



3.0  SUMMARY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 

COMMUNITY 
IMPACT 

Do these proposals contribute to specific Priority Plan objective(s)? 

Yes Regenerate those neighbourhoods in need and work to 
ensure that local people have access to suitable housing 

Will the proposals impact on specific groups of people? 

Yes In addition to meeting general housing need, the delivery of 
accessible and adaptable properties will increase the 
availability of high quality housing within the Borough for 
people with mobility issues. 

TARGET 
COMPLETION/ 
DELIVERY DATE 

Local Growth Fund grant needs to be expended by end March 2021 
with projects delivered in their entirety by end March 2025.   

FINANCIAL / VALUE 
FOR MONEY 
IMPACT 

Yes The Stronger Communities Grant bid totals £7m. This 
funding, allocated from Local Growth Funding, must be 
spent and defrayed by 31 March 2021. 
 
Full Council on 5th March 2020 approved the establishment 
of a “Regeneration and Investment Fund” of £60m.  
 
This report seeks endorsement to the Decision for an 
allocation from this fund to support the delivery of the 
Stronger Communities programme. 
 
DR 15/5/20 

LEGAL ISSUES Yes The Council has the necessary powers to undertake the 
activities identified in this report.  Legal advice was provided 
in relation to the grant application. Ongoing legal advice will 
be provided  in relation to all projects undertaken as part of 
the Stronger Communities programme.       
 
Legal representation is available to the Place Board and 
governance advice is provided, as appropriate. 
 
In the disposal of any land the Council has a statutory duty 
to obtain best consideration and must also follow any 
applicable procurement requirements when awarding any 
contracts. 
 
9/06/2020 AL 

OTHER IMPACTS, 
RISKS & 
OPPORTUNITIES 

Yes A comprehensive risk assessment has been undertaken as 
part of the preparation of the Full Business Case submission 
to the LEP. A risk register will be maintained and updated as 
the programme progresses and risks managed accordingly.  
 
The most significant risk relates to the Council’s ability to 
progress each of the projects within a timeframe to allow the 
grant funding to be spent by end March 2021. However, 
robust programmes are in place to secure delivery and 
these will be monitored by the Place Board, which will 
provide governance in relation to the programme.  The 
impact of the coronavirus shutdown may impact across the 
delivery of the LEP’s whole programme and is anticipated to 
be subject to review with BEIS. 
 

Page 144



The impact of the current coronavirus pandemic is 
significant across all our communities and businesses.  The 
Stronger Communities Programme will provide a market 
stimulus supporting the continued delivery of new housing in 
key communities and the diversification of the Town Centre 
with the introduction of town centre living and rail connected 
employment opportunities. 

IMPACT ON 
SPECIFIC WARDS 

No Investment is intended to have borough wide economic and 
regeneration benefits 

 
PART B – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
4.0 INFORMATION 
 
4.1 The Local Growth Fund (LGF) is government funding awarded to LEPs for projects that 

benefit the local area and economy. In November 2019 the Council were alerted by the 
Marches LEP to the fact that circa £27m of unspent LGF grant was available for 
redistribution to eligible projects that could commit to expenditure by end March 2021. 

 
4.2 A Marches wide project call was announced with expressions of interest submitted to 

the LEP by 6th December 2019. Expressions of interest were required to outline the 
grant funding requirement, match funding element and outputs delivered as well as 
demonstrate a strategic fit with the Marches LEPs Strategic Economic Plan along with 
deliverability within the programme constraints.  

 
4.3 Telford & Wrekin submitted three expressions of interest by the deadline. Following initial 

feedback from the LEP the three expressions of interest were refined into a single 
‘Stronger Communities’ package, with an updated expression of interest submitted in 
mid-January 2020 seeking £7m of grant funding.  

 
4.4 The package, as well as being closely aligned to objectives of the Marches SEP; to be 

an inclusive place that enables residents from all communities to thrive and develop, 
also directly reflect objectives set out in the Council’s vision of ‘Protect, Care and Invest 
to create a better borough’. 

 

 The package is focused on bringing back key brownfield sites to use benefitting 
some of our most deprived wards, as well as providing a stimulus to the delivery of 
Station Quarter the next phase of the transformation of the Town Centre delivering 
circa 500 new homes across a range of tenures,   

 Circa 60 new jobs within the town centre, bringing good quality employment 
opportunities to the Borough.  

 The regeneration of 20.6 ha of brownfield land, bringing redundant land back into 
use. 

4.6 In addition to the above, the proposals seek to support the delivery of the Council’s 
carbon reduction targets, with developments looking to accommodate low carbon 
technology, including PVs and electric car charging points, whilst at the same time 
ensuring that opportunities for biodiversity enhancement are adopted wherever possible.  

4.7 In order to realise these outcomes, grant funding will be used to: 

 Purchase land currently in third party ownership, which will allow the Council to retain 
control over development and masterplan appropriately. A key site acquisition 
relates to the purchase of a 2.1 ha (5.02) acre site within the town centre, currently 
owned by a third party. The site lies at the heart of redevelopment plans for the 
ambitious Station Quarter. A purchase price has been negotiated for the site which 
reflects the strategic gateway location and site clearance works already carried out. 
More information in relation to this is set out in Appendix A 

Page 145



 Deliver key infrastructure to development sites including highway access, 
infrastructure and utility upgrades. 

 Address abnormal development costs associated with the brownfield nature of the 
sites including demolition, site clearance, service disconnections, remediation and 
treatment of mineshafts. 

 Support viability associated with low land values  
 

NB:- Appendix 1 is exempt from publication pursuant to Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A 
Local Government Act 1972 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
individual (including the authority) 

  
4.8 The programme approach incorporating a number of projects will ensure the delivery of 

positive outcomes to communities across the Borough and at the same time enable 
management of the grant and match funding flexibly, to ensure that the challenging 
delivery timescales are adhered to.  

 
4.9 The Stronger Communities package was presented to the LEP Board on the 27 January 

2020, alongside 17 other EOIs from the other Local Authorities within the LEP, as well 
as the private sector. The package was categorised as “low risk” meaning that based on 
an initial analysis of the EOI the package had the potential to spend Growth Deal funding 
within the stated timescales (31 March 2021) and deliver against Marches LEP priorities. 

 
4.10 Of the 18 EOIs submitted, 11 projects with a grant requirement totalling £43m, were 

asked to proceed to Full Business Case Stage, with submissions required by 28 
February 2020.  

 
4.11 A Full Business Case for the Stronger Communities package was approved by the LEP 

Board on 24 March 2020 subject to finalising a Funding Agreement between TWC and 
Shropshire Council, as the Accountable Body for the LEP.  

 

4.12 The Strong Leader Decsion was taken in response to the LEP’s timeframe for concluding 
the Funding Agreement in early May.  This is now anticipated to be concluded in early 
June 2020.   

 
5.0 FINANCE  
 
5.1 Delivery of the Stronger Communities programme will be in accordance with the project 

costs and expenditure profile detailed in the Strong Leader Decision.  
 
 
 
   

 
Report prepared by: 
Kate Callis, Housing Investment Programme Manager  
Dawn Toy, Service Delivery Manager, Regeneration & Investment 
 

Page 146


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	4 Service & Financial Planning Report - 2019/20 Outturn
	Outturn Report Appendices

	5 Telford & Wrekin's Specialist & Supported Accommodation Strategy 2020-2025
	Specialist and Supported Accommodation Strategy

	6 Telford & Wrekin Consultation Draft Housing Strategy 2020-2025
	Housing Strategy

	7 The Annual Governance Statement 2019/20
	Appendix 1 - Annual Governance Statement 2019/20
	Annex 1 - Action Plan

	8 Representation on Outside Bodies 2020-21
	9 Local Growth Fund - Stronger Communities



